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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS MEETING 

4:15 p.m. 
February 25, 2016 

Shepherdstown, WV 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Regular Session  
The Stanley C. and Shirley A. Marinoff Theater 

Center for Contemporary Arts II 
 

1. Call to Order Chair Marcia Brand 
2. Public Comments  
3. Presentation: The Stanley C. and Shirley A. Marinoff Theater Mr. Ed Herendeen, School of Arts 

and Humanities Professor and 
Producing Director of Theater 

4. Adoption of the Minutes from December 3, 2015 Board Meeting Chair Brand 
5. Adoption of the Minutes from January 9, 2016 Board Meeting Chair Brand 
6. Report of the Executive Committee regarding its meeting of February 

15, 2016  
Chair Brand 

7. Annual Audit Report VP Anna Barker 
8. President’s Report Interim President Sylvia Manning  
9. Approval of Proposed 2016-2017 Enrollment, Housing, Dining and 

Other Fees 
VP Barker, VP Tom Segar 

10. Report of the Audit and Finance Committee 
a. Quarterly Financial Report 
b. Update on Housing Project 

Dr. John Younis 

11. Report of the Enrollment Management and University Advancement 
Committee 

a. University Advancement Mid-Year Update 
b. Enrollment Management Update 

Mr. Scott Roach 

12. Report of the Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee 
a. Student Affairs Annual Report 
b. Approval of the Elimination of Music Theater Concentration 

in the B.A. in Music 
c. Approval of the B.A. in Music, General Concentration 

Ms. Bridget Cohee 

13. Action on Policy 29, Employment and Evaluation of the President General Counsel Alan Perdue 
14. Renaming of the Robert C. Byrd Center for Legislative Studies Mr. Perdue 
15. Higher Learning Commission Site Visit Dr. Scott Beard, HLC Institutional 

Liaison and Associate VP for 
Academic Affairs 

16. New Business Chair Brand 
 

Adjournment 
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Committee Agendas 

Audit and Finance Committee 
The Stanley C. and Shirley A. Marinoff Theater, Center for 
Contemporary Arts II 

 Annual Audit Report 
 Quarterly Financial Report 
 Update on Housing Project 

 

Dr. John Younis, Chair 
Mr. John Beatty 
Mr. Chad Robinson 
Mr. Mark Rudolph 
VP Anna Barker, Staff 
VP James Vigil, Staff 

Enrollment Management and University Advancement Committee 
Room 230 – Center for Contemporary Arts I 

 University Advancement Mid-Year Update 
 Enrollment Management Update 

Mr. Scott Roach, Chair 
Dr. Jason Best 
Mr. Hunter Cutlip 
VP Chris Sedlock, Staff 
VP Tom Segar, Staff 
 

Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee 
Room 202 – Center for Contemporary Arts I 

 Student Affairs Annual Report 
 Review and Recommend Approval of the Elimination of 

Music Theater Concentration in the B.A. in Music 
 Review and Recommend Approval of the B.A. in Music, 

General Concentration 

Ms. Bridget Cohee, Chair 
Ms. Mona Kissel 
Ms. Tia McMillan 
VP Chris Ames, Staff 
Acting VP Holly Frye, Staff 
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Shepherd University 
Board of Governors 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of December 3, 2015 

 
The Shepherd University Board of Governors met on December 3, 2015 in a regular meeting. Members 
participating were: Governors John Beatty [by telephone], Jason Best [by telephone], Marcia Brand, 
Bridget Cohee [by telephone; partial attendance], Hunter Cutlip, Ramona Kissel, Tia McMillan, D. Scott 
Roach, Chad Robinson [by telephone], W. Mark Rudolph [by telephone] and John Younis. Also present 
were Shepherd University Interim President Sylvia Manning, members of the executive staff and others.   
 
1. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

No public comments were made. 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 24, 2015 
M (Best), S (Roach), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Cohee, Robinson, Rudolph, participating by 
telephone, were polled), that the minutes of the September 24, 2015, meeting of the Board of 
Governors be adopted as presented in the agenda book. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF NOVEMBER 6, 2015 
M (Best), S (Cutlip), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Cohee, Robinson, Rudolph, participating by 
telephone, were polled), that the minutes of the November 6, 2015, meeting of the Board of 
Governors be adopted as presented in the agenda book. 
 

4. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
Interim President Sylvia Manning thanked Dr. Tom Segar, Acting Vice President for Enrollment 
Management, and Ms. Holly Frye, Acting Vice President for Student Affairs, for stepping into their 
acting roles. The President remarked that the CEO retention project, which has lured commuter 
students out of their cars to engage them with the campus, was sponsored by the Office of Alumni 
Affairs and now, thanks to Board member Scott Roach, has sponsorship through the spring 
semester. Dr. Manning said one item that is not listed in the President’s Report, but is listed in the 
HEPC compact report, is that Shepherd’s three-year default rate is currently at 7.6%, well below 
the national average and a significant achievement. President Manning noted that a ribbon-cutting 
ceremony for the Free School, as a dedicated space for student veterans furnished for both social 
engagement and learning activities will be held in January. She also mentioned the increased giving 
to Shepherd from faculty and staff both in dollars given and the number of those who gave. 
 

5. PRESENTATION AND PRELIMINARY APPROVAL: RESIDENCE HALL PROJECT 
M (Younis), S (Cutlip), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Robinson, Rudolph, participating by telephone, 
were polled), 
 

RESOLVED, that the Shepherd University Board of Governors conditionally approve the 
prospectus for Student Housing 2017 and direct the President to proceed with developer 
selection and negotiations; 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board of Governors direct the President to consult with 
and gain final approval of the final project parameters, budget and related financials by the 
Executive Committee; and 
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FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board delegate to the Executive Committee the 
authority to act on behalf of the Board in all respects in the further review and final 
approval of Student Housing 2017.  
 

6. REPORT ON THE DISCUSSIONS OF THE AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Dr. John Younis, Audit and Finance Committee Chair, summarized the Quarterly Financial Report 
for the period ending September 30, 2015, as presented to the committee by Ms. Anna Barker, Vice 
President for Finance. The Committee also discussed the Preliminary Audit delay due to the State’s 
delay in providing the Auditors certain required information, an issue that has affected institutions 
across the State. 
 

7. REPORT ON THE DISCUSSIONS OF THE ENROLLMENT MANAGEMENT AND 
UNIVERSITY ADVANCEMENT COMMITTEE 
Mr. Scott Roach, Enrollment Management and University Advancement Committee Chair, 
summarized the discussions of the Committee as presented by Dr. Tom Segar, Acting Vice 
President for Enrollment Management and Mr. Chris Sedlock, Vice President for University 
Advancement. The presentations included a review of the Annual Enrollment Report and the 
Annual University Advancement Report. 
 

8. REPORT ON THE DISCUSSIONS OF THE ACADEMIC AFFAIRS AND STUDENT 
AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
Ms. Tia McMillan, Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee member, summarized the 
update on retention as presented to the Committee by Dr. Chris Ames, Vice President for 
Academic Affairs, and Ms. Holly Frye, Acting Vice President for Student Affairs. Ms. McMillan 
introduced Dr. Scott Beard, Compact Liaison, to summarize the 2014-2015 Compact Report for the 
Board. 
 

9. P-CARD AUDIT: REVISED PROCEDURES 
Vice President Barker discussed with the Board the P-Card Audit: Revised Procedures. 
 

10. BUDGET DISCUSSION 
Interim President Manning reviewed with the Board the current state of the FY2016 budget and the 
cuts the University enacted in consequence of the enrollment shortfall and the State appropriation 
rescission.  
 
Interim President Manning noted that she had two items to discuss with the Board. First, she 
presented to the Board a revised budget for FY2016. It has not been the practice of the University 
to present revised budgets during the year because changes are usually small, but this year a 
number of factors will contribute to significant variance between the budget approved by the Board 
in June and the final budget report. These factors include the circumstance that when the budget 
was prepared in June 2015, management lacked full budget performance information from the 
previous year due to continuing problems with OASIS; an over-projection in enrollment; and the 
4% rescission in the State appropriation. 
 
Second, Shepherd has always looked at the budget using only the GASB format in which our 
reports must ultimately be made. This format does not provide as much information as the Board 
might prefer when reviewing the budget and making decisions. President Manning offered both the 
original approved FY2016 budget and the revised budget in a fund-based format, with separate 
columns for Unrestricted, Restricted, and Plant funds, and suggested that the Board might use this 
format in future deliberations. Importantly, the net effect of all funds continues to be shown across 
the columns at the bottom line. 
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The display of budget information by fund makes clear that our operations (Unrestricted) are 
healthy, but that we see a decline in investment in plant as we do not fully fund depreciation. 
President Manning noted that we do fund approximately $3,000,000 a year in capital projects. A 
practice of not fully funding depreciation for a limited period of time is fairly widespread in higher 
education, in part because universities generally fund major capital renewal through state capital 
appropriations or philanthropic gifts or, for projects associated with revenue, through bonds. 
President Manning said that to fully fund depreciation would be squeezing the operating budget 
and at risk of a downward spiral.  
 
Members of the Board assented to the budget display by fund type, but also cautioned against long-
term underfunding of depreciation and emphasized the need to keep the combined net of the 
different funds in view. 
 

11. COMPENSATION OF FACULTY AND STAFF 
Interim President Manning noted that the Compensation of Faculty and Staff agenda pages show 
how far behind Shepherd is in salary for faculty, adjuncts, and exempt and non-exempt staff. Exit 
interviews for faculty show that most faculty leave due to low compensation. President Manning 
shared with the Board the story of a highly valued employee who left three weeks ago to take a job 
with the coast guard at a salary increase of approximately $15,000. Shepherd’s uncompetitive 
salaries and lack of meaningful increases for several years have created a major morale challenge 
on campus. 
 

12. SALARY INCREASES 
Interim President Manning stated that providing a 2% raise for employees will not make Shepherd 
salaries competitive, but will show the employees that we care and will start to turn things around. 
We can afford to give the employees an increase in pay by choosing to fund our people rather than 
the plant. She also stated that she hopes we won’t need to continue to underfund depreciation. 
 
M (Best), S (Kissel), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Robinson, Rudolph, participating by telephone, were 
polled; Robinson voted against the motion), 
 

RESOLVED, that the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the Revised 
FY2016 Budget as presented in Item 11 of the Agenda Book and in Item 12-a as 
distributed at the meeting of December 3, 2015. 
FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve 
salary increases for all full-time faculty and for all staff of 2%, together with $100 per 
three-credit course for all adjunct faculty, effective January 1, 2016, or as soon thereafter 
as is approved at the State Capitol. 

 
13. APPROVAL OF NOTICE OF INTENT TO AMEND BOARD OF GOVERNORS POLICY 

29, EMPLOYMENT AND EVALUATION OF THE PRESIDENT 
M (Kissel), S (Younis), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Robinson, Rudolph, participating by telephone, 
were polled), that the following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board: 
 

RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the issuance of 
the Notice of Amendment of Policy 29, Employment and Evaluation of the President, as 
presented in the agenda materials of December 3, 2015, and direct the President to 
distribute the Notice to all required recipients as provided for in Policy 4, together with a 
summary of Policy 4’s description of the manner in which comments will be received. 
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14. APPROVAL OF NOTICE OF INTENT TO AMEND BOARD OF GOVERNORS POLICY 
18, SOCIAL JUSTICE 
M (Kissel), S (Cutlip), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Robinson, Rudolph, participating by telephone, 
were polled), that the following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board: 
 

RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the issuance of 
the Notice of Amendment of Policy 18, Social Justice, as presented in the agenda materials 
of December 3, 2015, and directs the President to distribute the Notice to all required 
recipients as provided for in Policy 4, together with a summary of Policy 4’s description of 
the manner in which comments will be received. 

 
15. NEW BUSINESS 

None. 
 

 
 

___________________________    ___________________________  
Marcia Brand       D. Scott Roach 
Chair        Secretary 
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Shepherd University 
Board of Governors 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of January 9, 2016 

 
The Shepherd University Board of Governors met on January 9, 2016 in a special meeting. The meeting 
convened in Room 202, Ikenberry Hall, 301 North King Street, Shepherdstown, West Virginia. Members 
participating were: Governors John Beatty [by telephone], Jason Best [by telephone], Marcia Brand, Hunter 
Cutlip [by telephone], Ramona Kissel, Tia McMillan, D. Scott Roach [by telephone], and John Younis [by 
telephone]. Also present was Shepherd University General Counsel Alan Perdue. Board members W. Mark 
Rudolph, Bridget Cohee and Chad Robinson were absent from the meeting.  
 
1. MOTION TO MOVE TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

M (Kissel), S (McMillan), PASSED (Beatty, Best, Cutlip, Roach and Younis, participating by 
telephone, were polled), that pursuant to Section 4 of Article 9A of Chapter 6 of the WV Code, it 
was moved that the Board enter into executive session for the purpose of discussion of matters 
relating to personnel matters which, if publicly discussed, would be an invasion of privacy. 
 
At the conclusion of the executive session, the Board returned to open session.   
 

2. ACTIONS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 
M (Kissel), S (McMillan) PASSED (Beatty, Best, Cutlip, Roach and Younis, participating by 
telephone, were polled), that the following resolution be adopted by the Board: 
 

RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors authorizes Chair Marcia 
Brand to amend the terms and conditions of employment of Mary Hendrix as President 
effective February 29, 2016, and to execute an appointment letter on its behalf consistent 
with the consensus of the Board members. 
 

3. NEW BUSINESS 
None. 

 
 
 
 
 

___________________________    ___________________________  
Marcia Brand       D. Scott Roach 
Chair        Secretary 
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 7 
 
 

ANNUAL AUDIT REPORT 
 
Ms. Anna Barker, Vice President for Finance/Chief Financial Officer, and representatives from 
CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP will present the annual financial report to the Audit and Finance Committee. 
This presentation will include a review of the Financial Statements as of and for the Years Ended June 30, 
2015 and 2014, and Independent Auditors Reports. 
 
The full annual financial report is included at the end of this agenda book. 
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 8 
 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

January brought our first closing of the campus for snow-days. Through those three days and the weekend that 
preceded them, the facilities personnel plowed and shoveled relentlessly, dining personnel bunked in the dorms 
so that they could be on campus to serve the approximately 400 students who stayed here, students helped 
shovel, and residence hall staff and security personnel held fast. It was beautiful, if not exactly what we’re 
supposed to be about. The spirit of Shepherd was visible. 

There are some wonderful things to report since the Board’s last meeting in early December, and some not so 
wonderful. Let me begin with the latter.  

The Finance Committee of the West Virginia House of Delegates asked all agencies to describe what they 
would do in the event of a 6.5% cut-back in State appropriations for FY17, on top of the 4% rescission earlier 
this year. We have been hard at work to persuade lawmakers that such cuts to higher education would be drastic 
and harmful to the future of the State. Two documents created for that purpose are appended to this report: one 
is a one-page summary, requested of all institutions by Senator Sypolt, of recent years’ budget cuts; the other is 
a document we created to illustrate the inequity in state appropriations funding received by Shepherd compared 
to other baccalaureate institutions in West Virginia. 

We did not meet the goal of a 2% improvement in fall-to-spring retention this year, I believe in part because the 
goal was too high, especially given when we began the retention initiatives, and in part because we are probably 
dealing with factors beyond our control which we need to understand better. 

And last of the bad news, Anna Barker, Vice President for Finance, resigned effective March 9 to pursue an 
opportunity in the non-profit sector. 

The good news includes our successful recruitment of a new Vice President for Enrollment Management. 
William (Bill) Sommers, currently at Shippensburg University, will join Shepherd on April 18. The entire 
campus is eager to work with him to bring our new enrollments back to where they once were and beyond, and 
to improve student retention and success. 

The BrickStreet Foundation gave the Shepherd University Foundation $500,000 in endowment to fund 
scholarships: ten scholarships each year with preference for students majoring in math, nursing or education, 
based on need and grades. (BrickStreet Mutual Insurance Company was created after the privatization of WV’s 
workers’ compensation program.) 

And of course, the Division II Football Championship appearance, and Monte Cater’s 250th win. On February 
18th the House of Delegates of the West Virginia Legislature opened its session with a Legislative Citation 
recognizing the Shepherd Rams; BJ Pumroy and coach Monte Cater were there on the floor of the chamber to 
receive the citation. (More on the football season follows below.) 

Much that is wonderful about Shepherd is on display in the work of Professor Sonya Evanisko of the 
Department of Contemporary Art and Theater. I am taking the liberty of ending this opening section of the 
report with her comments.  

She is one of five finalists for WV Professor of the Year and was interviewed for this honor in early January. 
The Board of The Faculty Merit Foundation is made up of members from the WV Humanities Council, the 
Higher Ed Policy Commission, administrators in higher education and business people from banks, law firms,  
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and so forth. Here are some notes from her account of the interview: “. . . they pointed out that Shepherd must 
be doing great things as several of the finalists/title winners in the past years are from Shepherd and they are 
always amazed when they read the applications of people that come from Shepherd. They specifically asked: 
What are we doing here to make this happen? and Is there something in the water? – I didn’t address the water  
but did highlight the gem of a campus and community that we have, the plethora of arts/cultural activities that 
enlighten and enrich all of our lives and the outstanding university and community members that engage with 
these activities and collaborate with one another on innovative ideas and curriculum as part of the reason we are 
successful.” 

Academic Affairs 
Dennis Frye, Harpers Ferry National Historical Park Chief Historian (and Shepherd graduate), gave a lecture on 
“John Brown and the Election of 1860” at Shepherd University as part of the Civil War Christmas. That lecture 
was broadcast on C-Span3 on February 13, 2016 and is available on their web site at: http://www.c-
span.org/video/?401621-1/john-brown-election-1860. 

Dr. Robert Tudor, associate professor of music and chair of the Department of Music, was one of 23 professors 
from schools that belong to the Council of Public Liberal Arts Colleges (COPLAC) who went on a December 
2015 trip to Cuba to explore cultural and educational exchanges. COPLACuba was sponsored by COPLAC and 
the Cuban Institute of Cultural Research, a government organization. Tudor is working with a committee at 
Shepherd to create a class for the fall semester that will include a trip to Cuba next December and would be 
open to the community. He plans to work to bring Cuban scholars, writers, and musicians to campus as a result 
of connections begun on this trip. 

Dr. Clarissa Matthews and Steven Shaffer, of the Institute of Environmental and Physical Sciences, presented a 
forum “Infusing GIS Curriculum with Real-World Applications and Collaborations” this December at the 2015 
Winter Information Exchange of the Potomac Watershed Partnership to representatives of federal and state 
agencies and area non-profits. 

Shepherd University’s Pre-Law Society and Department of Political Science sponsored a panel discussion about 
the region’s hard drug epidemic on February 17. The panelists included Emmet G. Sullivan, U.S. District Court 
judge for the District of Columbia; Brent D. Benjamin, a justice with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West 
Virginia; and Viki M. Pauler, associate judge, Washington County Maryland Circuit Court, 4th Judicial Circuit. 

A Shepherd University biology professor and a student majoring in biology were featured in the January issue 
of the “Journal of Visualized Experiments” (JoVE), an online peer-reviewed scientific video journal. Dr. Carol 
Plautz, associate professor of biology, and Hannah Williams, a Shepherd senior, recently performed 
experiments for the camera on immature frog eggs, called oocytes, for the article, “Functional Cloning Using 
a Xenopus Oocyte Expression System.” The experiment involves using the oocytes from Xenopus laevis, or the 
clawed frog, which is native to sub-Saharan Africa, to identify genes that are responsible for causing the lens of 
a vertebrate’s eye to form. The electronic journal features videos that demonstrate the experiments central to the 
research reported. 

In its most recent progress report Shepherd’s TRiO Student Support Services reported an 83% persistence rate 
and 93% good academic standing rate for the students it serves, significantly exceeding its grant-approved 
targets of 60% and 85% respectively. 

 

http://www.c-span.org/video/?401621-1/john-brown-election-1860
http://www.c-span.org/video/?401621-1/john-brown-election-1860
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Enrollment Management 
Registrar’s Office 

The Registrar and Associate Registrar for Records attended the Summer 2015 NCAA Regional Rules Seminar 
in Indianapolis and the statewide veteran certifying officer training sponsored by the West Virginia Higher 
Education Policy Commission. 
 

Team River Runner-Shepherd (TRR), a kayak program for veterans, will offer participants and volunteers an 
American Red Cross CPR/First Aid/AED certification in February. In 2015, TRR sent a team of veterans to the 
first annual Veterans Kayak Football tournament in Canton, Ohio. A team of Shepherd student veterans and 
volunteers participated in American Canoe Association certification and skills clinics at the annual 
TRR/Disabled Sport USA conference. TRR also sent a Shepherd student veteran to serve on staff at the 2015 
Key Largo Outtasight Clinic, teaching blind and sight-impaired veterans to kayak independently. TRR 
participated in two river cleanups as well as the annual festival and raft race sponsored by the Harpers Ferry 
Outdoor Festival. TRR marched in three local parades, spreading the word that Shepherd supports veterans. 

Financial Aid 

Financial Aid Counselor Judith Soule was promoted to Financial Aid Counselor Senior effective February 1, 
2016. Judith, who has been employed at Shepherd for 11 years, will serve as the primary contact for financial 
aid in the absence of the Director. 
 
Financial Aid Director Joyce Cabral presented financial aid information to more than 100 families at 
Martinsburg, Washington and Jefferson High Schools during financial aid information nights held in January. 
During the month of February, Financial Aid staff members and Admissions counselors visited area high 
schools to assist families with filing the 2016-2017 Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA). In 
addition, Shepherd University, in conjunction with the College Foundation of West Virginia, will host College 
Goal Sunday on February 21, when students and families will be able to file the 2016-2017 FAFSA and ask 
questions regarding the financial aid process. All Financial Aid Office staff members volunteered to give up 
their Sunday afternoon to staff this event. 
 
The Financial Aid Office has partnered with Education Loan Management Resources (ELM) to facilitate 
certification and disbursement of private loans in BANNER, the University’s student information system. This 
increased functionality will provide enhanced service and more options for students in financing their education. 
 
Shepherd has partnered with Inceptia to provide student loan default prevention management services for 
student borrowers. Because the State is covering the cost of up to $10,000 for all WV schools, there is no cost 
for Shepherd. Shepherd’s current three-year cohort default rate is 7.6 %, the lowest among state institutions. The 
state-wide three-year cohort default rate is 11.6% 

Admissions 

New student enrollment in spring 2016 increased 3.5% over spring 2015. The increase was predominately in 
new transfer students from local community colleges with articulation agreements.   
 
The Admissions staff has planned several initiatives this semester. Counselors will attend 12 spring college fairs 
in Maryland, Pennsylvania, Virginia, West Virginia, and Delaware. Admissions will host a Spring Open House 
on March 12 focusing on high school seniors. Counselors have been collaborating with Football, Soccer, and 
the Music Department for on-campus recruitment events. Admissions staff are engaging with prospective 
students through social media, using weekly giveaways on the “Class of 2020” Facebook page. 
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Admissions will host the second annual Accepted Students Day on Saturday, April 2. This event for all admitted 
freshman welcomes them to campus for a special Class of 2020 program including mock academic lectures, 
departmental presentations, tours, one-on-one financial aid counseling, and more. Admitted students who 
submit their enrollment deposit will receive their Rambler ID cards. Last year 78% of attendees at this event 
enrolled in Shepherd. Many made their college decision upon attending the event and even found roommates. 

Student Affairs 
Welcoming New Students 

Orientation was held in January for all new students, first-year and transfer. It included an advisement session 
with faculty, registration for classes, information fair, tours of the campus, a welcome from the Dean of 
Students, brief instructions from Financial Aid, the Business Office, and IT, a session on interpersonal violence 
and a session on diversity and civility. In self-selected interest group breakout sessions, students participated in 
informal departmental gatherings, giving them time to meet faculty and other students in their field of study. 
The program concluded with Convocation, the ceremonial beginning of the academic semester. 

Stand Up, Don’t Stand Down Initiatives Continue 

3D Thursdays continue with weekly programming, providing information and support to help create a proactive 
approach to “Standing Up” for each other by directing, delegating, or distracting in order to prevent 
interpersonal violence. The second annual 3D Dash will be held Sunday, April 17, with proceeds to be donated 
to the Shenandoah Women’s Shelter. 

Cultural Events 

Multicultural Student Affairs and the Multicultural Leadership Team hosted the always popular Soul Food 
Dinner on February 16, in the Dining Hall. The evening featured favorite Soul Food dishes and the Mighty Men 
of God Choir from Asbury Church. 
 
The Performing Arts Series at Shepherd and the Office of Multicultural Student Affairs hosted the Red Hoop 
Pow Wow on February 6. The great drum and an array of dancers in colorful regalia affirmed their unbroken 
link with the proud customs of their ancestors.  
 
From Duquesne University, the Tamburitzans performed on Saturday, February 20, for a two-hour journey 
through the cultures of Eastern Europe. The show included live music, more than a dozen languages, over 200 
colorful costumes, nearly 50 instruments, and spectacular dances. Now celebrating 79 years, the Tamburitzans 
are the longest-running multicultural ensemble in the United States.  
 
In Plain Sight: Stories of Hope and Freedom was held on Thursday, January 21. This film and discussion 
focused on human trafficking in the United States and in our neighborhood.  

Community Engagement Outreach Events 

Back by popular demand, the Community Engagement Outreach (CEO) events returned to Parking Lot A 
behind Scarborough Library on February 23. Students were again able to engage with each other, grab a quick 
bite, mingle with faculty, and learn ways to get connected on campus. A total of four CEO events are planned 
for the spring semester, focusing on academic advising, midterms, Relay For Life, and Stand Up initiatives. 

Service Events 

The Office of Student Community Services and Service Learning is again coordinating the Alternative Spring 
Break Trip for students willing to give up their traditional fun-in-the-sun spring break to volunteer for 
communities outside their own.  
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Relay For Life, Shepherd’s largest service event, will be held on Friday, April 8, as a part of the Presidential 
Inauguration events for Dr. Mary Hendrix.  
 
Community Services also hosted a Blood Drive with the American Red Cross, designed Service-on-the Go 
events, and provided volunteers for the Shepherdstown-based Caring Cupboard. Education students continue to 
tutor at-risk students at Harpers Ferry Job Corps and psychology majors worked with seniors in Berkeley 
County.  

Program Board 

In addition to a Welcome Back Booth for students returning to campus in January, the student-led Program 
Board hosted Comedian Derrick Knopsnyder, Wednesday Bowling and Billiards, a trip to a Wizards Basketball 
Game, a Super Bowl Party, and Shepflix. New this semester is Trivia Night, a bi-monthly event with 
competitive teams that tests students’ knowledge on a wide variety of topics.  

University Advancement 
Year-To-Date Giving Summary: 7/1/2015 through 12/31/2015: Total Funds Received 

Fundraising activities of the Office of University Advancement and the Shepherd University Foundation are 
presented below. 
 In the first two quarters of FY16, $1,118,720 was received in new gifts. 
 Gifts are comprised primarily of $222,774 in endowed funds and $560,916 in gifts to the annual funds. 
 A year-over-year comparison of donations by constituency and fund, through the second quarters of FY16 

and FY15, is presented in the following graphs: 

 
New Gifts and Pledges by Constituency  

Comparison of FY15 to FY16 through December 31 
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New Gifts and Pledges by Fund 
Comparison of FY15 to FY16 through December 31 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Additionally, gifts received to date have increased as follows: 
 Giving from faculty and staff increased 29% from $22,987 in FY15 to $29,603 in FY16. The number of 

donors increased by 16%. 
 Awards from competitive grants increased by 294% as compared to the same period in FY15. Grant activity 

generated $2,950,537 during the first two quarters of FY16 as compared to $748,133 generated during the 
same period in FY15. 

 Overall, 2,814 gifts from 1,576 donors were received in the first half of FY16. Both the number of gifts and 
the number of donors increased in the first half of this fiscal year over last, with the average gift size 
increasing by 6%. 

FY16 Advancement Initiatives 

The Office of University Advancement has initiated internal and external projects to address both short-term 
and long-term fundraising needs. These include internal database improvements via a recent acquisition of 
business data and five strategic funding initiatives that address University priorities. 

Database Enhancement 

The acquisition of self-reported data in the online LinkedIn business site has facilitated Advancement’s 
collection of employment data from 5,670 individuals who identify themselves as Shepherd graduates. This 
information is now being incorporated into our alumni, donor and prospect database. It will enhance our ability 
to build multi-dimensional relationships - including student internships, faculty research, sponsorships and 
corporate giving - with both businesses and our alumni who work for them. 
 
Last semester, Advancement research identified the top 120 employers in the six counties nearest Shepherd. By 
cross-referencing that top employers list with the newly-acquired LinkedIn data, we have identified more than 
600 alumni working in those 120 firms. This information is the basis for an outreach initiative by Advancement 
staff to cultivate relationships with those alumni and their corporate employers. We expect that development of 
stronger corporation/foundation relations will lead to increased giving from both individuals and businesses. 

Strategic Funding Initiatives: First 100 days 

A university-wide exercise in FY15 identified a comprehensive list of projects in need of funding.  Five 
Strategic Funding Initiatives were targeted last semester that would positively impact the University’s revenue 
potential in multiple ways. The Strategic Funding Task Force developed a customized funding campaign for 
five projects: Community Engagement Outreach, Model United Nations, Music Department, Student-Athlete 
Performance Center and Washington Gateway. 
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Strategic Funding Initiatives were publicly introduced at a Leadership Circle event in late October. The 
Strategic Funding Task Force has compiled case statements for each initiative, identified prospects, initiated 
cultivation activities, and commenced solicitation of alumni, non-alumni friends, corporate and grant-making 
prospects. In just the first 100 days, the CEO initiative has attained 100% of its funding goal for FY16, the 
Model U.N. initiative is currently at 60% of this year’s goal, and Music Department efforts are nearing 50% of 
FY16 goal, while the Student-Athlete Performance Center and Washington Gateway projects are cultivating 
major donor and foundation funding prospects. These mini-campaigns are important precursors to a future 
comprehensive university fundraising campaign. 

Athletics 
Shepherd on ESPN 

Ram football broke several records this fall. The team held its top seed through the Super Region 1 playoffs and 
was selected to host the NCAA Semi-Final. Ram Stadium set a record attendance that day with 6,496 fans 
overfilling the 5,000-seat capacity as the team defeated perennial NCAA Division II powerhouse Grand Valley 
State of Michigan 34-32. This 13th win set a new record for the Rams in single season wins. The Rams then flew 
to Kansas City for their first National Championship game. Northwest Missouri State won its 5th National Title, 
defeating Shepherd 34-7. The game set a new attendance record for the Division II Football Championship as 
16,181 fans filled Sporting KC Park. 
 
Thus the Rams were able to play two games broadcast on the ESPN networks. For the National Semi-Final 
game Shepherd was chosen to host over Grand Valley State University (GVSU) despite GVSU’s history of 
hosting playoff games broadcast on ESPN and its 10,444 seat stadium. The championship game in Kansas City 
was viewed live in nearly 400,000 homes on ESPN 2. 
 
Shepherd was ranked #2 in the American Football Coaches Association Poll, its highest-ever mark. Head Coach 
Monte Cater was named Regional Coach of the Year for the first time in his 29-year career. 
 
In the post-game news conference a newspaper writer covering GVSU commented that he is very used to 
covering games at GVSU with its large stadium and attendance at times reaching 12,000, but he had never 
witnessed a game day environment as great as the one Shepherd University put on for the event.  

Champions in the Classroom 

At the conclusion of the Fall semester the Athletic Department had 77 student athletes recognized on the Dean’s 
List, including 14 who earned perfect 4.0 GPAs for the semester. Shepherd’s football, volleyball, men’s and 
women’s soccer, golf and women’s tennis teams also earned new academic honors. The Mountain East 
Conference (MEC) developed a new award system for student athletes competing in the championship seasons. 
The MEC All-Academic Team was awarded to fall sport athletes who achieved a 4.00-3.70 Fall 2015 semester 
GPA. The Rams had 19 members with that distinction. The Commissioner’s Academic Honor Roll was for 
those fall sport athletes who had GPAs between 3.69-3.25 for the Fall 2015 semester; the Rams had 35 members 
on that list. 

Upcoming Events 
Saturday, February 27 

Jazz Festival Concert, Frank Center Theater 
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Monday, February 29 

One Shepherd for All: A Place Where Everyone Matters, Storer Ballroom. Sponsored by the Office of 
Multicultural Student Affairs and the Diversity and Equity Committee. 

Friday, March 4 

Screening of “A World Apart,” Reynolds Hall, followed by a discussion led by Rebecca Ayraud. Sponsored by 
the Shepherdstown Film Society. 

Tuesday, March 8 

Panel Discussion: Technological Advancements in Healthcare, Robert C. Byrd Center for Congressional 
History and Education Auditorium. Sponsored by Common Reading. 

Thursday, March 10 

Annual Career Fair, CareerFest and Leadership Summit, Wellness Center. Sponsored by Career Services and 
Shepherd University Alumni Association. 

Music Salon Series: Two Rivers Trio, Frank Center, W.H. Shipley Recital Hall. 

Friday, March 18 – Sunday, March 20 

Thirty-ninth Annual Appalachian Studies Conference. “Voices from the Misty Mountains: Diversity and Unity, 
A New Appalachia.” Sponsored by WV Humanities Council and Shepherd University. 

Wednesday, March 23 

American Red Cross Blood Drive, Storer Ballroom. Sponsored by Student Community Service. 

Thursday, March 24 

Jazz Combos, Frank Center, W.H. Shipley Recital Hall. Sponsored by Department of Music. 

Friday, March 25 

Screening of “Of Gods and Men,” Reynolds Hall, followed by discussion led by Dr. Rachel Krantz. Sponsored 
by the Shepherdstown Film Society. 

Friday, April 1 

Chamber Singers, Women’s Camerata and Men’s Choir, Frank Center Theater. Sponsored by Department of 
Music. 

Saturday, April 2 – Sunday, April 3 

2016 ShepRobo Fest, Butcher Center, Sponsored by KRM Associates, Inc. 

 
For other Shepherd events, event locations and times, please check our home page calendar at http://www.shepherd.edu/calendar. 

 

http://www.shepherd.edu/calendar


Shepherd University 
Budget Cuts FY13-FY16 

 
The table below shows the decrease in State appropriations to Shepherd University starting from the 
FY13 budget, totaling 16% over three years. 
 

Fiscal Year Appropriation $$ Decrease % Decrease 
FY13  $  11,228,474    
FY14  $  10,112,854  $  (1,115,620) -9.94% 
FY15  $    9,941,104  $     (171,750) -1.70% 
FY16 (original)  $    9,831,330  $     (109,774) -1.10% 
FY16 (with rescission)  $    9,438,077  $     (393,253) -4.00% 
TOTAL FY13-FY16  $ (1,790,397) -15.95% 
 
The University adapted in the following ways: 
 
FY14 

• Cut departmental budgets campus-wide to a total of $1.1 million 
• Held salary increases to 1.25%, following zero increase in FY13 
• Increased in-state tuition 7.23% 

 
FY15  

• Eliminated 6 full-time faculty lines and 8 full-time staff positions 
• Instituted 3-month hiring delay on vacancies 
• Held salary increases to 1.5% 
• Eliminated print shop; reduced motor pool, publications, support to WV Public Radio 
• Increased in-state tuition 4.99% 

 
FY16    

• Cut budgets in contractual services, maintenance contracts, non-capital computer expenses, 
advertising, cellular contracts, educational equipment, research supplies, training and 
development, hospitality; suspended all non-essential administrative travel 

• Made additional across-the-board reductions in almost all areas  
• Extended to six months prior practice of holding vacancies for three months 
• Eliminated two additional staff positions. 
• Began charge to families for the Junior High Gateway summer program to make it self-sustaining 
• Sustained loss in capital assets due to depreciation 
 

Current Conditions 
• Faculty salaries at Shepherd have risen very little during the past six years and have lost buying 

power against inflation and PEIA increases.  Shepherd has lost ground since 2011 in salary 
comparisons to regional institutions with which we compete for quality faculty, and salary 
competition has been a significant factor in disruptive faculty turnover. 

• Of Shepherd’s 217 classified employees, 130 are compensated at less than the 15-year-old State 
salary chart. It would require $190,000 to bring all classified employees to the minimums stated 
in the new Mercer study.  

• Mid-level managerial staff are leaving SU for salary improvements as high as $15,000 - $40,000.  



 
 
 
 
 

Shepherd University has blossomed as the State’s public liberal arts university, in spite of a 
chronic challenge of underfunding from the State.  There can be no doubt that West 
Virginia’s economic challenges make it impossible for the State to provide aggressive 
funding levels for the public colleges and universities, but inconsistencies in the level of 
funding support among institutions in the State has added to Shepherd’s challenges. 
 
The Performance-based funding model that was developed by the WV HEPC in 2012 
demonstrated that Shepherd was the only baccalaureate institution funded at a ratio of less 
than $3,000 per FTE, while the state-wide average of funding per FTE was more than 
$4,000. 
 
The imposition of across the board cuts is especially damaging to an institution that has 
been traditionally underfunded in proportion to the other schools.  Looking at the 
Governor’s budget bill for FY’17, in the context of the Fall 2015 enrollments reported by 
the WV HEPC in November 2015, Shepherd continues to be the lowest funded 
baccalaureate institution in West Virginia, now funded at $2,875 per FTE.  The mid-point 
from among the ten baccalaureate institutions  is more than $1,000 more per student than is 
allocated to Shepherd.  Shepherd University needs a $2.1 million increase in its base 
funding just to become equivalent to the ninth-ranked funded baccalaureate institution.  

 
 

  
Funding per FTE 

Best Funded Baccalaureate 
 

$7,247 

   
Mid-Point of FTE Funding 
for the Ten Baccalaureate 

Institutions 
 

$4,094 

   Ninth-Best Funded 
Baccalaureate Institution 

 
$3,537 

   Current Shepherd FTE 
Funding 

 
$2,876 
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Agenda Item No. 9 
 
 

PROPOSED 2016-2017 ENROLLMENT, HOUSING,  
DINING AND OTHER FEES 

 

Shepherd University proposes a 5% increase to in-state and out-of-state undergraduate and graduate 
tuition and required fees for FY 2017. The increase would result in the charges shown in the table below: 

 FY16 Proposed 
FY17 

Increase 

Undergraduate in-state $3,415 
semester 

$3,585 
semester 

$170 

Undergraduate out-of-state $8,314 
semester 

$8,741 
semester 

$427 

Graduate in-state $415 
credit 

$435 
credit 

$20 

Graduate out-of-state $592 
credit 

$622 
credit 

$30 

 

The 5% amount represents a compromise between the financial needs for Shepherd to sustain quality 
programs and the University’s wish to remain affordable for students. For FY16 the Board of Governors 
allowed a loss in investment in plant so as to prevent harm to essential operations. The necessity of doing 
so arose in part from the 4% mid-year rescission in State appropriations.  

As of February 2016, the Governor’s budget for FY17 holds the University at the same amount as the 
revised budget for FY16 (i.e., with the 4% cut carried forward). Unavoidable costs, however, will 
continue to rise (general costs of supplies and services; a possible unfunded increase in employer-paid 
PEIA premiums; compensation increases including the annual progression required by State policy, a new 
chart of minimums for classified employees, and faculty promotions; maintenance, IT and utilities costs; 
etc.). Furthermore, there is under discussion in some quarters a further decrease in State appropriation of 
as much as 6.5%. In that event, a 5% tuition increase will not begin to offset the loss and may lead the 
Board to consider a tuition surcharge. At present, however, staff is not prepared to recommend a tuition 
and mandatory fee increase beyond the 5%. 

Note that from FY15 to FY16 there was no increase in out-of-state tuition rates. The hope for that strategy 
was that we would hit a more attractive price-point for out-of-state enrollment. As reported to the Board 
in December 2015, out-of-state undergraduate enrollment at the standard out-of-state tuition rate declined 
7.24% from fall 2014. This decrease was considerably higher than the decrease of 4.1% in in-state 
undergraduate enrollment, though an improvement over the previous year’s decrease of 10.6% in out-of-
state enrollment. The positive outcome for out-of-state enrollment was in students offered a discounted 
tuition rate: those students increased enrollment by 4.35%. These outcomes suggest that a significant cut 
in tuition price may have considerable effect, and Enrollment Management will be studying these  
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possibilities, including consideration of a discounted room-and-board rate, for FY18. At present, however, 
we cannot afford to continue the zero-increase to the standard rate for another year. The 5% increase for 
out-of-state students for FY17 will come to 5% over two years, in effect 2.5% per year. 

Here is Shepherd’s position with regard to undergraduate in-state tuition charges, per semester, for FY16 
relative to other West Virginia institutions: 

Blue Ridge CTC $1,848 

Bluefield State University $3,060 

Fairmont State University $3,310 

West Virginia State University $3,331 

Concord University $3,372 

Shepherd University $3,415 

Marshall University $3,457 

Glenville State $3,516 

West Virginia University $3,816 

 

It is worth noting that Shepherd University ranks 10th out of 10 in per-student West Virginia State 
university funding, by a margin of $661 below the 9th place. In that context, four places from the top in 
tuition rates is an indicator of frugality. It is likely that with a 5% increase for FY17, Shepherd’s position 
in tuition rates among West Virginia institutions will remain unchanged. 

Residence Life and Dining Services  

Proposed Room Rates 

Residence Life proposes an average 1.89% increase across the four housings styles. Specifically, this 
consists of a 0.45% increase to non-air conditioned Traditional Housing located on the East side of 
campus, a 2.35% increase to air-conditioned Traditional Housing on the West side of campus, a 2.42% 
increase to Miller Hall and Westwoods Suites, and a 2.35% increase to apartments. FY16 single-room 
rates were 1.5 times the double-room rate. Residence Life proposes lowering the single-room rate for all 
traditional rooms to 1.45 times the double room rate for this housing style, and suite and apartment single-
room rates 1.33 times the double room rate. The various increases and decreases are based on market 
demand and competitor analysis of regional peer institutions. Based on prior year occupancy, the 
increases will produce $81,000 in increased revenue, which will be needed to offset costs associated with 
increased utilities costs, fire alarm system upgrades, professional staff salaries, minimum wage increases, 
required software upgrades, and consumer price increases.  

Proposed FY17 Double Single Double Single 
Room Rates: FY16 FY16 FY17 FY17 
East Campus  $2,250   $3,375   $2,260   $3,277  
Shaw/Thatcher  $2,750   $4,125   $2,815   $4,081  
Westwoods/Miller  $3,095   $4,643   $3,170   $4,216  
Apartments  $3,385   $5,078   $3,465   $4,608  
Apartments (Deluxe)  $3,535   $5,061   $3,606   $4,796  
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Proposed Board Rates 

Dining Services proposes an average 2.08% rate increase across current continuing traditional meal plans 
offered to students at Shepherd University. In addition, Dining Services propose a new meal plan, The 
Block 190, targeted to attract upper-class students and allowing them the flexibility to purchase meals at 
any time throughout the day.  

Proposed FY17       
Board Rates:   FY16 FY17 FY17 
The Deluxe Block 300 $2,285 2.80% $2,349 
The Basic 19  $2,049 2.45% $2,099 
The Flex 15   $2,015 1.00% $2,035 
Average   2.08%   
       
New Plan:      
The Block 190       $2,085 

 

These rates were determined after competitor analysis. The rate increases are in line with expected CPI 
for the upcoming fiscal year and offset minimum wage and salary increases incurred during FY16. These 
meal plans will continue to place dining services in the best competitive position within the region with 
respect to student service while meeting economic objectives. 

 
The following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board: 
 

RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the increases to 
Enrollment, Housing and Dining, and Miscellaneous fees as presented in the Agenda 
Book. 
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 9a - Supplemental 
 
 

FEE DETAIL 
 
Enrollment Fees 
 
Undergraduate Enrollment Fees would be increased in the following subcomponents: 
 
 

    Undergraduate  (Per Semester) 
  

 
In-State Out-of-State 

  
 

Current Proposed 
Requested 
Increase Current Proposed 

Requested 
Increase 

Tuition and Required 
Educational &  General   2459 2615 156 6883 7296 413 
Capital Fees   292 292 0 767 767 0 
Auxiliary Fees   183 185 2 183 185 2 
Athletic Equity Fee   75 75 0 75 75 0 
Athletic Fee   205 217 12 205 217 12 
Auxiliary Capital Fee   201 201 0 201 201 0 
   Total   3415 3585 170 8314 8741 427 
   Percentage Increase       4.9780%     5.1359% 

 
 
Graduate Enrollment Fee increase would be exclusively in the category of “Tuition and Required 
Educational & General Fees.” 
 
 
Course/Program and Penalty Fees 
 
A number of academic course/ program fees are proposed as new fees or additions to existing fees. The 
University applies these individual fees so that expenses which are unique and specific to individual 
courses or degree programs are incurred only for those students who have chosen those areas of study. 
(Descriptions for each fee follow the table below.) 
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Baccalaureate Unit Fee Type 
Current 

Fee 
Requested Fee 
(Per semester) 

Total 
Increase 

Music Major Fee Major $0 $70 $70 
PSCI 399 Model United Nations 
(PSCI351) Course $0 $50 $50 
COMM 326 01 Radio Practicum Course $0 $25 $25 
COMM 348 01 News Practicum Course $0 $25 $25 
COMM 302 01 Narrative 
Screenwriting Course $0 $25 $25 
COMM 335 01 Writing Across 
Platforms  Course $0 $25 $25 
COMM 406 01 Advertising and 
Imagery Course $0 $25 $25 
COMM 435 01 Communication 
Research Course $0 $25 $25 
COMM 470 01 Strategic Campaigns Course $0 $25 $25 
Dept. of Education (Per semester) Major $40 $60 $20 
NURS 445 NCLEX-RN Preparation Flat $400 $525 $125 
Biology Labs Lab $40 $55 $15 
CME labs/courses (CIS,CIT,CPE, 
ENGR, MATH) Lab $30 $45 $15 
Chemistry Labs Lab $40 $55 $15 
IEPS Labs (ENVS, GSCI, PHYS) Lab $40 $55 $15 
SOWK 311 Social Work Methods I Program $0 $45 $45 

     
Graduate Unit Fee Type 

Current 
Fee 

Requested Fee 
(Per semester) 

Total 
Increase 

Graduate Studies (PT students) Program $0 $30  $30 
Graduate Studies (FT students) Program $0 $60 $60 
          

Other Fees Fee Type 
Current 

Fee 
Requested Fee 
(Per semester) 

Total 
Increase 

Late Graduation Application Fee Graduation $0 $50 $50 
Late Registration Fee Other $25 $50 $25 
Late Payment Fee Fine $25 $50 $25 
Freshman Advisement & Orientation Fee   $140 $160 $20 
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MUSIC FEE: Instrument repair and replacement.    
 
PSCI 399 FEE: Cost of participating in the Model United Nations Conference. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS: All proposed course fees will be used to acquire equipment, software, and other 
materials. 
 
EDUCATION: Increase in the Major Fee will be used for supplies for the Media Lab such as for paper, 
poster paper, ink, software, film roles and upkeep of current equipment, help for professional 
development for the students, and help in covering expenses for additional supervisory trips to supervise 
students in the field. 
 
NURSING: Increase Lab fee to $525 for NURS 445, NCLEX-RN Preparation, due to increased cost of 
ATI online subscription.  
 
LAB FEES, SCIENCES AND MATHEMATICS: Increase the laboratory/course fees on all BIOL, 
CHEM, CIS, CIT, CPE, ENGR, ENVS, GSCI, MATH and PHYS laboratories and/or courses that carry a 
course fee by $15. This will support 1) a second laboratory technician position for laboratory set-up and 
take-down, cleaning of materials/equipment; 2) rising costs of supplies and equipment; and 3) rising 
expenses in safety compliance. 
  
SOCIAL WORK: New program fee to cover transportation and other costs associated with two required 
field trips each academic year as well as materials and part-time support needed to meet programmatic 
accreditation standards.  
 
GRADUATE STUDIES: Funding support for professional development opportunities for graduate 
students to present at professional conferences and for graduate studies programming, such as career 
workshops and the ability to bring in special speakers, as well as the ability to fund tutors on a case-by-
case basis.   
 
LATE GRADUATION APPLICATION FEE: This penalty fee is designed to function as incentive for 
students to apply by the deadline and thus ensure the best and most timely communication to students and 
advisors regarding graduation requirements.  This strategy has been evaluated by staff over an 18-month 
period. It replaces a hard deadline that led to delayed graduations. 
 
LATE REGISTRATION AND PAYMENT FEE: Surcharge to incentivize students to register before 
classes begin. Late registration requires intensive staff-support and students who late –register generally 
have lower academic success rates. 
 
FRESHMAN ADVISING AND ORIENTATION: To offset a range of incremental cost increases and 
enhancements, including additional faculty advising, in this program which supports retention and 
assessment.  
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
Report to the Audit and Finance Committee 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 10-a 
 
 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
Ms. Anna Barker, Vice President for Finance and Chief Financial Officer, will present the quarterly 
financial report. 
 
Included are three reports for the second quarter of FY2016: 1) Statement of Net Assets, 2) Budget to 
Actual Report, and 3) Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Other Changes, which shows a year-to-year 
comparison with FY2015. 
 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 
 
Assets and Deferred Outflows 
 
Compared to the second quarter of FY2015, total assets and deferred outflows have decreased 
approximately 1.4% to $167 million. This decrease is attributable to the decrease in Capital Assets as a 
result of depreciation expenses recorded in FY2016.   
 
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, was implemented in FY2015.  
You will note the Deferred Outflow of Resources at $43,000 that results from this new standard and 
represents the 6% employer contribution set aside during FY2015 for a future benefit. 
 
Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 
 
Total liabilities decreased to $77.3 million which is less than a one percent decrease. Significant changes 
include a decrease in Accounts Payable, an increase in Deferred Revenue, an increase in Other Post-
Employment Benefits (OPEB), a recorded Net Pension Liability and Deferred Inflow of Resources (both 
resulting from the implementation of GASB 68) and a decrease in Bonds Payable. 
 
The decrease in in Accounts Payable correlates directly to the reduction in Total Operating Expenses seen 
on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Other Changes. 
 
Deferred Revenue has increased as the State Scholarships for the spring were received prior to the start of 
the semester. This is also reflected as an increase to Cash.   
 
The OPEB liability continues to increase and represents healthcare costs that may be paid on behalf of 
retirees. 
 
The Net Pension Liability, a requirement of GASB 68, will now be reflected on the Statement of Net 
Assets. This amount is provided by the audited statements of the State Retirement Board. This is similar 
to OPEB in that the University is now required to record the liability. This new liability is a measure of 
the promised benefits to employees for services performed compared to the assets set aside to pay for 
those benefits. The Deferred Inflow of Resources includes changes between employer contributions and  
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the University’s proportionate share of contributions and gains on these investments as determined by the 
State Retirement Board.   
 
Bond Principal payments made during the fiscal year have reduced this liability by 3.5% to $40.3 million. 
 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND OTHER CHANGES 
 
Operating Revenues 
 
The University has generated 49%, $44.1 million of the projected Operating Revenue for the fiscal year. 
This equates to 49% of budgeted projections. 
 
Tuition and Fees are down 12% when compared with FY2015 as a result of continuing challenges with 
enrollment and retention. A corresponding decrease, although less, can also be seen in Auxiliary 
Enterprises, which includes Room and Board. 
 
Federal Grants and Contracts have increased by $166,000 primarily as a result of the new federal Health 
Resources and Services Grant awarded to Nursing. The total grant award is $482,000 over a three-year 
period. The grant is a collaborative effort with Shenandoah Valley Medical Systems and the grant funds 
will be used to develop models to address continuity of care and chronic disease management to 
vulnerable diabetic patients and create opportunities for healthcare professionals and students to enhance 
their skills.   
 
Operating Expenses 
 
Overall, the University has expended 47%, $28.5 million, of the budgeted Total Operating Expenses. 
These expenses are currently 3.6%, $1 million, below the prior fiscal year.   
 
The year-to-date actual for Scholarships and Fellowships is $1.4 million or approximately 40% of the 
budget. FY2015 to FY2016 comparisons show a decrease of $179,000. While there has been a slight 
increase in institutional waivers, the scholarships provided by the WV Higher Education Grant have 
declined. 
 
Expenses related to Research have increased from $24,000 to $93,000. This relates to funds awarded for 
the WV-INBRE Grant – An Integrated Approach to Study the Efficacy of Cancer Immunotherapy. These 
expenses are offset by revenue received, which is included in State and Local Grants and Contracts. 
 
Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses 
 
Year-to-date actuals for Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses are $7.2 million, which is approximately 
51% of the budget. Comparing this to the prior year shows a negative variance of approximately 
$200,000. This variance is a reflection of non-operating federal revenue which reflects PELL awards to 
students. This correlates directly to the enrollment decline as well as a drop in student eligibility.
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
Report to the Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 12-a 
 
 

STUDENT AFFAIRS ANNUAL REPORT 
 
Ms. Bridgett Cohee, Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee Chair, will summarize for the 
Board the discussions of the Committee as presented by Ms. Holly Frye, Acting Vice President for 
Student Affairs on the activities of the offices and functions in the Division of Student Affairs. The 
presentation will include an overview of the division and outcomes related to Student Affairs auxiliaries, 
student behavior, student success, and student engagement and leadership.   
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To support Shepherd University’s mission and core values 
through promoting student learning, engagement, success, service, and 

satisfaction through services, programs, and functions.
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STUDENT ENGAGEMENT
Keeping Students Connected

Shepherd University

• Student Programming
• Student Activities and Leadership
• Service Learning
• Community Service
• Multicultural Student Affairs
• Washington Gateway
• Community Engagement Outreach
• Greek Affairs
• Program Board
• PASS
• RamPulse
• New Student Programming

Student Engagement
Highlights: Commitment to Service

Student Community Service & Service Learning
2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015

Service Learning Hours 5,920 7,705 13,627 10,636 10,491

Community Service Hours 28,825 25,599 20,421 26,036 22,687

Total Service Hours 34,745 33,304 34,048 36,672 33,178

Shepherd students consistently 
demonstrate a sustained

commitment as reflected in their 
continued participation in service 

projects, initiatives, and course work. 

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Student Engagement
Highlights: Student Programming

Year to Date
Number of 

Students Logged
into RamPulse

Number of
Student 

Memberships

January 2015 73 26
January 2016 434 977

Year to Date Total Events

Number of 
Organizations

Using RamPulse 
to Market Events

Fall 2014 407 52
Fall 2015 459 81

…. a portal that chronicles organization and department profiles, 
membership rosters, and events, as well as other engagement 
opportunities from around campus.

Student Engagement
Highlights: C.E.O.

Yes

No

No difference

0.00% 10.00% 20.00% 30.00% 40.00% 50.00% 60.00% 70.00% 80.00% 90.00%

Q1. After attending the CEO event, I am
more likely to participate in other on‐
campus activities.

Yes

No

No difference

0.00% 10.00% 20.00% 30.00% 40.00% 50.00% 60.00% 70.00% 80.00% 90.00%

Q2. As a result of receiving information
about advising and registration at the
CEO event, I felt more comfortable
reaching out to my advisor.

Yes

No

No difference

0.00% 10.00% 20.00% 30.00% 40.00% 50.00% 60.00% 70.00% 80.00% 90.00%

Q3. After attending a CEO event, I feel
more connected to the other students at
the University.

CEO Student Survey

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Student Engagement
Highlights: New Student Programming

• Creation of the New Student Task Force
• Orientation Name Change
• Compensation for Student Peer Leaders
• Creation of January New Student

Orientation

Student Engagement
Highlights: Veterans Support Services

Mission 
• Help students progress towards

degree completion
• Provide programs specifically

targeted to veterans to foster
student success

• Strive to create a culture where
students feel welcome and
valued members of the
Shepherd University community

Ribbon Cutting Ceremony 
Wednesday, February 10, 2016

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Shepherd University

STUDENT SUCCESS
Retaining Students through Graduation 

• Retention Intervention Team (RIT)
• Behavioral Intervention Team
• Beacon Early Alert System
• Title IX/Interpersonal Violence (IPV)
• Veterans Center
• International Student Services
• Disability Support Services
• Health Services
• Counseling Services
• Student Conduct
• Crisis Management

Student Success
Highlights: Early Alert System 

20

186

71

133

6
4

6

3

1

10

100

1

Academic Advising

Academic Preformance

General Concerns

Class Attendance

Health and Wellness

Finances

Housing/Residence Life

Student Engagement

During Fall 2015, 64 staff and faculty posted 379 notifications on 266 students.

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Student Success
Highlights: Student Strengths Inventory 

The Students Strength Inventory (SSI) 
48 item assessment measuring six non-cognitive factors:

• Academic Engagement • Educational Commitment
• Academic Self-Efficacy • Resiliency
• Social Comfort • Campus Engagement

SSI measures the probability of academic success and the likelihood of retention. 
Recommends specific actions that students may take in order to strengthen their scores and increase the 

likelihood for success. 
The SSI was first administered at Shepherd to all first-year students during Orientation Step I in Summer 2015. 
425 first-year students responded to the survey, producing a response rate of 68 percent.

SSI Results, Shepherd University, Summer 2015 

Student Success
Highlights: Counseling

23%

18%
13%

11%

9%

26%
Depression 23%

Stress 18%

Anxiety 13%

Alcohol/Drug 11%

Relationship 9%

All Other 26%

Top presenting problems for students: 

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Shepherd University

AUXILIARIES
Providing What Students Need

• Residence Life

• Dining Services

• Student Center

Shepherd University

Auxiliaries
Highlights: Residence Life

Undergraduate Enrollment at Fall Census
Academic Year 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016

Total Undergraduate 
Headcount

3,838 3,852 3,695 3,489 3,320

Housing Occupancy at Fall Census
Academic Year 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016
First-Year Students 470 425 377 388 389
Returning Students 694 703 706 666 590
Transfer Students 106 93 81 68 78
Readmitted Students 5 1 3 5 2
Total Students 1,275 1,222 1,169 1,127 1,059

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Residential Housing Percentage of 
Total Undergraduate Population

Auxiliaries
Highlights: Residence Life

27.5%

32.2% 31.8% 31.6% 32.4% 32.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

45.0%

50.0%

Fall 2010 Fall 2011 Fall 2012 Fall 2013 Fall 2014 Fall 2015

COPLAC 
46%

Auxiliaries
Highlights: Residence Life

• FY15 total revenue of $6.53 million with bottom line net revenue of $1.13 million.
Residence Life was positively affected by Conference Services revenue of $265K (+$115K
to budget), predominantly a result of football camp growth.

• Finished Shaw HVAC upgrade in summer, 2014. In summer, 2015 replaced Thacher roof
and renovated East Campus lobbies including new carpet, furniture, paint, window
treatments, and flat screen televisions. Began upgrades to apartments and Shaw/Thacher
Wi-Fi.

• Changed one GA position from programming oversight to an intentional focus on resident
success. Resident success programmatic outcomes included the 3-D Thursday series of
events.

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Auxiliaries
Highlights: Dining Services

• Although board transaction meals served have fallen over the past two years (from a high of
325,133 in FY13 to 303,901 in FY15), participation has increased every year. Participation
in FY15 was at 68.12 percent, well within industry norms and improved from a decade prior.

• 88 percent of all apartment residents were on some type of meal plan through the year.

Auxiliaries
Highlights: Dining Services

• FY15 revenue reached $4.38 million with a bottom line net revenue of $490,000.

• Added Underpass Café in April on experimental basis. Offering foodservice at Ram
Stadium concessions was recommended in Master Plan. Student reception was
positive.

• Meal plan participation climbed from 65 percent to 68 percent. Over the past five
years retail meal plan traffic (Rams Den, Fireside Bistro and Wellness Café) has
moved from 25 percent of total meals served to just over 50 percent of total meals
served.

• Basketball Concessions hit an all-time high of $12,918 compared to $11,994.

• Conducted national search for new Food Service Director, selecting Ms. Aida Blanco,
July 2015.

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Auxiliaries
Highlights: Student Center

• FY15 revenue equaled $970K with net revenue at +$250K (approximately $23K above
budget).

• Positive bottom line financial result accomplished through streamlined programming,
deferred equipment purchases, and drastically reduced expenditures for repairs.

• Began renovation to Cumberland Room, completed in fall, 2015.

• Intramural programs were transitioned
to the Wellness Center, allowing
the Student Center to focus on campus
recreation, including outdoor excursions.

Shepherd University

CHALLENGES
for the Division ...

• Staffing
• Preparing for International Students
• Student Mental Health
• Student Behavior
• Disability Support Accommodations

OPPORTUNITIES
• New Residential Hall
• International Students
• Title IX Coordinator

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016
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Questions?

Thank you!

Shepherd University

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 2016

 
Agenda Page 12-12

SSHOLLEY
Line



Shepherd University Board of Governors  
February 2016 

   
Agenda Page 12-13 

 

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
Report to the Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 12-b 
 
 

APPROVAL OF THE ELIMINATION OF  
MUSIC THEATER CONCENTRATION IN THE B.A. IN MUSIC 

 
The Department of Music recommends deletion of the concentration in music theater performance. The 
University lacks the resources to offer the same competitive music theater training offered by our peer 
institutions who receive accreditation from the National Association of Schools of Music (NASM). In the 
most recent review of the department, NASM cited the curriculum of the music theater concentration as 
not meeting minimum standards. Meeting the standards for offering this concentration in the absence of a 
theater major is impractical.   
  
The following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board:  
 

RESOLVED, that the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the elimination of the 
music theater performance concentration of the B.A. in Music, effective Academic Year 2016-
2017. 

  



Shepherd University Board of Governors  
February 2016 

   
Agenda Page 12-14 

 

Shepherd University Board of Governors 
Report to the Academic Affairs and Student Affairs Committee 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 12-c 
 
 

APPROVAL OF THE B.A. IN MUSIC,  
GENERAL CONCENTRATION 

 
The B.A. in Music includes several concentrations but heretofore has not spelled out the option of a 
general concentration for music students with a liberal arts and generalist focus. The new general 
concentration for the B.A. in Music does that. 
 
Curriculum for a Major in Music, B.A. 
 
In addition to the requirements for the major and the Core Curriculum, students pursuing the Bachelor 
of Arts must satisfy the B.A. Foreign Language Requirement. 
 
Total Hours Required, 120 Hours: 

 
Core Curriculum Requirements, 38 Hours 

Foreign Language Requirement, 12 Hours 
 
Bachelor of Arts students must complete 12 hours of foreign language study OR demonstrate equivalent 
foreign language skill. 
 

Music Core Requirements, 39 Hours 

Music Concentration area 10-15 Hours 

Electives, 16-21 Hours 

Basic Music Core, 39 Hours 

• MUSC 100 - First Year Seminar for Music Majors (1 cr) (fulfills the Core Curriculum Tier 1 
First-Year Experience requirement) 

• MUSC 103 - Music Theory I (3 cr) (fulfills the Core Curriculum Tier 2 Arts requirement) 
• MUSC 104 - Aural Skills I (1 cr) 
• MUSC 105 - Theory II (3 cr) 
• MUSC 106 - Aural Skills II (1 cr) 
• MUSC 203 - Music Theory III (3 cr) 
• MUSC 204 - Aural Skills III (1 cr) 
• MUSC 303 - Form and Analytical Techniques (3 cr) 
• MUSC 310 - Music History I: Antiquity to Early Classical (3 cr) 
• MUSC 311 - Music History II: Early Classical to 2000 (3 cr) 
• MUSC 498 - Senior Music Seminar (1 cr) 
• MUAP XXX - Applied Major Instrument (8cr) 
• MUEN XXX - Major Ensemble (8cr) 
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B.A. in Music, General Concentration, 10 hours 

• MUXX – Music Electives (10 cr) 

 
The following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board:  
 

RESOLVED, that the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the addition of the B.A. 
in Music, general concentration, effective Academic Year 2016-2017. 
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 13 
 
 

ACTION ON POLICY 29, EMPLOYMENT AND  
EVALUATION OF THE PRESIDENT 

 
 

At its meeting on December 3, 2015, the Board approved distribution of proposed technical amendments 
to Policy 29, Employment and Evaluation of the President, designed to create better synchrony with the 
current operational customs of the Board and the Executive Committee. This update would also address 
the change in Code that shifts the periodic formal evaluation cycle from four years to three years. 
 
No comments or suggestions regarding the Policy have been received. The Policy is now eligible for final 
action by the Board. 
 
The following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board: 
 

RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the amendments to 
Policy 29, Employment and Evaluation of the President, as presented in the agenda materials of 
February 25, 2016.  
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
POLICY 29 
 
 
TITLE:  EMPLOYMENT AND EVALUATION OF THE PRESIDENT  

 
 
SECTION 1.  GENERAL 
 

1.1 Scope - This policy establishes rules relating to the terms and conditions of the 
employment of a president and the procedures relating to presidential 
evaluation. 

 
1.2 Authority -  West Virginia Code §18B-1-6, §18B-1B-6 
 
1.3 Effective Date – ______________, Replacing the March 10, 2005 version 

 
 
SECTION 2. EMPLOYMENT OF PRESIDENT 
 

2.1 The Board shall employ, at its will and pleasure, a President pursuant to WV 
Code §18B-1B-6.  

 
2.2 The Board may review and approve the terms and conditions of the President’s 

appointment or, by formal resolution, may delegate to either the Chair or the 
Executive Committee the authority to establish terms and conditions which will 
be included in an annual Letter of Appointment.  

 
2.3 Upon initial appointment, the terms and conditions of appointment may include 

award of academic rank and tenure by the Board. 
 

2.4 The Board will issue a Letter of Appointment for the President for each fiscal year 
of service, regardless of the length of employment offered by the Board. 

 
 

SECTION  3.  DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

3.1  The President is responsible to and reports to the Board. Within the policies and 
regulations of the Board and of other state and federal authorities, the President, 
as chief executive officer, has general authority and responsibility for the 
institution and for keeping the Board and its Executive Committee informed 
regarding the institution in a timely and appropriate manner. 
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3.2 The President is expected to demonstrate those leadership skills necessary for the 
vibrant, dynamic pursuit of the goals and objectives embodied in the mission of 
the institution.  The President is also expected to understand the higher education 
needs of the institution's service region, work with the Board to develop proposals 
for meeting those needs, and provide leadership to foster cooperation between 
campus and community in fulfilling the institution's teaching, research, and public 
service responsibilities. 
 

3.3 The President is expected to consult appropriately with faculty, students, 
classified staff and administrators in discharging the responsibilities of the office.  
The President is also expected to ensure that the policies, procedures and actions 
of the Board are communicated to appropriate constituencies of the institution in a 
timely manner. 

 
3.4  As the chief executive of the institution, the President is charged with the 

following specific responsibilities: 
 
3.4.1 Exercising effective leadership in a joint effort to implement the mission 

of the institution, as delineated in the Mission Statement, planning 
documents of the institution, and any other role and scope statements 
approved by the Board.  

 
3.4.2 Providing effective leadership and support for an academic program that is 

consistent with the institutional mission, the needs of those being served, 
sound standards of quality, and available resources. 

 
3.4.3 Providing effective leadership and support for a program of student  life 

that complements the academic program and recognizes as an institutional 
priority the diverse interests and needs of the student body. 

 
3.4.4 Developing a competent administrative organization and staff to  

ensure effective and efficient management of the institution. 
 
3.4.5 Maintaining lawful, equitable and efficient personnel programs, including 

appointment of qualified persons to the faculty and staff and promotion, 
retention or dismissal for cause of the same, with due regard for the best 
interests of the university. 

 
3.4.6 Direct and cause the annual operating and capital budgets and other plans, 

financial and otherwise, for realizing the institutional mission to be 
prepared, and providing sound management of the approved budgets and 
plans. 

3.4.7 In coordination with the Board, communicating the needs of the university 
to the governor, legislators, other state and local  officials, and citizens of 
the state. 
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3.4.8 Interacting with appropriate external bodies to achieve the mission of the 

institution in a manner consistent with Board policy, statutory and 
regulatory provisions, and sound academic principles. 

 
3.4.9 Implementing assignments requested by the Board. 
 

3.5 With regard to 3.4.5 above, the President has final institutional-level authority and 
responsibility for every personnel action at the institution, and the Board hereby 
delegates all authority for such decision-making, with the exception of decisions 
relating to his or her own employment and compensation. 

 
3.6 The President is expected to consult, when appropriate, within the campus 

community on personnel decisions, but shall retain ultimate authority for such 
decisions. 

 
SECTION  4.   PRESIDENTIAL REVIEW 
 

4.1 It is the responsibility of the Executive Committee, under the leadership of the 
Chair, to continually monitor and evaluate the performance of the President.  
Throughout the year, the Chair is responsible for informing the Executive 
Committee, or the entire Board when appropriate, of any concerns regarding the 
performance of the President. 

 
4.2 ANNUAL REVIEW 

The annual review may include one or more of the following components, as the 
Committee may choose: campus visits, discussions with the  President, assessment 
of the quality of written information submitted by the President, assessment of the 
accomplishment of institutional and system goals, and/or discussions with 
members of the Board, as well as with students, faculty, staff, other 
administrators, legislators, and business and civic leaders associated with the 
institution.  The annual review will specifically include direct and private 
conversations between the Executive CommitteeChair and the elected constituent 
representatives who are members of the Board.  In addition, the President shall 
provide to the Chair near the end of each fiscal year, as an Annual Report, the 
President's goals and objectives for the ensuing twelve months and the progress 
made on accomplishing the goals and objectives of the previous twelve months. 
 
The Chair shall complete the annual review of the President, following one or 
more of the above referenced consultation and processes and by adding any 
additional processes that the Executive Committee finds appropriate. At the 
conclusion, the President shall receive the annual evaluation in writing from the 
Chair. 
 

4.3 QUADRENIAL TRI-ENIAL EVALUATION 
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4.3.1   Consistent with the requirements of West Virginia Code 18B-1B- 6, the 

process described below is designed to evaluate presidential performance 
in relation to criteria established by the Board.  It seeks to identify both 
areas of strength and those in which improvement would appear to be 
appropriate in order to assist the President in improving his or her 
effectiveness.  All of the actions to be taken by the Executive Committee 
or the Board in this process shall be in Executive Session. 

 
4.3.2   The basis for assessing presidential performance shall be the "Duties and 

Responsibilities" listed in Section 3 of this document.  This performance 
evaluation shall be conducted every thirdfourth year, or within any shorter 
time span as directed by the Executive Committee and shall be structured 
as follows: 
 

4.3.2.1 The Chair, after consultation with the President, shall establish a schedule 
for the performance evaluation activities.  In no case shall tThe process 
should not exceed four (4) months. The on-site schedule shall be 
developed for a period during the regular academic year when the 
institution is in operation.  However, preparatory or concluding activities 
may be completed during the summer months. 

 
4.3.2.2 The President shall prepare and submit to the Chair at least four (4) weeks 

prior to the on-site visit a "Statement of Presidential Assessment" 
consisting of his/her assessment of his/her performance as President in 
relation to each of the "Duties and Responsibilities of the President". The 
statement should generally be no longer than fifteen (15) pages.  The 
President may append necessary and appropriate materials, including such 
documents as the President's annual report and the current North Central 
Associationinstitutional accreditation self-study report. 

 
4.3.2.3 The Chair shall form an Evaluation Team of three (3) individuals. One 

shall be a college or university president/chancellor, or 
comparably experienced  peers selected by the Chair from a list of 
fourthree nominees submitted by the President to the entire Executive 
Committee.  Such persons shall be from outside West Virginia, shall be 
free from conflict of interest, andand the Chair’s selection shall chair the 
Evaluation Team.  One shall be the immediate past Chair of the Board of 
Governors, and the third shall be the Board Chair.  If either the Chair or 
the immediate past Chair of the Board shall be unable to serve on the 
Evaluation Team, the Board shall elect a replacement from among the lay 
members.Vice Chair shall serve in their stead. 

 
4.3.2.4 The Evaluation Team shall be given the "Statement of Presidential 

Assessment" and such other documents deemed to be appropriate by the 
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Evaluation Team.  
 
4.3.2.5 The Chair of the Evaluation Team shall be responsible for arranging a 

schedule for the Evaluation Team, including interviews and meetings with 
campus personnel, that will assure a careful assessment of leadership and 
condition of the campus. 
 

4.3.2.6 To obtain an accurate and objective impression of the performance of the 
President, the Evaluation Team shall visit the campus for up to two (2) 
days to talk with and receive the views of the President, members of the 
Board, and a representative number of administrators, faculty members, 
classified employees, students, alumni, and community leaders, including 
the elected leaders of    each campus constituent group.  For any session 
with such constituencies that is established by invitation rather than as an 
open session, the staff support for the Evaluation Team shall ensure that 
representatives are selected on a random basis.  Evaluative information 
thus obtained, either in oral or written form, if included in the report, must 
be attributable. Confidentiality, beyond the Evaluation Team and the 
Executive Committee, of individual assessments of presidential 
performance shall be assured. 

 
4.3.2.7 There shall be an oral report by the Evaluation Team to the President and 

the Executive Committee at the end of the on-site visit.  The team 
chairperson shall have lead responsibility for drafting a written team report 
promptly after the on-site visit concludes and for coordinating such 
discussion among the team members as may be necessary to conclude the 
report.  The team chair shouldall submit the completed team report to the 
Chair within thirty (30) days of the on-site visit.  The general approach 
and format for the report shall be similar to, but not identical with, an 
accreditation North Central team visit and report, including commentary 
on the performance of the President in relation to each of the "Duties and 
Responsibilities of the President" in Section 3 herein. 
 

4.3.2.8  The Chair shall forward a copy of the report to the members of the 
Executive Committee of the Board and to the President, inviting the latter 
to offer comments within two (2) weeks. 
 

4.3.2.9 A copy of comments received from the President shall be promptly 
forwarded to the members of the Executive Committee of the Board. 

 
4.3.2.10  The President shall be invited to discuss the process and results of  the 

evaluation with the Executive Committee of the Board, in which areas of 
strength and those appearing to need improvement (if any) shall be 
identified for particular attention by the President    prior to the next 
evaluation. 
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4.3.2.11  Following its review of the evaluation with the President, the Executive 

Committee shall report its conclusions to the Board.  At all stages of the 
evaluation process, the President shall be involved and informed and be 
afforded an opportunity to respond as he/she deems appropriate.  
Confidentiality consistent with state laws shall be maintained throughout 
the evaluation process. 
 

4.3.2.12The Executive Committee shall thereafter submit the final Quadrennial 
Triennial Evaluation Report to the President and to the Chair of the Higher 
Education Policy Commission, consistent with its requirements. 

 
 
SECTION 5. RESIGNATION AND TERMINATION 
 

5.1 A president may resign appointment as President at any time, by written notice to 
the Chair of the Board.  

 
5.2 The Board may terminate a presidential appointment at any time when, in the 

Board’s judgment, such action is in the best interests of Shepherd University. 
 

5.2.1 If the Board terminates a presidential appointment of a President, who has 
academic tenure, for reasons other than “For Cause” relating to faculty or 
instructional duties, as defined in Section 12 of Policy 19 of the Board, 
that individual shall be eligible to assume a tenured faculty position at the 
University at such salary as is indicated by the original notice of tenure.  

  
5.2.2 If the board terminates a presidential appointment of a President for 

reasons other than “For Cause” as defined in Section 5.2.3 hereafter, that 
individual shall be eligible for such post-appointment compensation and/or 
benefits as may be provided for in the annual appointment(s).  Academic 
tenure, if any, may only be exercised as a mutually exclusive alternative to 
continuing administrative employment, if any. 

 
5.2.3 “Cause” for the termination of a presidential appointment is defined as 

acts of malfeasance or misfeasance, through acts of commission or 
omission, and any action in violation of federal or state law, acts in 
contravention of the policies of or a directive (expressed through an 
adopted resolution) of the Board, or any act which would be “cause” under 
Section 12the “Dismissal for Faculty” provisions of Policy 19 of the 
Board. 
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 14 
 
 

RENAMING OF THE ROBERT C. BYRD CENTER  
FOR LEGISLATIVE STUDIES 

 

 
Last year the Robert C. Byrd Center launched a comprehensive re-examination of its mission and 
strategic goals. The Center is operated by the Congressional Education Foundation (CEF), Inc., an 
independent 501(c)3. As the staff worked to enhance outreach to private sector, foundation and 
government funding, they concluded that a refinement of the name of the Center was also desirable. 
 
The CEF has re-named its program the Robert C. Byrd Center for Congressional History and Education, 
to more aptly capture its expanded mission and to bring emphasis to the fact that the center has always 
had an emphasis on education as well as historical research.   
 
To maximize the effectiveness of the initiatives of this important program that is hosted on Shepherd’s 
campus, it is recommended that the building be likewise re-named. 
 
The following resolution is recommended for adoption by the Board: 
 

RESOLVED, That the Shepherd University Board of Governors approve the re-naming of the 
Robert C. Byrd Center for Legislative Studies to The Robert C. Byrd Center for Congressional 
History and Education.  
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Shepherd University Board of Governors 
February 25, 2016 
Agenda Item No. 15 
 
 

HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SITE VISIT 
 
 

As part of its continuing accreditation process with the Higher Learning Commission (HLC), Shepherd 
University will host a team of five peer reviewers on March 7-8, 2016. Dr. Scott Beard, HLC Institutional 
Liaison and Associate VP for Academic Affairs, will provide an update to the Board and will then be 
available for questions from members of the Board. 
 
Shepherd University has been continuously accredited since 1950 by the HLC, one of the seven regional 
agencies that accredit U.S. colleges and universities at the institutional level. Accreditation provides 
assurance to the public and to prospective students that standards of quality have been met by the 
institution. 
 
Using evidence-based data as well as data-driven results and continuous improvement outcomes from the 
Shepherd University Strategic Plan, Institutional Compact, Campus Master Plan and other planning 
documents, Shepherd’s Assurance Argument demonstrates how it is in compliance with the criteria for 
accreditation, while at the same time reflecting on future priorities, viability and sustainability in defining 
its role as a public liberal arts university in the 21st century. 
 
While Shepherd’s last self-study was also a completely electronic document, the current Assurance 
Argument is uploaded, along with evidence files, into the institutional portal on the HLC Assurance 
System.  
 
The Board of Governors (BoG) is affected by the accreditation visit in a number of ways: 
 

 Governing Boards need to meet accreditation standards and policies that address organizational 
structure, independence, fiduciary responsibilities, conflicts of interest and oversight. 

 Governing Boards work with the CEO, setting policies that affect change at the institution, while 
delegating the day-to-day operations of the University to the President and staff. 

 Feedback from the site team provides important information and advice for future planning. 
 Federal and state laws, many of which are constantly changing, affect operations and compliance, 

requiring increased attention from boards and institutions with regard to public policy and 
accreditation. 
 

While members of the BoG should be familiar with the entire document, most of the information 
regarding the Shepherd University BoG will be contained under Criteria 2A, 2C, 2D, 5A and 5B.  
 
As the site visit schedule is finalized, there will be a specific time for the BoG Chair and members of the 
BoG to meet with the site visit team. Information regarding the site visit may be found on the following 
web pages: 
 

 HLC Accreditation page: http://www.shepherd.edu/accreditation/ 
 2016 Site Visit page: http://www.shepherd.edu/2016-site-visit-information/ 

Accreditation information can also be accessed by clicking on “accreditation & institutional planning” at 
the bottom of Shepherd’s home page and then selecting “HLC accreditation.” 

http://www.shepherd.edu/accreditation/
http://www.shepherd.edu/2016-site-visit-information/


 

 
 
 
 
 
February 2, 2016 
 

Board of Governors 
Shepherd University 
Shepherdstown, West Virginia 
 
We  have  audited  the  financial  statements  of  the  business‐type  activities  and  the  discretely  presented 
component unit of Shepherd University (the University) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015, and have 
issued our report thereon February 2, 2016. We have previously communicated to you  information about our 
responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted  in  the United States of America and Government 
Auditing  Standards,  as  well  as  certain  information  related  to  the  planned  scope  and  timing  of  our  audit. 
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Significant audit findings 

Qualitative aspects of accounting practices 

Accounting policies 

Management  is  responsible  for  the  selection  and  use  of  appropriate  accounting  policies.  The  significant 
accounting policies used by the University are described in Note 2 to the financial statements.  

As  described  in  Note  2  to  the  financial  statements,  the  University  implemented  GASB  Statement  No.  68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting  for Pensions—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27  , and the related 
GASB Statement No. 71,  Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date—an 
amendment  of GASB  Statement No.  68,  by  recognizing  its  net  pension  liability  related  to  its  pension  plans. 
Accordingly, the cumulative effect of the accounting change is recorded as a restatement at the beginning of the 
year in the financial statements of the University. 

We noted no transactions entered into by the University during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance  or  consensus.  All  significant  transactions  have  been  recognized  in  the  financial  statements  in  the 
proper period.  

Accounting estimates 

Accounting estimates are an  integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s  knowledge  and  experience  about  past  and  current  events  and  assumptions  about  future 
events.  Certain  accounting  estimates  are  particularly  sensitive  because  of  their  significance  to  the  financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were:  

 Management’s  estimate  of  the  allowance  for  uncollectible  accounts  is  based  on  a  percentage  of 
accounts  receivable  categorized by days outstanding. We evaluated  the  key  factors  and  assumptions 
used to develop the allowance in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. 
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 Management’s  estimate  of  the  net  pension  liability  is  based  on  computations  performed  by  outside 
specialists,  including actuarial computations and assumptions that were relied upon. We evaluated the 
key factors and assumptions used to develop the net pension liability in determining that it is reasonable 
in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Financial statement disclosures 

Certain  financial  statement  disclosures  are  particularly  sensitive  because  of  their  significance  to  financial 
statement users. There were no particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures.  

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties encountered in performing the audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 

Uncorrected misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other than those 
that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate  level of management. Management did not 
identify and we did not notify them of any uncorrected financial statement misstatements. 

Corrected misstatements  

The attached  schedule  summarizes all misstatements  (material and  immaterial) detected as a  result of audit 
procedures that were corrected by management. 

Disagreements with management 

For purposes of  this  letter, a disagreement with management  is a  financial accounting,  reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditors’ report. No such disagreements arose during our audit.  

Management representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are  included  in the attached management 
representation letter dated February 2, 2016. 

Management consultations with other independent accountants 

In  some  cases, management may  decide  to  consult with  other  accountants  about  auditing  and  accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an 
accounting principle to the entity’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that 
may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check 
with  us  to  determine  that  the  consultant  has  all  the  relevant  facts.  To  our  knowledge,  there were  no  such 
consultations with other accountants.  

Significant issues discussed with management prior to engagement 

We  generally  discuss  a  variety  of  matters,  including  the  application  of  accounting  principles  and  auditing 
standards,  with management  each  year  prior  to  engagement  as  the  University’s  auditors.  However,  these 
discussions  occurred  in  the  normal  course  of  our  professional  relationship  and  our  responses  were  not  a 
condition to our engagement. 
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Audits of group financial statements  

We noted no matters related to the group audit that we consider to be significant to the responsibilities of those 
charged with governance of the group. 

Quality of component auditor’s work 

There were no  instances  in which our evaluation of  the work of a component auditor gave  rise  to a concern 
about the quality of that auditor’s work. 

Limitations on the group audit 

There were no restrictions on our access to information of components or other limitations on the group audit. 

Other information in documents containing audited financial statements 

With respect to the required supplementary information (RSI) accompanying the financial statements, we made 
certain  inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the RSI,  including whether the RSI has been 
measured and presented in accordance with prescribed guidelines, whether the methods of measurement and 
preparation have been changed from the prior period and the reasons for any such changes, and whether there 
were any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the RSI. We 
compared  the RSI  for consistency with management’s responses to the  foregoing  inquiries, the basic  financial 
statements, and other knowledge obtained during  the audit of  the basic  financial  statements. Because  these 
limited procedures do not provide sufficient evidence, we did not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the RSI.  

Our auditors’ opinion,  the audited  financial statements, and  the notes  to  financial statements should only be 
used  in  their  entirety.  Inclusion  of  the  audited  financial  statements  in  a  document  you  prepare,  such  as  an 
annual report, should be done only with our prior approval and review of the document. 

* * * 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Governors and management 
of Shepherd University and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties.  
 

a 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Baltimore, Maryland 
February 2, 2016 



2/9/2016

10:07 AM

Client: 097-10171600 - Shepherd University

Engagement: AUD - Shepherd University

Period Ending: 6/30/2015

Trial Balance: 0900 - TB

Workpaper: 0920.10 - Adjusting Journal Entries Report

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  1 1305.00

715120 Admin and Collection Costs 118,591.00

120100 Allowance for Accounts Receivable 118,591.00

Total 118,591.00 118,591.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  2 0920.11

124000 Unbilled Charges 2,052.00

230200 Deferred Revenue 63,674.00

553100 Private Grants 374.00

553500 Foundation Contributions 66,100.00

Total 66,100.00 66,100.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  3 0920.11

110020 Cash In Bank 17,471.00

712510 Contractual and Professional 16,000.00

430000 Unrestricted Funds 33,459.00

561000 Interest Income 12.00

Total 33,471.00 33,471.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  4

3112 Revenue Control 7,109.00

751520 Debt Service (Bonded-Interest) 7,109.00

Total 7,109.00 7,109.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  5 0920.11

712511 Contractual Camp Registration 22,539.00

110010 Cash on Deposit With the State 22,539.00

Total 22,539.00 22,539.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  6 0920.11

190400 Buildings 18,600.00

190510 Allow for Depreciation Equipment 622,404.00

190500 Equipment 622,404.00

190700 Construction In Progress 18,600.00

Total 641,004.00 641,004.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  7 0920.11

20000 Accounts Payable 52,882.00

714720 Utilities - Electric 52,882.00

PBC - Reverse duplicate posting of invoice

PBC - Adjustment to Allowance for AR

PBC - 

Reclass of Deferred Revenue

PBC - SURC activity

PBC - Reclass capital expense out of interest

PBC -To record expense automatically deducted by the State

PBC - Adjustment to Fixed Assets
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2/9/2016

10:07 AM

Client: 097-10171600 - Shepherd University

Engagement: AUD - Shepherd University

Period Ending: 6/30/2015

Trial Balance: 0900 - TB

Workpaper: 0920.10 - Adjusting Journal Entries Report

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

Total 52,882.00 52,882.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  8 0920.11

20000 Accounts Payable 9,984.00

712001 Office Expenses-pooled 267.00

712100 Printing and Binding 326.00

712320 Utilities - Water 2,875.00

712530 Exterminating Service 1,030.00

712600 Travel 312.00

713410 Household Supplies - Janitorial 100.00

713500 Advertising 1,204.00

714200 Hospitality 515.00

715100 Miscellaneous Expense 295.00

715200 Training and Development 39.00

715300 Postage and Freight 30.00

715400 Computer Expenses 2,288.00

715900 Student Activities 366.00

736400 Building Repairs and Alterations 337.00

Total 9,984.00 9,984.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  9 2600.01

1G1950 Deferred Outflows related to Pensions 42,953.00

1G1950 Deferred Outflows related to Pensions 59,998.00

2G2950 Pension Liability 305,812.00

320000 Unrestricted Fund 755,164.00

620160 Pension and Retirement 59,396.00

620160 Pension and Retirement 59,998.00

620160 Pension and Retirement 175,174.00

1G1950 Deferred Outflows related to Pensions 59,998.00

2G2950 Pension Liability 755,164.00

2G2955 Deferred Inflows related to Pension 59,396.00

2G2955 Deferred Inflows related to Pension 175,174.00

320000 Unrestricted Fund 59,998.00

620160 Pension and Retirement 42,953.00

620160 Pension and Retirement 305,812.00

Total 1,458,495.00 1,458,495.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE #  10 2600.01a

620160 Pension and Retirement 59,983.00

599450 Misc Collections 59,983.00

Total 59,983.00 59,983.00

PBC - To record net pension liability

PBC - to record Shepherd''s share of State''s pension contributions on 

behalf of the institution

PBC - Reverse FY16 pcard transacations posted to FY15
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 
To the Governing Board 
Shepherd University 
Shepherdstown, West Virginia 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We  have  audited  the  accompanying  financial  statements  of  the  business‐type  activities  and  the  discretely 
presented  component  unit  of  Shepherd University  (the University)  (a  component  unit  of  the  State  of West 
Virginia),  as  of  and  for  the  years  ended  June  30,  2015  and  2014,  and  the  related  notes  to  the  financial 
statements, which  collectively  comprise  the  University’s  basic  financial  statements  as  listed  in  the  table  of 
contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  these  financial  statements  in 
accordance with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the United  States  of America;  this  includes  the 
design,  implementation, and maintenance of  internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the 
financial  statements  of  the  Shepherd  University  Foundation,  Incorporated  (the  Foundation),  a  discretely 
presented component unit of the University, which represent 100% of the assets, revenues and net assets of the 
discretely component unit.  Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished 
to us, and our opinion,  insofar as  it relates to the amounts  included for the Foundation,  is based solely on the 
report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in  the  United  States  of  America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in  Government 
Auditing Standards,  issued by  the Comptroller General of  the United States. Those standards  require  that we 
plan and perform  the audit  to obtain  reasonable  assurance about whether  the  financial  statements are  free 
from material misstatement.   The financial statements of the Foundation were not audited  in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
An audit  involves performing procedures  to obtain audit evidence about  the amounts and disclosures  in  the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’  judgment,  including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements  in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate  in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s  internal control. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also  includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and  the  reasonableness of  significant  accounting  estimates made by management,  as well  as  evaluating  the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe  that  the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate  to provide a basis  for our 
audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 

In our opinion, based on our report and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business‐type activities and 
the discretely presented  component unit of  the University as of  June 30, 2015 and 2014, and  the  respective 
changes  in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended  in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of a Matter 

During  fiscal  year  ended  June  30,  2015,  the  University  adopted  GASB  Statement  No.  68,  Accounting  and 
Financial Reporting  for Pensions and  the  related GASB Statement No. 71 Pension Transition  for Contributions 
Made  Subsequent  to  the Measurement Date—an  amendment  of GASB  Statement No.  68. As  a  result  of  the 
implementation  of  these  standards,  the  University  reported  a  restatement  for  the  change  in  accounting 
principle (see Note 2.) Our auditors’ opinion was not modified with respect to the restatement. 
 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America  require  that  the  Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 3  ‐ 10 and  the Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability and 
Contributions  on  page  63,  be  presented  to  supplement  the  basic  financial  statements.  Such  information, 
although not a part of  the basic  financial  statements,  is  required by  the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required  supplementary  information  in  accordance with  auditing  standards  generally  accepted  in  the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and  comparing  the  information  for  consistency  with  management’s  responses  to  our  inquiries,  the  basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 2, 2016, on 
our consideration of the University's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the  result  of  that  testing,  and  not  to  provide  an  opinion  on  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  or  on 
compliance.  That  report  is  an  integral  part  of  an  audit  performed  in  accordance with Government  Auditing 
Standards in considering the University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

a 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Baltimore, Maryland 
February 2, 2016 
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Shepherd University 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

Fiscal Years 2015 and 2014 

 

About Shepherd University 

Shepherd University (the “University”) is a state-supported institution within the West Virginia system of 
higher education. The University was founded in 1871. It offers Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Fine Arts, and 
Bachelor of Science degrees in a wide range of fields, encompassing the liberal arts, business administration, 
teacher education, the social and natural sciences, and other career oriented areas. Graduate programs include 
the Master of Arts in Teaching, Master of Arts in Curriculum and Instruction, Master of Business 
Administration, the Master of Arts in College Student Development and Administration, and the Master of 
Music and Music Education. The University began its doctoral program in Nursing Practice in fall of 2015.  The 
University is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association. 

Overview of the Financial Statements and Financial Analysis 

This discussion will emphasize significant changes reflected in the fiscal year 2015 data compared to the 
financial statements presented for fiscal year 2014. There are three financial statements presented: the Statement 
of Net Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement of Cash 
Flows. This discussion and analysis of the University’s financial statements provides an overview of its 
financial activities for the year and its required supplemental information. 

Statement of Net Position 

The Statement of Net Position presents end-of-year data concerning assets (current and noncurrent), deferred 
outflow of resources, liabilities (current and noncurrent), deferred inflow of resources and net position (assets 
and deferred outflows of resources minus liabilities and deferred inflows of resources) of the University as of 
June 30, 2015, and 2014.  The difference between current and noncurrent assets and liabilities are discussed in 
the footnotes to the financial statements. 

From the data presented, readers of the Statement of Net Position are able to determine the assets available to 
continue the operations of the institution. They are also able to determine how much the institution owes 
vendors and lending institutions. Finally, the Statement of Net Position provides a picture of net position and the 
availability of carry over funds for use by the University in future years. 

Components of net position are divided into three major categories. The first category, net investment in capital 
assets, provides the institution’s equity in property, plant, and equipment owned by the institution, net of 
depreciation and outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets . The second asset category is 
restricted, which is divided into two categories, nonexpendable and expendable. Shepherd University does not 
currently have nonexpendable restricted resources since all funds of this nature are directed to the Shepherd 
University Foundation. The corpus of nonexpendable restricted resources would be available only for 
investment purposes. Expendable restricted resources are available for expenditure by the institution but must be 
spent for purposes as determined by donors and/or external entities that have placed time or purpose restrictions 
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on the use of the assets. The third category is unrestricted net position. Unrestricted net position is available for 
any lawful purpose of the institution. 

Condensed Schedules of Net Position 

(In thousands) 

2015 2014 2013
Assets:
  Cash 17,879$              16,213$           16,680$          
  Other Current Assets 1,456                 1,465               1,246             
  Noncurrent Assets 132,102              135,387           137,869          

  Total Assets 151,437              153,065           155,795          
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 43                      -                     -                    

Total Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources 151,480              153,065           155,795          

Liabilities:
  Current Liabilities 8,160                 7,166               9,250             
  Noncurrent Liabilities 53,260                53,810             54,584            

  Total Liabilities 61,420                60,976             63,834            

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 235                    -                     -                    

Net Position:

Net Invesment in Capital Assets 88,289                90,372             91,864            
Restricted - Expendable 322                    199                 577                
Unrestricted 1,214                 1,518               (480)               

Total Net Position 89,825$              92,089$           91,961$          

June 30

  

Assets 

Total Assets decreased approximately one percent to $151.4 million compared to $153.1 million for 2014.  
However, within current assets, cash increased by approximately $1.66 million from the previous year. The 
increase in cash is primarily due to the increase in current liabilities as a result of the conversion to the state’s 
new financial system, (OASIS). In 2014, all June invoices were paid in June. In 2015, all June invoices were 
paid in July of 2015.  

The majority of non-current assets are comprised of capital assets.  These assets are reported net of accumulated 
depreciation. The University’s annual investment in capital projects and equipment can significantly impact the 
value of non-current assets from year to year. With no large capital projects undertaken by the University in 
2015 to offset accumulated depreciation, non-current assets decreased by $3.3 million compared to 2014.    
  

The net result of fiscal year 2015 activities resulted in a $1.6 million decrease in total assets.  
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Deferred Outflows of Resources:  

Deferred outflows of resources are the consumption of net position by the University that are applicable to 
future years. In 2015, the University had deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of $42,953 as a 
direct result of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pension. This deferred outflows of resources directly relate to the required contributions the University has 
made on behalf of employee enrolled in the defined benefit pension plan. 

Liabilities: 

Liabilities include but are not limited to accounts payable, accrued liabilities, unearned revenues, bond payable 
and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability. Total liabilities remained consistent from 2014 to 2015. . 
However, there were significant changes in the components that encompass liabilities:  
 
Significant changes include: 

 
 Accounts payable increased by $1M from 2014 to 2015 because of the conversion to the State’s new 

financial system.   
 

 In 2015 the University converted approximately 100 employees onto an arrears pay schedule resulting 
in an increase in accrued liabilities of $180,000 from 2014 to 2015.  
 

 Unearned revenue decreased due to a change in the advisement and registration schedule resulting in the 
recognition of fee revenue from this activity in the same year it took place.   
 

 An increase in the OPEB liability of $572,000 due to an updated actuary study by the state. The state 
has established the West Virginia Retirees Health Benefit Trust Fund which will be used to eliminate 
the liability over time. 
 

 A decrease in bonds payable of $1.4 million resulting from bond premium payments. 
 

 A decrease in lease payable of $195,000 from 2014 to 2015 primarily due to the pay-off of the capital 
lease for the Ram Stadium Field Turf project.  
 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
 
Deferred inflows of resources are the acquistions of net position by the University that are applicable to future 
years. In 2015, the University had deferred inflows of resources related to pensions of $234,570, as a direct 
result of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68.  
 

Net Position 

From 2014 to 2015 total net position decreased by $2.3 million. During the year, net investment in capital assets 
– net of related debt decreased approximately $2.1 million. This reflects the University’s significant reduction in 
investments in capital assets over the last two years. Unrestricted net position overall decreased slightly by 
$303,560 as a result of the implementation of GASB No. 68 to record the unfunded pension liabilities.  
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Changes in total net position on the Statement of Net Position are based on the activity presented in the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. The purpose of the statement is to present the 
revenues received and expenses paid by the institution, both operating and non-operating, and any other 
revenues, expenses, gains, and losses received or spent by the University. 

Generally speaking, operating revenues are received for providing goods and services to the various customers 
and constituencies of the University. Operating expenses are those expenses paid to acquire or produce the 
goods and services provided in return for the operating revenues, and to carry out the mission of the institution. 
Revenues received for which goods and services are not provided are reported as non-operating revenues. For 
example, State appropriations are non-operating because they are provided by the State to the institution without 
the State directly receiving commensurate goods and services for those revenues. 

 

Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

(In thousands) 

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013

Operating Revenues 43,174$          43,863$        42,821$          
Operating Expenses 59,427           59,339          58,609            

Operating Loss (16,253)          (15,476)        (15,788)          

Nonoperating Revenues - Net 14,684           14,512          15,555            

Loss before Other Revenues,
   Expenses, Gains or Losses (1,569)            (964)             (233)               

Capital and Bond Proceeds
   from Commission -                    -                  6,112             
Capital and Bond Proceeds
   from State 1                   1,092           2,027             
Private Capital Grants and Gifts -                    -                  1,964             

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (1,568)            128              9,870             

Net Position - Beginning of Year 92,089           91,961          82,091            
Cummulative effect of change in accounting principle (695)              -                  -                    

Net Position - Beginning of Year, restated 91,394           91,961          82,091            

Net Position - End of Year 89,825$          92,089$        91,961$          
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Operating Revenues: 

Operating revenues consist of student tuition and fees, contracts and grants, interest on student loans receivable, 
sales and services of educational activities, auxiliary enterprise revenue and other operating revenues. Total 
operating revenues for 2015 decreased by $689,260 or 1.6 percent. 

During fiscal year 2015, student tuition and fees revenue increased from 2014 by $477,263 or 2.5 percent due to 
a combination of a 5.0 percent tuition increase and a 4.3 enrollment shortfall. Overall, student tuition and fees as 
a percentage of total operating revenues increased from 43.4 to 45.2 percent. 

Grants and contracts comprise approximately 11.7 percent of the operating revenues and total $5.12million in 
2015. This is a $461,522 decrease from 2014, which is a result of two federal grants expiring in 2014.  

Auxiliary enterprise revenue, which includes resources generated by the operation of the bookstore, wellness 
center, dining services and residence halls, experienced a decrease of $588,369 or 3.2 percent in 2015. The 
decrease is attributed to the enrollment shortfall experience throughout the year. 

Operating Revenues –FY 2015-2013 
 

(In millions) 

 

Operating Expenses: 

Salaries and benefits represent 55 percent of the total 2015 operating expenses. This is consistent with 2014. 
Within this category of expenses, salaries decreased by $617,254 from 2014 to 2015 while the total cost of 
benefits increased 13 percent or approximately $732,000. Contributing factors to the increased cost of benefits 
include increases in the annual cost billed to employers for other post-employment benefits (OPEB), employer 
paid portion of employee health insurance premiums and pension. Overall, employee compensation including, 
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benefits increased by $114,746. The University implemented University wide cost containment strategies to 
offset fixed cost increases for 2015. 

Overall, 2015 operating expenses increased $87,493 over the previous year.  
 
 

Operating Expenses – FY 2015-2013 

(In millions) 

 

 

 

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses) 

There are two material changes in non-operating revenues (expenses). The State appropriations decreased 1.7% 
from 2014 to $9.94 million. Additionally, gifts increased $297,596 from prior year due to recognition of 
Foundation support associated with operating activities.  

The net result of operating and non-operating revenues and expenses was a loss of approximately $1.6 million. 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 

The final statement presented by the University is the Statement of Cash Flows. The Statement of Cash Flows 
presents detailed information about the cash activity of the University during the year. The statement is divided 
into five parts. The first part deals with operating cash flows and shows the net cash used by the operating 
activities of the institution. The second section reflects cash flows from noncapital financing activities. This 
section reflects the cash received and spent for non-operating, non-investing, and non-capital financing 
purposes. The third section deals with cash flows from capital and related financing activities. The fourth 
section reflects the cash flows from investing activities and shows the purchases, proceeds, and interest received 
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from investing activities. The fifth section reconciles the net cash used to the operating income or loss reflected 
on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. 

Cash inflows from operating activities include tuition and fees, auxiliary enterprise charges, and contracts and 
grants. Major cash outlays in operating activities include payments to and on behalf of employees of $32.24 
million and payments to suppliers of $12.9 million. Net cash used for operating activities decreased slightly by 
approximately $196,000 from 2014 to 2015 primarily due to an increase in the University’s operating loss of 
$646,000 and an increase of $882,000 in accounts payable associated with the conversion to the state’s new 
accounting system. 

State appropriations and Federal Pell grants and Direct Loans are the primary sources of non-capital financing 
activities. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles require that the University reflect this State revenue as 
non-operating revenue even though the University’s budget depends on this to continue the current level of 
operations. There is an increase of $595,000 primarily due to increased giving from the Foundation. 

Capital financing activities represent funds that were used to purchase or add value to capital assets. The 
University did not undertake any substantial capital projects for 2015 resulting in a decrease of $1.74 million 
from 2014 to 2015. 

Cash flows from investing activities represent income earned on cash invested in our bond reserve fund related 
to the 2003 revenue bonds. During 2014, we refinanced those bonds as well as the 2004 revenue bonds and 
therefore, liquidated the reserve funds of approximately $400,000 thus increasing our cash flow from investing 

Overall cash and cash equivalents at 2015 year–end increased $1.6 million.   

 

Condensed Consolidated Schedules of Cash Flows 

(In thousands) 

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013

Net cash (used in) provided by:
  Operating activities (8,641)$         (8,837)$         (9,903)$        
  Noncapital financing activities 16,986          16,391          17,728          
  Capital and related financing activities (6,700)           (8,442)          (12,047)        
  Investing activites 21                421              56                

  Increase (decrease) in Cash 1,666            (467)             (4,166)          

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 16,213          16,680          20,846          

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 17,879$         16,213$        16,680$        

 

Economic Outlook 

Current and foreseeable economic conditions will likely continue to place a pressure on Shepherd’s financial 
capabilities for the next few years. Recently implemented federal financial aid requirements increased the 
standards for student assistance eligibility. As such, the number of students eligible to continue receiving 
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financial aid did decrease and continues to adversely affect enrollment. This is expected to be a continuing 
challenge going into 2016, and thereafter.  Shepherd University’s state appropriation was reduced by $172,000 
for 2015 after a 10% reduction in 2014.  The FY16 appropriation includes a further reduction similar to the 
2015 reduction and this reduction was accounted for in building the University’s FY16 operating budget. 
Although Shepherd’s reliance upon state funding is among the lowest in the state, continued dis-investment by 
the state in higher education will cause the University to continue to examine existing resources, reallocate or 
reinvest as necessary and enhancement of new revenue opportunities.  
 
The University is taking several steps in an effort to counter these challenges and to better prepare for the future.  
A new Martinsburg Center was opened during summer 2014.  The Center focuses on adult learners and will 
attract additional students from new markets to increase enrollments and enhance revenue.  Enrollments during 
2015 were strong and efforts are continuing to retain and recruit students to these programs.  By 2021, the 
Center is expected to serve an additional 500 students.  Additionally the Martinsburg Center has implemented 
Strategic Alliance Partnerships with many local businesses.  The partnerships will enable students to take 
courses in Martinsburg at a reduced rate, but this is increased revenue for the University because these are new 
enrollment markets. These types of marketing and recruitment efforts will continue.   
 
Feasibility studies and research will be conducted and Shepherd will develop and offer new market-driven 
programs. For example, in fiscal year 2016 the University will offer its first Doctoral program in the Doctorate 
of Nurse Practice. 
 
The University is focusing on enhancing its enrollment through increased retention by establishing a Retention 
Interventions Team giving every undergraduate a dedicated staff advocate.  Rigorous efforts will be made to 
maximize every opportunity to improve student success to increase retention of existing students. Attracting 
more international students to Shepherd is also a strategy the University is employing to grow enrollment and 
revenue. The University is partnering with the Higher Education Policy Commission and a leading global 
education recruiter/provider to bring an influx of international students to Shepherd in the future.  As a third 
enrollment and revenue growth strategy the University is planning for improved on-campus housing options for 
our students.  
 
As evidenced by the substantial increase in 2015 giving, the Shepherd University Advancement Office in 
partnership with the Shepherd University Foundation will continue to raise funds to provide sustaining support 
for academic, scholarship, cultural and athletic programs; faculty and staff development; campus renewal and 
beautification; and other department programs and initiatives. Outreach to alumni and regional business leaders 
continues, not only for financial assistance but for ongoing assessment of existing academic programs and 
development of new programmatic initiatives. 
 
Strategies for setting tuition rates will be thoughtful and thorough to balance student affordability and the need 
for increased revenue.  Because of recent enrollment declines, the focus in the upcoming years will be to control 
costs to students and attracting more residential and out-of-state students. 
 
The University staff and Board of Governors will continue these efforts and implement new strategies and 
initiatives to sustain programs and activities, plan for future challenges and growth, and strengthen the 
institution’s financial position. 
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2015 2014
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 17,879,303$      16,213,238$      
Accounts receivable — net 675,171             864,121             
Due from Commission 17,910               -                         
Prepaid expense 57,902               68,264               
Loans to students — current portion 100,091             100,091             
Inventories 604,895             431,837             

           Total current assets 19,335,272       17,677,551        

NONCURRENT ASSETS:
  Cash and cash equivalents 3                        10                      
  Investments -                         2                        
  Other Receivable 306,858             -                         
  Loans to students — net of allowance of $423,341 and
    $401,387 in 2015 and 2014, respectively 333,957             286,828             
  Capital assets — net 131,460,589       135,100,563       

           Total noncurrent assets 132,101,407     135,387,403      

TOTAL ASSETS 151,436,679     153,064,954      

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES:
Deferred outflows related to pensions 42,953                -                      

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES 151,479,632$     153,064,954$     

(Continued)
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2015 2014
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
Accounts payable 2,312,187$        1,342,339$        
Accrued liabilities 2,565,174         2,385,181          
Compensated absences — current portion 789,814             762,028             
Unearned revenues 773,839             995,981             
Deposits held in custody for others 189,003             150,067             
Bonds payable — current portion 1,390,000         1,335,000          
Capital lease obligations — current portion 140,114             194,946             

Total current liabilities 8,160,131         7,165,542          

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
Advances from federal sponsors 511,662             526,575             
Compensated absences 426,196             425,662             
Other postemployment benefits liability 10,231,325       9,660,135          
Net pension liability 449,352             -                         
Bonds payable, net of current portion 41,031,552       42,448,343        
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 609,535             749,649             

Total noncurrent liabilities 53,259,622       53,810,364        

Total liabilities 61,419,753       60,975,906        

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES:
Deferred inflows related to pensions 234,570             -                         

NET POSITION:
Net Investment in capital assets 88,289,388       90,372,625        

Restricted — expendable:
Loans 96,327               98,177               
Other restricted 225,266             100,358             

Total restricted - expendable 321,593             198,535             

Unrestricted 1,214,328         1,517,888          

Total net position 89,825,309       92,089,048        

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
AND NET POSITION 151,479,632$    153,064,954$    

See notes to financial statements. (Concluded)
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2015 2014

OPERATING REVENUES:
  Student tuition and fees — net of scholarship allowance of
    $10,708,656 and $10,701,854 in 2015 and 2014, respectively 19,524,283$      19,047,020$      
  Contracts and grants:
    Federal 490,107             923,554             
    State 4,601,090         4,585,850          
    Private 35,437               78,752               
  Interest on student loans receivable 13,829               8,138                 
  Sales and services of educational activities 37,113               41,545               
  Auxiliary enterprise revenue — net of scholarship allowance
    of $653,958 and $463,255 in 2015 and 2014, respectively 17,905,103       18,493,472        
  Other operating revenues 567,069             684,960             

           Total operating revenues 43,174,031       43,863,291        

OPERATING EXPENSES:
  Salaries and wages 26,211,670       26,828,924        
  Benefits 6,508,277         5,776,277          
  Supplies and other services 13,206,772       13,431,445        
  Utilities 3,372,230         3,213,654          
  Student financial aid — scholarships and fellowships 2,812,150         2,884,914          
  Depreciation 7,022,709         6,898,337          
  Fees assessed by the Commission for operations 293,248             306,012             

           Total operating expenses 59,427,056         59,339,563         

OPERATING LOSS (16,253,025)     (15,476,272)      

(Continued)  
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2015 2014

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
  State appropriations 9,941,104$        10,112,854$      
  Payments on behalf of the University 59,983               -                        
  Federal Pell grants 5,398,671         5,583,097          
  Investment income 21,459               23,588               
  Interest expense (1,993,067)       (2,129,539)        
  Fees assessed by the Commission for debt service (37,820)             (37,820)             
  Gifts 1,319,646         1,022,050          
  Loss on disposal of equipment (25,488)             (62,393)             
  Other (636)                  (126)                  

           Net nonoperating revenues 14,683,852       14,511,711        

LOSS BEFORE OTHER REVENUES, EXPENSES,
  GAINS, OR LOSSES (1,569,173)       (964,561)           

CAPITAL AND BOND PROCEEDS FROM THE STATE 600                     1,091,933           

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION (1,568,573)       127,372             

NET POSITION — Beginning of year 92,089,048         91,961,676         
Cummulative effect of change in accounting principle (695,166)  -                   

NET POSITION - Beginning of year, as restated 91,393,882   91,961,676   

NET POSITION — End of year 89,825,309$      92,089,048$      

See notes to financial statements. (Concluded)
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
  Student tuition and fees 19,166,089$       19,342,384$      
  Contracts and grants 5,091,821          5,531,885         
  Payments to and on behalf of employees (32,240,443)      (32,646,387)     
  Payments to suppliers (12,904,969)      (13,944,787)     
  Payments to utilities (3,162,684)        (3,343,941)       
  Payments for scholarships and fellowships (2,812,150)        (2,884,914)       
  Loans issued to students (160,300)           (79,225)            
  Collection of loans to students 127,000             126,645            
  Sales and service of educational activities 37,113               41,545              
  Auxiliary enterprise charges 17,944,039        18,449,257       
  Fees assessed by the Commission (293,248)           (306,012)          
  Other receipts — net 567,070             876,660            

           Net cash used in operating activities (8,640,662)        (8,836,890)       

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  State appropriations 9,941,104          10,112,854       
  Federal Pell grants 5,398,671          5,583,097         
  Gifts 1,319,010          1,021,924         
  Federal student loan program — direct lending receipts 21,030,982        20,736,010       
  Federal student loan program — direct lending payments (20,703,921)      (21,063,071)     

           Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 16,985,846        16,390,814       

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Capital and bond proceeds from the State 600                    1,091,933         
  Interest paid on capital debt and leases (1,993,067)        (2,129,539)       
  Purchases of capital assets (3,140,354)        (5,790,560)       
  Bond and lease proceeds -                        6,730,000         
  Principal paid on capital debt and leases (1,529,946)        (8,316,285)       
  Withdrawals from (deposits to) noncurrent cash and cash equivalents 7                        9,870                
  Fees assessed by the Commission (37,820)             (37,820)            

           Net cash used in capital financing activities (6,700,580)        (8,442,401)       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Proceeds from sale of investment 2                        397,833            
  Interest on investments 21,459               23,588              

           Net cash provided by investing activities 21,461               421,421            

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,666,065          (467,056)          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of year 16,213,238        16,680,294       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of year 17,879,303$       16,213,238$      

(Continued)
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2014 2014

RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH USED
  IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
  Operating loss (16,253,025)$     (15,476,272)$    
  Adjustments to reconcile net operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
      Depreciation expense 7,022,709          6,898,337         
      Net accretion of premiums/discounts on bonds payable (26,791)             43,801              
Effect of changes in operating Assets and Liabilities:
      Accounts receivables — net (138,112)           (728)                 
      Other receivable (306,858)           -                       

Prepaid expense 10,362               (1,247)              
      Loans to students — net (47,129)             39,282              
      Due from the Commission (17,910)             -                       
      Inventories (173,058)           (23,586)            
      Accounts payable 701,979             (643,936)          
      Accrued liabilities 179,994             6,014                
      Compensated absences 28,320               (259,531)          
      Other postemployment benefits liability 571,190             229,166            
      Net pension liability 5,786                 -                       
      Deferred revenue (222,142)           428,698            
      Deposits held in custody for others 38,936               (44,215)            
      Advances from federal sponsors (14,913)             (32,673)            

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (8,640,662)$       (8,836,890)$      

NONCASH TRANSACTIONS 
Property additions in accounts payable (1,039,994)$       (772,125)$          
Property additions acquired under capital lease obligation -$                       (1,000,000)$       

See notes to financial statements. (Concluded)
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION, INCORPORATED
A COMPONENT UNIT OF SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

2015 2014
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,991,988$       1,732,027$       
Pledges receivable (net of present value adjustment) 3,318,446         3,324,650         
Other receivables 6,136                32,843              
Accrued interest receivable 33,360              33,564              
Prepaid expenses 1,582                1,582                
Investments 23,206,339       25,302,022       
Interest in life estate 318,582            302,653            
Equipment, net 5,509                6,971                

           Total Assets 28,881,942$     30,736,312$     

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 7,322$              1,644$              
Accrued payroll 8,648                7,412                
Custodial liabilities 2,012,091         2,444,417         
Gift annuities payable 146,905            168,986            

Total Liabilities 2,174,966$       2,622,459$       

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted (4,567,872)$      (2,388,213)$      
Temporarily restricted 6,737,382         6,364,814         
Permanently restricted 24,537,466       24,137,252       

Total Net Assets 26,706,976$     28,113,853$     

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 28,881,942$     30,736,312$     

See notes to financial statements.  
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION, INCORPORATED
A COMPONENT UNIT OF SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted

Total

REVENUE AND OTHER SUPPORT
Cash contributions -$                   1,042,244$   308,076         1,350,320$     
Stock contributions -                     47,270          30,353           77,623            
Other non-cash contributions -                     79,455          15,929           95,384            
Other revenue 23,035           11,951          -                     34,986            
Interest and dividends -                     594,348        25,032           619,380          
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments -                     -                    -                     -                      
Gain (loss) on sale of investment real estate (1,505,565)     118,812        -                     (1,386,753)      
Transfers (38,338)          17,514          20,824           -                      
Net assets released from restrictions 1,539,026    (1,539,026)  -                    -                    

Total Revenue and Other Support 18,158         372,568      400,214         790,940        

EXPENSES
Program services:

Scholarships and awards 1,445,617      -                    -                     1,445,617       
College support 94,412           -                    -                     94,412            

General and administrative:
Salaries 327,345         -                    -                     327,345          
Investment management fees 149,545         -                    -                     149,545          
Printing and reproduction costs 32,816           -                    -                     32,816            
Payroll taxes and benefits 50,198           -                    -                     50,198            
Depreciation 6,737             -                    -                     6,737              
Administrative expense 1,630             -                    -                     1,630              
Rent 12,600           -                    -                     12,600            
Office supplies and postage 7,159             -                    -                     7,159              
Insurance 5,275             -                    -                     5,275              
Changes in gift annuities 10,910           -                    -                     10,910            
Professional fees 19,808           -                    -                     19,808            
Staff training 238                238                 
Program development 28,003           -                    -                     28,003            
Telephone 2,331             -                    -                     2,331              
Technology 1,983           -                  -                    1,983            
Miscellaneous 1,210           -                  -                    1,210            

Total Expenses 2,197,817    -                  -                    2,197,817     

Transfer to Unrelated Foundation -                   -                  -                    -                    

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS (2,179,659)     372,568        400,214         (1,406,877)      

NET ASSETS -  Beginning of year (2,388,213)   6,364,814   24,137,252    28,113,853   

NET ASSETS - End of year (4,567,872)$  6,737,382$  24,537,466$  26,706,976$  

See notes to financial statements.
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION, INCORPORATED
A COMPONENT UNIT OF SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted

Total

REVENUE AND OTHER SUPPORT
Cash contributions -$                   4,040,792$   802,508          4,843,300$     
Stock contributions -                     4,389            18,879            23,268            
Other non-cash contributions -                     11,376          15,420            26,796            
Other revenue 23,537           25,073          -                     48,610            
Interest and dividends -                     481,337        20,159            501,496          
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments 1,415,750      87,276          -                     1,503,026       
Loss on sale of investment real estate (64,843)          -                    -                     (64,843)           
Transfers (71,678)          28,130          43,548            -                      
Net assets released from restrictions 1,315,523    (1,315,523)  -                    -                    

Total Revenue and Other Support 2,618,289    3,362,850   900,514          6,881,653     

EXPENSES
Program services:

Scholarships and awards 1,230,237      -                    -                     1,230,237       
College support 85,286           -                    -                     85,286            

General and administrative:
Salaries 312,137         -                    -                     312,137          
Investment management fees 158,993         -                    -                     158,993          
Real estate investment expenses 50                  -                    -                     50                   
Printing and reproduction costs 41,108           -                    -                     41,108            
Pledges written off 4,333             -                    -                     4,333              
Payroll taxes and benefits 52,032           -                    -                     52,032            
Depreciation 5,170             -                    -                     5,170              
Administrative expense 1,559             -                    -                     1,559              
Rent 13,138           -                    -                     13,138            
Office supplies and postage 7,538             -                    -                     7,538              
Insurance 5,571             -                    -                     5,571              
Changes in gift annuities 12,025           -                    -                     12,025            
Professional fees 29,769           -                    -                     29,769            
Development 27,624           -                    -                     27,624            
Telephone 2,450             -                    -                     2,450              
Technology 1,225             -                    -                     1,225              
Miscellaneous 192              -                  -                    192               

Total Expenses 1,990,437    -              -                 1,990,437     

Transfer to Unrelated Foundation -               -              (31,279)          (31,279)         

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 627,852         3,362,850     869,235          4,859,937       

NET ASSETS -  Beginning of year (3,016,065)   3,001,964   23,268,017     23,253,916   

NET ASSETS - End of year (2,388,213)$  6,364,814$  24,137,252$   28,113,853$  

See notes to financial statements.
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014 

1. ORGANIZATION 

Shepherd University (the “University”) is governed by the Shepherd University Board of Governors (the 
“Board”). The Board was established by Senate Bill 653 (S.B. 653). 

Powers and duties of the Board include, but are not limited to, the power to determine, control, 
supervise, and manage the financial, business, and educational policies and affairs of the University 
under its jurisdiction; the duty to develop a master plan for the institution; the power to prescribe the 
specific functions and the University’s budget request; the duty to review at least every five years all 
academic programs offered at the University; and the power to fix tuition and other fees for the different 
classes or categories of students enrolled at its institution. 

S.B. 653 also created the West Virginia Higher Education Policy Commission (the “Commission”), 
which is responsible for developing, gaining consensus around, and overseeing the implementation and 
development of a higher education public policy agenda. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial statements of the University have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles as prescribed by Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards (GASB). 
The financial statement presentation required by GASB provide a comprehensive, entity-wide 
perspective of the University’s assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources, net 
position, revenues, expenses, changes in net position, and cash flows. 

Reporting Entity — The University is a component unit of the State of West Virginia (the “State”), and 
an operating unit of the West Virginia Higher Education Fund and represents separate funds of the State 
that are not included in the State’s general fund. The University is a separate entity which, along with all 
the State institutions of higher education, the Commission (which includes West Virginia Network for 
Educational Telecomputing (WVNET)), and West Virginia Council for Community and Technical 
College Education, form the Higher Education Fund of the State. The Higher Education Fund is 
considered a component unit of the State, and its financial statements are discretely presented in the 
State’s comprehensive annual financial report. 

The accompanying financial statements present all funds under the authority of the University, including 
its blended component unit, the Shepherd University Research Corporation (the “Research 
Corporation”), a nonprofit, nonstock corporation. The basic criterion for inclusion in the accompanying 
financial statements is the exercise of oversight responsibility derived from the University’s ability to 
significantly influence operations and accountability for fiscal matters of the Research Corporation.  

The audited financial statements of Shepherd University Foundation, Incorporated (the Foundation) are 
discretely presented here with the University’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2015and 2014, in accordance with GASB as a benefit/burden relationship exists between the University 
and the Foundation. The Foundation is a private nonprofit organization that reports under FASB 
standards. As such, certain revenue recognition criteria and presentation features are different from  
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

GASB revenue recognition criteria and presentation features. No modifications have been made to the 
Foundation’s audited financial information as it is presented herein (see also Notes 15 and 20). 

Financial Statement Presentation — GASB establishes standards for external financial reporting for 
public colleges and universities and requires that financial statements be presented to focus on the 
University as a whole. The University’s net position is classified into three categories according to 
external donor restrictions or availability of assets for satisfaction of the University’s obligations. The 
University’s components of net position are classified as follows: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets — This represents the University’s total investment in capital assets, 
net of depreciation and outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has 
been incurred but not yet expended for capital assets, such amounts are not included. 

Restricted — Expendable — This includes resources in which the University is legally or contractually 
obligated to spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by external third parties. 

The West Virginia State Legislature (the “State Legislature”), as a regulatory body outside the reporting 
entity, has restricted the use of certain funds by Article 10, Fees and Other Money Collected at State 
Institutions of Higher Education, of the West Virginia State Code. House Bill 101 passed in March 2004 
simplified the tuition and fee restrictions to auxiliaries and capital items. These activities are 
fundamental to the normal ongoing operations of the institution. These restrictions are subject to change 
by future actions of the State Legislature. 

Restricted — Nonexpendable — This includes endowment and similar type funds in which donors or 
other outside sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument, that the principal is to be 
maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present and future 
income, which may either be expended or added to principal. The University does not have any 
restricted nonexpendable component of net position at June 30, 2015 or 2014. 

Unrestricted — This represents resources derived from student tuition and fees, state appropriations, and 
sales and services of educational activities. These resources are used for transactions relating to the 
educational and general operations of the University, and may be used at the discretion of the Board to 
meet current expenses for any purpose. 

Basis of Accounting — For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special-purpose 
government engaged only in business-type activities. Accordingly, the University’s basic financial 
statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting with a flow of economic resources 
measurement focus. Revenues are reported when earned and expenses when materials or services are 
received. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents — For purposes of the statements of net position, the University considers 
all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at acquisition to be cash 
and cash equivalents. 

Cash and cash equivalents balances on deposit with the State of West Virginia Treasurer’s Office (the 
“State Treasurer”) are pooled by the State Treasurer with other available funds of the State for 
investment purposes by the West Virginia Board of Treasury Investments (BTI). These funds are 
transferred to the BTI and the BTI is directed by the State Treasurer to invest the funds in specific 
external investment pools in accordance with West Virginia Code, policies set by the BTI, and by  
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

provisions of bond indentures and trust agreements, when applicable. Balances in the investment pools 
are recorded at fair value or amortized cost, which approximates fair value. Fair value is determined by a 
third-party pricing service based on asset portfolio pricing models and other sources in accordance with 
GASB. The BTI was established by the State Legislature and is subject to oversight by the State 
Legislature. Fair value and investment income are allocated to participants in the pools based upon the 
funds that have been invested. The amounts on deposit are available for immediate withdrawal and, 
accordingly, are presented as cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying financial statements. 

The BTI maintains the Consolidated Fund investment fund, which consists of eight investment pools and 
participant-directed accounts, three of which the University may invest in. These pools have been 
structured as multi-participant variable net asset funds to reduce risk and offer investment liquidity 
diversification to the fund participants. Funds not required to meet immediate disbursement needs are 
invested for longer periods. A more detailed discussion of the BTI’s investment operations pool can be 
found in its annual report. A copy of those annual reports can be obtained from the following address: 
1900 Kanawha Blvd., E. Room E-122, Charleston, WV 25305 or http://wvbti.com. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — It is the University’s policy to provide for future losses on 
uncollectible accounts, contracts, grants, and loans receivable based on an evaluation of the underlying 
account, contract, grant, and loan balances, the historical collectability experienced by the University on 
such balances, and such other factors which, in the University’s judgment, require consideration in 
estimating doubtful accounts. 

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on the first- 
in, first-out method. 

Noncurrent Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments — Cash, cash equivalents, and investments 
that are (1) externally restricted to make debt service payments and long-term loans to students, or to 
maintain sinking or reserve funds, (2) to purchase capital or other noncurrent assets or settle long-term 
liabilities, and (3) permanently restricted components of net position, are classified as noncurrent assets 
in the accompanying statements of net position. 

Investments — Investments are recorded at fair value. The University’s investments were on deposit 
with WesBanco Bank, Inc. (the “Trustee Bank”). These funds primarily represented unexpended 
proceeds of bond issuances and were restricted to expenditures for capital improvements and bond- 
related costs. These funds were classified as long term due to the restrictions. 

Investments are made in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Uniform Prudent Investor 
Act codified as article 6C, chapter 44 of the West Virginia Code. 

Capital Assets — Capital assets include property, plant, and equipment, books and materials that are 
part of a catalogued library, and infrastructure assets. Capital assets are stated at cost at the date of 
acquisition or construction, or fair market value at the date of donation in the case of gifts. Depreciation 
is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally 15 to 
50 years for buildings and infrastructure, 20 years for land improvements and library books, and 3 to 
10 years for furniture and equipment. The University capitalizes all purchases of library books using 
group depreciation and uses a capitalization threshold of $1,000 for other capital assets. 
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Unearned Revenue — Revenues for programs or activities to be conducted primarily in the next fiscal 
year are classified as unearned revenue, including items such as tuition, football ticket sales, orientation 
fees, room, and board. Financial aid and other deposits are separately classified as deposits. 

Net Pension Liability – For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about 
the fiduciary net position of the West Virginia Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS), administered by the 
West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board (CPRB), and additions to/reductions from the TRS 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported in the TRS financial 
statements, which can be found at https://www.wvretirement.com/Publications.html#CAFR . The plan 
schedules of TRS are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting and economic resources 
measurement focus in accordance with U.S. GAAP as prescribed by GASB. Employer contributions are 
recognized when due and the employer has a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Investments 
are reported at fair value. Detailed information on investment valuation can be found in the TRS 
financial statements. Management of TRS has made certain estimates and assumptions relating to 
employer allocation schedules, and actual results could differ. (See Note 14). 

Deferred Outflows of Resources  – Consumption of net position by the University that is applicable to 
a future fiscal year is reported as a deferred outflow of resources on the statement of net position. As of 
June 30, 2015, the University had deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of $42,953 (see 
Note 14). As of June 30, 2014, the University did not have any deferred outflows of resources. 

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Acquisition of net position by the University that is applicable to a 
future fiscal year is reported as a deferred inflow of resources on the statement of net position. As of 
June 30, 2015, the University had deferred inflows of resources related to pensions of $234,570 (see 
Note 14). As of June 30, 2014, the University did not have any deferred inflows of resources. 

Compensated Absences and Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEBs) — GASB provides standards 
for the measurement, recognition, and display of OPEB expenditures, assets, and liabilities, including 
applicable note disclosures and required supplementary information. During fiscal year 2006, House Bill 
No. 4654 was established to create a trust fund for postemployment benefits for the State. Effective 
July 1, 2007, the University was required to participate in this multiple employer cost-sharing plan, the 
West Virginia Retiree Health Benefit Trust Fund, sponsored by the State of West Virginia. Details 
regarding this plan and its stand-alone financial statements can be obtained by contacting the West 
Virginia Public Employees Insurance Agency (PEIA), State Capitol Complex, Building 5, Room 1001, 
1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East, Charleston, WV 25305-0710 or http://www.wvpeia.com. 

GASB requires entities to accrue for employees’ rights to receive compensation for vacation leave or 
payments in lieu of accrued vacation or sick leave as such benefits are earned and payment becomes 
probable. The University’s full-time employees earn up to two vacation leave days for each month of 
service and are entitled to compensation for accumulated, unpaid vacation leave upon termination. Full-
time employees also earn 1 1/2 sick leave days for each month of service and are entitled to extend their 
health or life insurance coverage upon retirement in lieu of accumulated, unpaid sick leave. Generally, 
two days of accrued sick leave extend health insurance for one month of single coverage and three days 
extend health insurance for one month of family coverage. For employees hired after 1988 or who were 
hired before 1988 but did not choose such coverage until after 1988 but before July 1, 2001, the 
employee shares in the cost of the extended benefit coverage to the extent of 50% of the premium 
required for the extended coverage. Employees hired on July 1, 2001, or later will no longer receive sick  
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

leave credit toward insurance premiums when they retire. Additionally, all retirees have the option to 
purchase continued coverage regardless of their eligibility for premium credits. This liability is now 
provided for under the multiple employer cost-sharing plans approved by the State. 

Certain faculty employees (generally those with less than a 12-month contract) earn a similar extended 
health or life insurance coverage retirement benefit based on years of service. Generally 3 1/3 years of 
teaching service extend health insurance for one year of single coverage and five years extend health 
insurance for one year of family coverage. The same hire date mentioned above also applies to coverage 
for faculty employees. Faculty hired after July 1, 2009, will no longer receive years of service credit 
toward insurance premiums when they retire. Employees hired after July 1, 2010 receive no health 
insurance premium subsidy from the University. Two groups of employees hired after July 1, 2010 will 
not be required to pay the unsubsidized rate: 1) active employees who were originally hired before 
July 1, 2010, who have a break in service of fewer than two years after July 1, 2010; and 2) retired 
employees who retired before July 1, 2010, return to active service after July 1, 2010, and then go back 
into retirement. In those cases, the original hire date will apply. 

The estimated expense and expense incurred for the vacation leave or OPEB benefits are recorded as a 
component of benefits expense in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

Risk Management — The State’s Board of Risk and Insurance Management (BRIM) provides general, 
property and casualty, and liability coverage to the University and its employees. Such coverage may be 
provided to the University by BRIM through self-insurance programs maintained by BRIM or policies 
underwritten by BRIM that may involve experience-related premiums or adjustments to BRIM. 

BRIM engages an independent actuary to assist in the determination of its premiums so as to minimize 
the likelihood of premium adjustments to the University or other participants in BRIM’s insurance 
programs. As a result, management does not expect significant differences between the premiums the 
University is currently charged by BRIM and the ultimate cost of that insurance based on the 
University’s actual loss experience. In the event such differences arise between estimated premiums 
currently charged by BRIM to the University and the University’s ultimate actual loss experience, the 
difference will be recorded as the change in estimate becomes known. 

In addition, through its participation in the PEIA and third-party insurers, the University has obtained 
health, life, prescription drug coverage, and coverage for job-related injuries for its employees. In 
exchange for payment of premiums to PEIA and the third-party insurer, the University has transferred its 
risks related to health, life, prescription drug coverage, and job-related injuries. 

Classification of Revenues — The University has classified its revenues according to the following 
criteria: 

Operating Revenues — Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange 
transactions, such as (1) student tuition and fees, net of scholarship discounts and allowances; (2) sales 
and services of auxiliary enterprises, net of scholarship discounts and allowances; (3) most federal, state, 
local, and nongovernmental operating grants and contracts; and (4) sales and services of educational 
activities. 

Nonoperating Revenues — Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of 
nonexchange transactions, such as gifts and contributions, and other revenues that are defined as  
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

nonoperating revenues by GASB, such as state appropriations, federal Pell grants, and investment 
income, and sale of capital assets (including natural resources). 

Other Revenues — Other revenues consist primarily of capital grants and gifts. 

Use of Restricted  Components of Net Position — The University has not adopted a formal policy 
regarding whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for 
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted resources are available. Generally, the University 
attempts to utilize restricted resources first when practicable. 

Federal Financial Assistance Programs — The University makes loans to students under the Federal 
Direct Student Loan Program. Under this program, the U.S. Department of Education makes interest 
subsidized and nonsubsidized loans directly to students, through entities like the University. Direct 
student loan receivables are not included in the University’s statements of net position, as the loans are 
repayable directly to the U.S. Department of Education. In 2015 and 2014, the University received and 
disbursed approximately $21 million under the Federal Direct Student Loan Program on behalf of the 
U.S. Department of Education, which is not included as revenue and expense in the statements of 
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

The University also distributes other student financial assistance funds on behalf of the federal 
government to students under the federal Pell Grant, Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant, 
SMART Grant, College Work Study programs Grant, and Academic Competitiveness Grant. The 
activity of these programs is recorded in the accompanying financial statements. In 2015 and 2014, the 
University received and disbursed $5,590,561 and $5,751,764, respectively, under these federal student 
aid programs. 

Scholarship Allowances — Student tuition and fee revenues, and certain other revenues from students, 
are reported net of scholarship allowances in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position. Scholarship allowances are the difference between the stated charge for goods and services 
provided by the University and the amount that is paid by students and/or third parties making payments 
on the student’s behalf. 

Financial aid to students is reported in the financial statements under the alternative method as 
prescribed by the National Association of College and University Business Officers. Certain aid, such as 
loans, funds provided to students as awarded by third parties, and Federal Direct Lending, is accounted  

for as a third-party payment (credited to the student’s account as if the student made the payment). All 
other aid is reflected in the financial statements as operating expenses or scholarship allowances, which 
reduce revenues. The amount reported as operating expense represents the portion of aid that was 
provided to the student in the form of cash. Scholarship allowances represent the portion of aid provided 
to the student in the form of reduced tuition. Under the alternative method, these amounts are computed 
on a University basis by allocating the cash payments to students, excluding payments for services, on 
the ratio of total aid to the aid not considered to be third-party aid. 

Government Grants and Contracts — Government grants and contracts normally provide for the 
recovery of direct and indirect costs, subject to audit. The University recognizes revenue associated with 
direct costs as the related costs are incurred. Recovery of related indirect costs is generally recorded at 
fixed rates negotiated for a period of one to five years. 
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Income Taxes — The University is exempt from income taxes, except for unrelated business income, as 
a nonprofit organization under federal income tax laws and regulations of the Internal Revenue Service. 

Cash Flows — Any cash and cash equivalents escrowed, restricted for noncurrent assets, or in funded 
reserves have not been included as cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash 
flows. 

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Reclassifications – Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year presentation to conform to 
the current year presentation. The reclassifications did not affect net position or changes thereon. 

The University has implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions, and Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the 
Measurement Date. Statements No. 68 and 71 require the University to report its share of the defined 
benefit pension liabilities and expense, allocated to it by the CPRB. The balance of the net pension 
liability and related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources at July 1, 2014 is 
reported on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position as a restatement to the 
2015 Net position – beginning of year. The CPRB was not able to provide sufficient information to 
restate the financial statements for the period ending June 30, 2014.  

2015
Net position - beginning of year, as previously stated 92,089,048$  

Balance of the net pension liability and related deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources (695,166)       
Net position - beginning of year, restated 91,393,882$  

 

Recent Statements Issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board — The GASB has 
issued Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, effective for fiscal years beginning 
after June 15, 2015. This statement provides guidance for determining a fair value measurement for 
financial reporting purposes. This statement also provides guidance for applying fair value to certain 
investments and disclosures related to all fair value measurements.  The University has not yet 
determined the effect that the adoption of GASB Statement No. 72 may have on its financial statements. 
 
The GASB has issued Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related 
Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of 
GASB Statements 67 and 68. The requirements of this statement that address accounting and financial 
reporting by employers and governmental nonemployer contributing entities for pensions that are not 
within the scope of Statement 68 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016, and the 
requirements of this statement that address financial reporting for assets accumulated for purposes of 
providing those pensions are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015. The requirements 
of this statement for pension plans that are within the scope of Statement 67 or for pensions that  
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2.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
are within the scope of Statement 68 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015. 
 

This statement establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit pensions 
and defined contribution pensions that are provided to the employees of state and local governmental 
employers and are not within the scope of Statement 68. This statement also establishes requirements 
for pensions that are provided through pension plans that are administered through trusts or equivalent 
arrangements that meet certain criteria. This statement also establishes requirements for governments 
that hold assets accumulated for purposes of providing pensions through defined benefit pension plans 
that are not administered through trusts that meet certain criteria and amends certain provisions for 
pension plans that are within the scope of Statement 67 and for pensions that are within the scope of 
Statement 68.  The University has not yet determined the effect that the adoption of GASB Statement 
No. 73 may have on its financial statements. 
 
The GASB has also issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans 
Other Than Pension Plans, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016. This 
statement establishes financial reporting standards for state and local governmental other 
postemployment benefit plans – defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans – that are 
administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements that meet certain criteria. This statement also 
establishes financial reporting standards for governments that hold assets accumulated for purposes of 
providing other postemployment benefits through defined benefit plans that are not administered 
through trusts or equivalent arrangements that meet certain criteria. The University has not yet 
determined the effect that the adoption of GASB Statement No. 74 may have on its financial 
statements. 
 
The GASB has also issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017. This 
statement establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit other 
postemployment benefits and defined contribution other postemployment benefits that are provided to 
the employees of state and local governmental employers through other postemployment benefit plans 
that are administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements that meet certain criteria. This 
statement also establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit other 
postemployment benefits and defined contribution other postemployment benefits that are provided to 
the employees of state and local governmental employers through other postemployment benefit plans  
that are not administered through trusts that meet certain criteria. The University has not yet 
determined the effect that the adoption of GASB Statement No. 75 may have on its financial 
statements. 
 
The GASB has also issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles for State and Local Governments, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 
2015. This statement establishes the hierarchy of GAAP for state and local governments. The 
University has not yet determined the effect that the adoption of GASB Statement No. 76 may have on 
its financial statements. 
 
The GASB has also issued Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, which is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2015. This statement establishes financial reporting standards for 
tax abatement agreements entered into by state and local governments. The University has not yet 
determined the effect that the adoption of GASB Statement No. 77 may have on its financial statements. 
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The composition of cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 was as follows: 

2015
Current Noncurrent Total

State Treasurer 16,662,864$  -$                16,662,864$  
Trustee Bank -                  3                 3                 
Bank 1,216,439     -                  1,216,439     

17,879,303$  3$                17,879,306$  

2014
Current Noncurrent Total

State Treasurer 15,192,752$  -$                15,192,752$  
Trustee Bank -                  10                10                
Bank 1,020,486     -                  1,020,486     

16,213,238$  10$              16,213,248$  

 

Cash and cash equivalents with the State Treasurer included $75,743 in 2015 and $92,830 in 2014 of 
restricted cash for grants. 

Cash and cash equivalents with trustee banks represents funds reserved for debt payments on the 
University Refunding Revenue Bonds issued in January 2003, September 2004, and May 2005. The 
University uses the Trustee Bank as its trustee for the bond proceeds.   

The combined carrying amount of cash in bank at June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $1,216,439 and 
$1,020,486 as compared with the combined bank balance of $1,210,196 and $1,043,880, respectively.  

The difference is primarily caused by outstanding checks and items in transit. The bank balances are 
covered by federal depository insurance up to specified amounts. At June 30, 2015 and 2014, the 
University was exposed to custodial credit risk of $373,183 and $378,486, respectively. 

Amounts with the State Treasurer as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, are comprised of three investment 
pools, the WV Money Market Pool, the WV Government Money Market Pool and the WV Short Term 
Bond Pool, and certain amounts of uninvested cash. 
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3.      CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 

Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The following table provides information on the Standard & Poor’s rating of the 
investment pools as of June 30:

S & P S & P
External Pool Carrying Value Rating Carrying Value Rating

WV Money Market 16,521,587$     AAAm 14,741,381$    AAAm
WV Government Money Market 146,219$          AAAm 122,433$        AAAm
WV Short Term Bond 3,698$             Not Rated 312,723$        Not Rated

 

A fund rated “AAAm” has extremely strong capacity to maintain principal stability and to limit 
exposure to principal losses due to credit, market, and/ liquidity risks. “AAAm” is the highest principal 
stability fund rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s. 

Interest Rate Risk — Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment. All the amounts with the State Treasurer are subject to interest rate risk. The 
following table provides information on the weighted average maturities for the WV Money Market 
Pool and the WV Government Money Market Pool: 

2015 2014
WAM WAM

External Pool Carrying Value (days) Carrying Value (days)

WV Money Market 16,521,587$        52 14,741,381$        52
WV Government Money Market 146,219$             50 122,433$            50

 

The following table provides information on the effective duration for the WV Short Term Bond Pool: 

2015 2014
Effective Effective
Duration Duration

External Pool Carrying Value (days) Carrying Value (days)

WV Short Term Bond 3,698$            358 312,723          358
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3.      CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 

Other Investment Risks — Other investment risks include concentration of credit risk, custodial credit 
risk, and foreign currency risk. None of the BTI’s Consolidated Fund’s investment pools or accounts is 
exposed to these risks as described below. 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation. 
Cash in bank with Trustee is governed by provisions of the bond agreement.  The objective of the money 
market fund is to increase the current level of income while continuing to maintain liquidity and capital. 
Assets are invested in high-quality, short-term money market instruments. 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a 
transaction, the University will not be able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of an outside party. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes the interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. The University’s investment policy limits investment maturities from potential fair value 
losses due to increasing interest rates.  

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment or a deposit. The University has no securities with foreign currency risk.  

 

4. INVESTMENTS 

Investments are held with the Trustee Bank and are restricted by the bond indentures and invested in 
mortgage-backed securities which had carrying values of $2 for the year ended June 30, 2014. The 
mortgage-backed securities are issued by the United States Government or FNMA. These funds have no 
significant custodial credit risk or interest rate risk. These funds are not exposed to a significant 
concentration of credit risk nor any foreign currency risk. 

 

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Accounts receivable as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, are as follows: 

2015 2014
Student tuition and fees — net of allowance for doubtful accounts
  of $678,807 and $558,780 in 2015 and 2014, respectively 499,635$     373,676$    
Grants and contracts receivable 175,536       490,445     

675,171$     864,121$    

 



 
 
 

- 31 - 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Summary of capital assets transactions for the University as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, are as follows: 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 1,120,925$          -      $             -      $             1,120,925$     
Construction in progress 1,605,388          2,517,008    3,277,008      845,388        

Total capital assets not being depreciated 2,726,313          2,517,008    3,277,008      1,966,313     

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Land improvements 3,796,074          320,309       -                     4,116,383     
  Land improvements - leased 1,825,416          -                   -                     1,825,416     
  Infrastructure 14,430,929        128,256       -                     14,559,185   
  Buildings 166,675,827      2,841,590    -                     169,517,417 
  Equipment 12,949,873        788,339       325,177         13,413,035   
  Library books 3,862,662          89,729         -                     3,952,391     

           Total capital assets being depreciated 203,540,781      4,168,223    325,177         207,383,827 

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Land improvements 939,606             279,673       -                     1,219,279     
  Land improvements - leased 415,175             121,694       -                     536,869        
  Infrastructure 5,447,743          680,725       -                     6,128,468     
  Buildings 53,237,344        4,521,312    -                     57,758,656   
  Equipment 7,814,919          1,307,771    299,689         8,823,001     
  Library books 3,311,744          111,534       -                     3,423,278     

           Total accumulated depreciation 71,166,531        7,022,709    299,689         77,889,551   

Capital assets being depreciated - net 132,374,250      (2,854,486)   25,488           129,494,276 

Total Capital Assets 135,100,563$      (337,478)$      3,302,496$    131,460,589$ 

2015
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6. CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 1,120,925$    -      $            -      $             1,120,925$    
Construction in progress 4,275,823     3,768,668    6,439,103      1,605,388     

Total capital assets not being depreciated 5,396,748     3,768,668    6,439,103      2,726,313     

Capital assests being depreciated:
  Land improvements 1,995,010     1,801,064    -                     3,796,074     
  Land improvements - leased 825,416        1,000,000    -                     1,825,416     
  Infrastructure 14,329,873   101,056       -                     14,430,929   
  Buildings 163,299,442 3,376,385    -                     166,675,827 
  Equipment 12,363,624   1,246,554    660,305         12,949,873   
  Library books 3,943,041     71,525         151,904         3,862,662     

           Total capital assets being depreciated 196,756,406 7,596,584    812,209         203,540,781 

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Land improvements 670,105        269,501       -                     939,606        
  Land improvements - leased 293,481        121,694       -                     415,175        
  Infrastructure 4,769,841     677,902       -                     5,447,743     
  Buildings 48,808,280   4,429,064    -                     53,237,344   
  Equipment 7,130,490     1,282,340    597,911         7,814,919     
  Library books 3,345,813     117,836       151,905         3,311,744     

           Total accumulated depreciation 65,018,010   6,898,337    749,816         71,166,531   

Capital assets being depreciated - net 131,738,396 698,247       62,393           132,374,250 

Total Capital Assets 137,135,144$ 4,466,915$    6,501,496$    135,100,563$ 

2014

 

The University maintains various collections of inexhaustible assets to which no value can be 
determined. Such collections include contributed works of art, historical treasures, and literature that are 
held for exhibition, education, research, and public service. These collections are neither disposed of for 
financial gain nor encumbered in any means. Accordingly, such collections are not capitalized or 
recognized for financial statement purposes. 

At June 30, 2015, the University had no significant outstanding contractual commitments for property, 
plant, and equipment. 
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7. LEASES 

Future annual lease payments on capital leases for years subsequent to June 30, 2015, are as follows: 

Years Ending 
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2016 140,114$ 11,403$ 151,517$ 
2017 142,462   9,055     151,517   
2018 144,850   6,667     151,517   
2019 147,277   4,240     151,517   

2020 149,746   1,772     151,518   
2021 25,200     52         25,252     

Total 749,649$ 33,189$ 782,838$ 

 

The net book value of capital assets held under the capital lease as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, was 
$1,288,547 and $1,410,240, net of accumulated depreciation of $536,869 and $415,175, respectively. 

8. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

Summary of long-term obligation transactions for the University for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 
2014 are as follows: 

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion

Bonds and capital leases:
Bonds payable 43,245,000$ -      $         1,335,000$ 41,910,000$ 1,390,000$
Bond premium/discount 538,343      4,007        30,798      511,552        -                
Capital lease obligations 944,595      -                194,946    749,649        140,114    

           Total bonds and capital leases 44,727,938 4,007        1,560,744 43,171,201   1,530,114 

Other long-term liabilities:
  Advances from federal sponsors 526,575      -                14,913      511,662        -                
  Compensated absences 1,187,690   28,320      -                1,216,010     789,814    
  Other postemployment benefits
    liability 9,660,135   571,190    -                10,231,325   -                

           Total other long-term liabilities 11,374,400 599,510    14,913      11,958,997   789,814    

Total long-term liabilities 56,102,338$ 603,517$   1,575,657$ 55,130,198$ 2,319,928$

2015

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

- 34 - 

8. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion

Bonds and capital leases:
Bonds payable 44,635,000$ 6,730,000$ 8,120,000$ 43,245,000$ 1,335,000$
Bond premium/discount 494,542      79,278      35,477      538,343$      -                
Capital lease obligations 140,880      1,001,340 197,625    944,595        194,946    

           Total bonds and capital leases 45,270,422 7,810,618 8,353,102 44,727,938   1,529,946 

Other long-term liabilities:
  Advances from federal sponsors 559,248      -                32,673      526,575        -                
  Compensated absences 1,447,221   -                259,531    1,187,690     762,028    
  Other postemployment benefits
    liability 9,430,969     229,166      -                  9,660,135     -                  

           Total other long-term liabilities 11,437,438 229,166    292,204    11,374,400   762,028    

Total long-term liabilities 56,707,860$ 8,039,784$ 8,645,306$ 56,102,338$ 2,291,974$

2014

 

9. BONDS PAYABLE 

Bonds payable as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, consisted of the following: 

Annual
Interest Principal

Rate Installment Due 2015 2014

Residence Facilities Revenue Bonds,
  due through 2035 5.00% $575,000–1,450,000 19,010,000$     19,560,000$    
Wellness Center Facilities Revenue Bonds,
  due through 2037 4.00%–5.0% $450,000–1,170,000 16,700,000       17,130,000       
Refunding Revenue Bonds,

due through 2033 3.0% - 4.375% $365,000-460,000 6,200,000         6,555,000       

41,910,000       43,245,000     

Discount (89,487)             (93,494)           
Premium 601,039            631,837          

42,421,552$     43,783,343$    

Principal Amount
Outstanding

 

The Bonds are special obligations of the Board and are secured and payable from fees assessed to 
students of the University held under the Indenture. The Bonds shall not be deemed to be general 
obligations or a debt of the State within the meaning of the Constitution of the State and the credit or 
taxing power of the State or the University shall not be pledged therefore. The University will maintain 
and collect fees from all students enrolled in the University to pay debt service. 

Student Fee Revenue Bonds — In January 2003, $5,990,000 of Student Fee Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2003 (“Bonds”) were sold. The Bonds were issued under the authority contained in Chapter 18, 
Article 23 of the Code of West Virginia, 1931, as amended, and the Bonds are secured pursuant to the  
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9.      BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 

Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of January 1, 2003, by and between the Board and the 
trustee. The Bonds were issued to (1) finance the costs of planning, designing, acquiring equipment, and 
construction of certain capital improvements, including the Field House, the expansion and 
improvement of the Arts Center, a new parking lot, and other capital renovations, repairs, and 
improvements; (2) establishing of a debt service reserve fund; (3) establishing of a capitalized interest 
fund to pay interest on the Bonds due on December 1, 2003; and (4) paying the costs of issuance of the 
Bonds and related costs. These bonds were refinanced in December 2014. 

For both the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, capital financing fees (“fees”) of $69 per student per 
semester, based on full-time equivalent (FTE) enrollment, were pledged to the Bonds with pro rata 
reductions for those students enrolled part time and during the summer term. 

Fees shall, at all times, be sufficient to provide pledged revenues each year equal to at least 110% of 
maximum annual debt service. During the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, net revenues, when 
combined with other monies legally available for payment of debt service, were in excess of the 
maximum annual debt service. 

Infrastructure Revenue Bonds — In September 2004, $3,405,000 of Infrastructure Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2004 (the “Bonds”) were sold. The Bonds were issued under the authority contained in 
Chapter 18, Article 23 of the Code of West Virginia, 1931, as amended, and the Bonds are secured 
pursuant to the Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of January 1, 2003, by and between the 
Board and the Trustee. The Bonds were issued to finance the costs of planning, design, acquisition, 
construction, and equipping of certain capital improvements for the University, including certain roads, 
water and sewer system expansion, extensions and improvements, and other infrastructure projects on 
the West Campus of the University and other capital renovations and improvements to the University’s 
campus, and to pay the costs of issuance of the Bonds and related costs. These bonds were refinanced in 
December 2014. 

The Bonds maturing on and after June 1, 2015, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, in multiples 
of $5,000, at par, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

For both the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, fees of $48 per student per semester, based on FTE 
enrollment, were pledged to the Bonds, with pro rata reductions for those students enrolled part time and 
during the summer term. The Bonds shall not be deemed to be general obligations or a debt of the State 
within the meaning of the Constitution of the State and the credit or taxing power of the State or the 
University shall not be pledged therefore. 

Fees shall, at all times, be sufficient to provide pledged revenues each fiscal year equal to at least 100% 
of maximum annual debt service. During the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, net revenues, when 
combined with other monies legally available for payment of debt service, were in excess of the 
maximum annual debt service. 

Residence Facilities Revenue Bonds — In May 2005, $22,925,000 of revenue bonds (Shepherd 
University Residence Facilities Projects (the “Project”)) Series 2005 (the “Bonds”) were sold. The 
Bonds were issued under the authority contained in Chapter 18, Article 23 of the Code of West Virginia, 
1931, as amended and the Bonds are secured pursuant to the Indenture and Security Agreement dated as 
of May 24, 2005, by and between the Board and the trustee. The Bonds were issued to finance the costs 
of planning, design, acquisition, construction, and equipping of a 300-bed apartment style residence  



 
 
 

- 36 - 

9.      BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 

complex on the West Campus of the University; fund capitalized interest on the Series 2005 Bonds to 
January 1, 2007; refund the Issuer’s $1,865,000 University Facilities Revenue Notes, Series 2004A. 

which were issued to finance temporarily a portion of the costs of planning, design, acquisition, 
construction, and equipping of certain renovations and improvements to Shaw Hall, Thacher Hall, and 
other capital renovations and improvements to the University’s residence facilities pending issuance of 
the Series 2005 Bonds; pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds. 

The Bonds maturing on and after June 1, 2016, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option 
of the Board, in whole at any time or in part on any interest payment date, at par, plus accrued interest to 
the date fixed for redemption. 

Beginning in the fall 2006 semester, rental fees from the new facilities are used to operate the facility 
and with other sources of revenues identified in the pledge, pay debt service. Fees shall at all times be 
sufficient to provide pledged revenues each fiscal year. The fees shall at all times be sufficient to 
provide pledged revenues, when combined with other monies legally available to be used for such 
purpose, each fiscal year equal to at least 100% of maximum annual debt service. During the years 
ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, net revenues when combined with other monies legally available for 
payment of debt service were in excess of the maximum annual debt service. 

Wellness Center Revenue Bonds — In October 2007, $20,090,000 of revenue bonds (Shepherd 
University Wellness Center Projects (the “Project”) Series 2007 (the “Bonds”) were sold. The Bonds 
were issued under the authority contained in Chapter 18, Article 23 of the Code of West Virginia, 1931, 
as amended and the Bonds are secured pursuant to the Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of 
October 30, 2007, by and between the Board and the Trustee. The Bonds were issued to finance the 
costs of planning, design, acquisition, construction, and equipping of a new wellness center on the 
University’s campus and other capital improvements for use by the University. 

The Bonds maturing on and after June 1, 2022, are subject to redemption prior to maturity on or after 
December 1, 2017, at the option of the Board, in whole at any time or in part on any interest payment 
date, at par, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

Beginning in the fall 2008 semester, student fees and revenues collected from the new facilities are used 
to operate the facility, and with other sources of revenues identified in the pledge, pay debt service. 
Gross operating revenues shall at all times be sufficient to provide pledged revenues each fiscal year. 
The fees shall at all times be sufficient to provide pledged revenues, when combined with other monies 
legally available to be used for such purpose, each fiscal year equal to at least 100% of maximum annual 
debt service. During the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, gross revenues when combined with other 
monies legally available for payment of debt service were in excess of the maximum annual debt 
service. 

Refunding Revenue Bonds – On December 2, 2013, the University issued $6.7 million in General 
Obligation Bonds with an average interest rate of 3.69% to advance refund $7.1 million of outstanding 
2003 and 2004 series bonds with an average interest rate of 4.27%.. As a result, both 2003 series bonds 
and 2004 series bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability for both of those bonds has been 
removed from statement of net position. 

The advance refunding resulted in a difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying 
amount of old debt of $11,287. The difference, reported in the accompanying financial statements as a  
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9.      BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 

deduction of bonds payable, was being charged to operations during 2014. The University completed the 
refunding to reduce its total debt service payments over the next 20 years by $573,801 and to obtain an 
economic gain (difference between the present value of the old and new debt service payments) of  

$461,337. This savings represents 4.4% of the original debt service payments and exceeds the 3% 
minimum set by the Governor’s office.  

Summary of the annual aggregate principal and interest payments for years subsequent to June 30, 2015, 
are as follows: 

Years Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest

2016 575,000$      950,500$      450,000$       770,300$      
2017 605,000       921,750       470,000         747,800       
2018 635,000       891,500       490,000         729,000       
2019 665,000       859,750       515,000         704,500       
2020 700,000       826,500       540,000         678,750       
2021-2025 4,055,000    3,571,500    3,130,000      2,969,775    
2026-2030 5,175,000    2,451,750    3,910,000      2,186,256    
2031-2035 6,600,000    1,022,000    4,905,000      1,200,681    
2036-2037 -                     -                     2,290,000      155,700         

Total 19,010,000$ 11,495,250$ 16,700,000$  10,142,762$ 

2005 2007

 

Years Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest

2016 365,000$      208,313$      1,390,000$    1,929,113$   
2017 380,000       197,362       1,455,000     1,866,912    
2018 390,000       185,963       1,515,000     1,806,463    
2019 400,000       174,262       1,580,000     1,738,512    
2020 410,000       165,862       1,650,000     1,671,112    
2021-2025 2,000,000    636,613       9,185,000     7,177,888    
2026-2030 1,325,000    363,606       10,410,000   5,001,612    
2031-2035 930,000       82,688         12,435,000   2,305,369    
2036-2037 -                   -                   2,290,000     155,700       

Total 6,200,000$   2,014,669$   41,910,000$  23,652,681$ 

2013 Total
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10. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

In accordance with GASB, OPEB costs are accrued based upon invoices received from PEIA based 
upon actuarially determined amounts. At June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013 the noncurrent liability related 
to OPEB costs was $10,231,325, $9,660,135, and $9,430,969, respectively. The total OPEB expense 
incurred and the amount of OPEB expense that relates to retirees was $1,358,046 and $786,855, 
respectively, during 2015. The total OPEB expense incurred and the amount of OPEB expense that 
relates to retirees was $1,074,291 and $845,126, respectively, during 2014. The total OPEB expense 
incurred and the amount of OPEB expense that relates to retirees was $993,495 and $789,507, 
respectively, during 2013. As of and for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, there were 32, 
29, and 36 retirees receiving these benefits, respectively. The University does not have a current plan in 
place to fund the OPEB liability, however, the State has dedicated funds to be transferred into Retiree 
Health Benefit Trust Fund to commence at a future date. 

11. STATE SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION INDEBTEDNESS 

The University is a State institution of higher education, and the University receives a State 
appropriation to finance its operations. In addition, it is subject to the legislative and administrative 
mandates of the State government. Those mandates affect all aspects of the University’s operations, its 
tuition and fee structure, its personnel policies, and its administrative practices. 

The State has chartered the Commission with the responsibility to construct or renovate, finance, and 
maintain various academic and other facilities of the State’s universities and colleges, including certain 
facilities of the University. Financing for these facilities was provided through revenue bonds issued by 
the former Board of Regents or the former Boards of the University and College Systems (the 
“Boards”). These obligations administered by the Commission are the direct and total responsibility of 
the Commission, as successor to the former Boards. 

The Commission has the authority to assess each public institution of higher education for payment of 
debt service on these system bonds. The tuition and registration fees of the members of the former State 
University System are generally pledged as collateral for the Commission’s bond indebtedness. Student 
fees collected by the institution in excess of the debt service allocation are retained by the institution for 
internal funding of capital projects and maintenance. Although the bonds remain as capital obligations of 
the Commission, an estimate of the obligation of each institution is reported as a long-term payable by 
each institution and as a receivable by the Commission, effective as of June 30, 2002. 

Debt service assessed as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, are as follows: 

2015 2014

Other 37,820$      37,820$       
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12. UNRESTRICTED COMPONENTS OF NET POSITION  

The University did not have any board designated unrestricted components of net position as of June 30, 
2015 or 2014. 

2015 2014

Total unrestricted net position before OPEB and net pension liability 11,895,005$     11,178,023$    
Less Net pension liability (449,352)           -                      
Less OPEB liability (10,231,325)      (9,660,135)      

Total unrestricted component of net position 1,214,328$       1,517,888$      

 

13. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 

Substantially, all full-time employees of the University participate in either the West Virginia Teachers’ 
retirement System (TRS), the Teachers’ Insurance and Annuities Association — College Retirement 
Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), or Great West Retirement Services (the “Great West”). Previously, upon 
full-time employment, all employees were required to make an irrevocable selection between the TRS 
and TIAA-CREF. Effective July 1, 1991, the TRS was closed to new participants. Current participants in 
the TRS are permitted to make a one-time election to cease their participation in that plan and 
commence contributions to the West Virginia Teachers’ Defined Contribution Plan. Contributions to and 
participation in the West Virginia Teachers’ Defined Contribution Plan by University employees have 
not been significant to date. 

Effective January 1, 2003, higher education employees enrolled in the basic 401(a) retirement plan with 
TIAA-CREF have an option to switch to the Great West basic retirement plan. New hires have the 
choice of either plan. As of June 30, 2015 and 2014, only one employee has elected this plan. 

The TIAA-CREF and Great West are defined contribution benefit plans in which benefits are based 
solely upon amounts contributed, plus investment earnings. Employees who elect to participate in these 
plans are required to make a contribution equal to 6% of total annual compensation. The University 
matches the employees’ 6% contribution. Contributions are immediately and fully vested. In addition, 
employees may elect to make additional contributions to TIAA-CREF which are not matched by the 
University. 

The total contributions that the University was required to contribute to the TIAA-CREF for the years 
ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, were $2,533,604, $2,494,766, and $2,441,864, respectively, 
which consisted of equal contributions from the University and covered employees in 2015, 2014, and 
2013 of $1,266,802, $1,247,383, and $1,220,932, respectively. 

The total contributions that the University was required to contribute to the Great West for the years 
ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, were $136,838, $149,449, and $123,420, respectively, which 
consisted of equal contributions from the University and the covered employee in 2015, 2014, and 2013 
of $68,419, $74,724, and $61,710, respectively. 
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13. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS (CONTINUED) 

The University’s total payroll for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $26,399,761 and 
$26,770,334, respectively, and total covered employees’ salaries in TIAA-CREF and Great West were , 
$21,113,370 and $1,140,300 in 2015, and $20,789,714 and $1,245,405 in 2014, respectively. 

14. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 

Some employees of the University are enrolled in a defined benefit pension plan, the West Virginia 
Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS), which is administered by the West Virginia Consolidated Public 
Retirement Board (CPRB). 

Following is the University’s pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, revenues, and the pension expense and expenditures for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2015: 

   

TRS
Net Pension Liability 449,352$       
Deferred Outflows of Resources 42,953$         
Deferred Inflows of Resources 234,570$       
Revenues 59,983$         
Pension Expense 48,739$         
Contributions Made by Shepherd 42,953$         

 

TRS  
Plan Description  
TRS is a multiple employer defined benefit cost sharing public employee retirement system providing 
retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits. It covers all full-time employees of the 55 
county public school systems in the State of West Virginia (the State) and certain personnel of the 13 
State-supported institutions of higher education, State Department of Education and the Higher 
Education Policy Commission hired prior to July 1, 1991. Employees of the State-supported 
institutions of higher education and the Higher Education Policy Commission hired after June 30, 
1991, are required to participate in the Higher Education Retirement System. TRS closed membership 
to new hires effective July 1, 1991.  
 
TRS is considered a component unit of the State of West Virginia for financial reporting purposes, 
and, as such, its financial report is also included in the State of West Virginia’s Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report. TRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that 
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the plan. A copy of the 
report may be obtained from the TRS website at 
https://www.wvretirement.com/Publications.html#CAFR 
 
 
Benefits Provided 
TRS provides retirement, death, and disability benefits. A member is eligible for normal retirement at 
age 60 with five years of service, age 55 with 30 years of service or any age with 35 years of service.  
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14. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
A member may retire with 30 years of credited service at any age with the pension reduced actuarially 
if the member retires before age 55. Terminated members with at least five, but less than 20, years of 
credited service who do not withdraw their accumulated contributions are entitled to a deferred 
retirement commencing at age 62. Retirement benefits are equivalent to 2% of average annual salary 
multiplied by years of service. Average salary is the average of the 5 highest fiscal years of earnings 
during the last 15 fiscal years of earnings. Chapter 18, Article 7A of the West Virginia State Code 
assigns the authority to establish and amend the provisions of the plan, including contribution rates, to 
the State Legislature. 
 
Contributions 
The funding objective of the CPRB pension trust funds is to meet long-term benefit requirements 
through contributions, which remain relatively level as a percent of member payroll over time, and 
through investment earnings. Contribution requirements are set by CPRB. A member who withdraws 
from service for any cause other than death or retirement may request that the accumulated employee 
contributions plus interest be refunded.  
 
Member Contributions: TRS funding policy provides for member contributions based on 6% of 
members’ gross salary. Contributions as a percentage of payroll for members and employers are 
established by State law and are not actuarially determined.  
 
Employer Contributions: Employers make the following contributions:  
 
The State (including institutions of higher education) contributes: 

1. 15% of gross salary of their State-employed members hired prior to July 1, 1991; 
2. 15% of School Aid Formula (SAF) covered payroll of county-employed members; 
3. 7.5% of SAF-covered payroll of members of the TDCRS; 
4. a certain percentage of fire insurance premiums paid by State residents; and 
5. under WV State code section 18-9-A-6a, beginning in fiscal year 1996, an amount 

determined by the State Actuary as being needed to eliminate the TRS unfunded liability 
within 40 years of June 30, 1994. As of June 30, 2014, the University’s proportionate share 
attributable to this special funding subsidy was $59,983. 

 
The University’s contributions to TRS for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, were 
approximately $42,953, $59,998, and $82,653, respectively.  
 
Assumptions 
The total pension liabilities for financial reporting purposes were determined by actuarial valuations 
as of July 1, 2013 and rolled forward to June 30, 2014. The following actuarial assumptions were 
used and applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 
 Actuarial cost method: Entry age normal cost with level percentage of payroll. 
 Asset valuation method: Investments are reported at fair (market) value.  
 Amortization method and period: Level dollar, fixed period over 40 years, from July 1, 1994 

through fiscal year 2034. 
 Investment rate of return of 7.50%, net of pension plan administrative and investment expenses. 
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14. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

 Projected salary increases: Teachers 3.75–5.25% and non-teachers 3.40–6.50%, based on age. 
 Inflation rate of 2.2%. 
 Discount rate of 7.50% 
 Mortality rates based on RP-2000 Mortality Tables. 
 Withdrawal rates: Teachers 1.2-30% and non-teachers 1.4-22.5%. 
 Disability rates: 0-0.8% 
 Retirement age: An age-related assumption is used for participants not yet receiving payments. 
 Retirement rates: 15-100% 
 Ad hoc cost-of-living increases in pensions are periodically granted by the State Legislature. 

However, the retirement system makes no automatic provision for such increases. 
 
Experience studies are performed at least once in every five-year period. The most recent experience 
study covered the period from July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2010. These assumptions will remain in effect 
for valuation purposes until such time as the CPRB adopts revised assumptions. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
Best estimates of the long-term arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in 
TRS’ target asset allocation as of June 30, 2014, are summarized below. 
 
 

Asset Class
Long-term Expected Real Rate of 

Return
Target Allocation

Domestic equity 5.4% 27.5%
International equity 6.3% 27.5%
Core fixed income 0.7% -
High-yield fixed income 2.6% 15%*
TIPS 0.7% -
Real estate 4.6% 10.0%
Private equity 7.7% 10.0%
Hedge funds 2.8% 10.0%
* Core and high-yield fixed income securities have a combined target allocation of 15.0%

 
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total TRS pension liability was 7.50%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that State contributions will 
continue to follow the current funding policy. Based on those assumptions, TRS fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on TRS’ investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. In the event of benefit payments 
that are not covered by the pension plan’s fiduciary net position, a municipal bond rate of 3.66% is to  
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14. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
be used to discount the benefit payments not covered by the plan’s fiduciary net position. The rate 
equals the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index at June 30, 2014. 
 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the 
University’s proportionate share of the TRS net pension liability as of June 30, 2015 calculated using 
the discount rate of 7.50%, as well as what the University’s TRS net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.50%) or one percentage 
point higher (8.50%) than the current rate (dollars in thousands). 
 

 

1% Decrease 
(6.50%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.50%)

1% Increase 
(8.50%)

Net Pension Liability 582,742$      449,352$        334,812$    

 
 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 
of Resources Related to Pensions. The TRS net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2014. 
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2013 and rolled 
forward to the measurement date.  
 
At June 30, 2015, the University’s proportionate share of the TRS net pension liability was 
$1,464,618. Of this amount, the University recognized approximately $449,352 as its proportionate 
share on the Statement of Net Position. The remainder of $1,015,266 denotes the University’s 
proportionate share of net pension liability attributable to the special funding situation.  
 
The allocation percentage assigned to each participating employer and non-employer contributing 
entity is based on their proportionate share of employer and non-employer contributions to TRS for 
each of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013. Employer contributions are recognized when 
due. At June 30, 2014, the University’s proportion was 0.013024%, an increase of 0.005045% from 
its proportion of 0.018069% calculated as of June 30, 2013. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2015, the University recognized TRS pension expense of $48,739.  Of 
this amount, $(11,244) was recognized as the University’s proportionate share of the TRS expense 
and $59,983 as the amount of pension expense attributable to special funding from a non-employer 
contributing entity. The University also recognized revenue of $59,983 for support provided by the 
State. 
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14. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
At June 30, 2015, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the TRS 
pension are as follows:  

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Rescources

Changes in Proportion and difference between 
employer contributions and proportinate share of 
contributions

-$                             175,174$                  

Net difference between projected and actual 
investment earnings

-                               59,396                      

Contributions after the measurment date 42,953                      -                               

Total 42,953$                    234,570$                  
 

The University will recognize the $42,953 reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from 
pension contributions after the measurement date as a reduction of the TRS net pension liability in the 
year ended June 30, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in TRS pension expense as follows: 
 

   

Fiscal Year Ended Amortization
June 30, 2016 (50,526)$                       
June 30, 2017 (50,526)                         
June 30, 2018 (50,526)                         
June 30, 2019 (50,526)                         
June 30, 2020 (32,466)                         

(234,570)$                     

 
Payables to the pension plan 
The University did not report any amounts payable for normal contributions to the TRS as of June 30, 
2015.  

 

15. FOUNDATION 

The Foundation is a separate nonprofit organization incorporated in the State and has as its purpose “... 
to aid, strengthen, and further in every proper and useful way, the work and services of the University 
and its affiliated nonprofit organizations...” Oversight of the Foundation is the responsibility of its 
separate and independently elected Board of Directors, not otherwise affiliated with the University. In 
carrying out its responsibilities, the Board of Directors of the Foundation employs management, forms 
policy, and maintains fiscal accountability over funds administered by the Foundation. Although the 
University does not control the timing or amount of receipts from the Foundation, the majority of 
resources, or income thereon, which the Foundation holds and invests, is restricted to the activities of the 
University by the donors. Because these restricted resources held by the Foundation can only be used by, 
or for the benefit of, the University, the Foundation is considered a component unit of the University and 
is therefore discretely presented with the University’s financial statements in accordance with GASB. 
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15. FOUNDATION (CONTINUED) 

Based on the Foundation’s audited financial statements as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation’s 
net assets (including unrealized gains) totaled $26,706,976 and $28,113,853, respectively. Complete 
financial statements of the Foundation can be obtained from The Shepherd University Foundation, 
Incorporated, P.O. Box 3210, Shepherdstown, West Virginia 25443-3210. 

During the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation contributed $1,294,123 and $1,022,050, 
respectively, to the University for scholarships and awards. 

 

16. AFFILIATED ORGANIZATION 

The University has separately incorporated an affiliated organization, the Alumni Association and 
Friends of Shepherd University. Oversight responsibility for this entity rests with an independent board 
and management not otherwise affiliated with the University, and a benefit/burden relationship does not 
exist between them and the University. Therefore, their operations are not listed as a component unit of 
the University.  

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Leases 

The University executed an operating lease agreement for the Martinsburg Center campus at 261 Aikens 
Center, Martinsburg, West Virginia in 2014. The lease agreement includes scheduled rent increases over 
the term of the lease, which will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The 
lease expires June 2023. Rental expense under the operating lease was approximately $229,260 for the 
years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, and is included in supplies and other services (Instruction) in the 
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

Future minimum payments under noncancellable operating leases are as follows at June 30: 

Leases
2016 229,260$    
2017 229,260     
2018 229,260     
2019 229,260     
2020 229,260     

2021-2023 687,780     

Total minimum lease payments 1,834,080$ 

 

Claims 

The nature of the educational industry is such that, from time to time, claims will be presented against 
the University on account of alleged negligence, acts of discrimination, breach of contract, or 
disagreements arising from the interpretation of laws or regulations. While some of these claims may be  
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17.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 

for substantial amounts, they are not unusual in the ordinary course of providing educational services in 
a higher education system. In the opinion of management, all known claims are covered by insurance or 
are such that an award against the University would not have a significant financial impact on the 
financial position of the University. 

Federal Contracts 

Under the terms of federal grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may be questioned as not 
being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such audits could lead to reimbursement to 
the grantor agencies. The University’s management believes disallowances, if any, will not have a 
significant financial impact on the University’s financial position. 

Arbitrage 

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986 establishes rules and regulations for arbitrage rebates. There are no 
arbitrage rebate liabilities as of June 30, 2015 or 2014. 

Building Codes 

The University owns various buildings that are known to contain asbestos. The University is not 
required by federal, state, or local law to remove the asbestos from its buildings. The University is 
required under federal environmental, health, and safety regulations to manage the presence of asbestos 
in its buildings in a safe condition. The University addresses its responsibility to manage the presence of 
asbestos in its buildings on a case-by-case basis. Significant problems of dangerous asbestos conditions 
are abated as the condition becomes known. The University also addresses the presence of asbestos as 
building renovation or demolition projects are undertaken and through asbestos operation and 
maintenance programs directed at containing, managing, or operating with the asbestos in a safe 
condition. 

Risk Management 

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees and natural disasters. The University carries 
commercial insurance to insure against major loss related to these risks. The University also carries 
commercial insurance for employee health, long-term disability, life, and workers compensation. Settled 
claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage. There have been no 
significant reductions in insurance coverage or any settled claims that have exceeded the amount of the 
coverage in any of the past three years. 
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18. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Condensed statements of net position as of June 30, 2015 and 2014: 

Refunding
Revenue Bonds 2013

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Assets:
  Current assets 8,940,762               8,178,466             1,186,185             1,081,047              1,635,131             2,240,989             
  Noncurrent assets 20,900,112             20,635,517           16,986,496           17,545,323            5,862,898             4,742,338             

Total assets 29,840,874             28,813,983           18,172,681           18,626,370            7,498,029             6,983,327             

Liabilities:
  Current liabilities 2,120,972               2,000,862             625,342                582,130                 861,356                373,247                
  Noncurrent liabilities 18,995,449             20,348,263           16,160,513           16,606,506            5,876,018             6,243,222             

           Total liabilities 21,116,421             22,349,125           16,785,855           17,188,636            6,737,374             6,616,469             

Net position:
  Net investment in capital assets 1,303,586               (81,037)                373,839                508,815                 (378,117)              (1,855,888)           
  Restricted:
  Unrestricted 7,420,867               6,545,895             1,012,987             928,919                 1,138,772             2,222,746             

           Total net position 8,724,453               6,464,858             1,386,826             1,437,734              760,655                366,858                

Total net position and liabilities 29,840,874             28,813,983           18,172,681           18,626,370            7,498,029             6,983,327             

Wellness CenterResidence Facilities Projects
Revenue Bonds 2005 Revenue Bonds 2007
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Condensed statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014: 

Refunding
Revenue Bonds 2013

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Operating:
  Operating revenues 16,126,414$          16,680,715$          2,574,510$            2,471,217$            1,005,954$            468,236$               
  Operating expenses (12,894,389)           (14,701,195)         (1,811,190)           (1,553,857)            (429,867)              (97,871)                

           Net operating income 3,232,025              1,979,520             763,320                917,360                 576,087                370,365                

Nonoperating:
  Nonoperating revenues 12,551                   9,314                    1,269                    1,468                     73,608                  1                           
  Nonoperating expenses (984,981)               (978,195)              (815,497)              (823,377)               (255,898)              (3,508)                  

           Net nonoperating loss (972,430)               (968,881)              (814,228)              (821,909)               (182,290)              (3,507)                  

Increase (decrease) in net assets 2,259,595              1,010,639             (50,908)                95,451                   393,797                366,858                

Net position — beginning of year 6,464,858              5,454,219             1,437,734             1,342,283              366,858                -                           

Net position — end of year 8,724,453$            6,464,858$            1,386,826$            1,437,734$            760,655$               366,858$               

Residence Facilities Projects Wellness Center
Revenue Bonds 2005 Revenue Bonds 2007

 

Condensed statements of cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014: 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3,745,022$         4,163,862$        1,317,770$        729,193$         703,568$              448,168$            

Net cash used in capital and related financing (2,960,837)        (1,914,302)        (1,328,909)       (1,267,541)      (1,571,163)           (272,488)            

Net cash provided by (used in) \investing activities -                        (923,952)           -                        -                      -                           2,045,241          

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 784,185             1,325,608         (11,139)            (538,348)         (867,595)              2,220,921          

Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of year 7,732,868          6,407,260         405,959            944,307          2,220,921            -                         

Cash and cash equivalents — end of year 8,517,053$         7,732,868$        394,820$           405,959$         1,353,326$           2,220,921$         

Refunding
Revenue Bonds 2013

Residence Facilities Projects Wellness Center
Revenue Bonds 2005 Revenue Bonds 2007
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19. NATURAL CLASSIFICATIONS WITH FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATIONS 

For the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the following represents operating expenses within both natural and functional classifications: 

Supplies Fees
Salaries and Scholarships Assessed

and Other and by the 
2015 Wages Benefits Services Utilities Fellowships Depreciation Commission Total

Instruction 12,436,248$  2,861,487$ 1,407,567$   3,299$        -      $           -      $          -      $          16,708,601$ 
Research 110,818         11,095       41,698         -                 -                   -                 -                 163,611       
Public service 152,055         32,009       92,104         113            -                   -                 -                 276,281       
Academic support 1,912,883      460,960     853,277       2,373         -                   -                 -                 3,229,493    
Student services 2,208,345      574,307     1,088,430    1,679         -                   -                 -                 3,872,761    
General institutional support 3,158,997      1,037,270  2,180,349    1,476         -                   -                 -                 6,378,092    
Operations and maintenance                  
  of plant 1,562,842      462,162     1,426,634    1,832,126  -                   -                 -                 5,283,764    
Student financial aid -                     -                 -                   -                 2,812,150     -                 -                 2,812,150    
Auxiliary enterprises 4,669,482      1,068,987  6,116,714    1,531,165  -                   -                 -                 13,386,348  
Depreciation -                     -                 -                   -                 -                   7,022,709  -                 7,022,709    
Other -                     -                 -                   -                 -                   -                 293,248     293,248       

Total 26,211,670$  6,508,277$ 13,206,773$ 3,372,231$ 2,812,150$   7,022,709$ 293,248$    59,427,058$  

Supplies Fees
Salaries and Scholarships Assessed

and Other and by the 
2014 Wages Benefits Services Utilities Fellowships Depreciation Commission Total

Instruction 12,582,136$ 2,553,536$ 1,483,445$   3,641$        -      $          -      $          -      $          16,622,758$ 
Research 15,209          (103)           4,676           -                 -                  -                 -                 19,782         
Public service 172,585        31,554       98,315         507            -                  -                 -                 302,961       
Academic support 2,063,401     443,301     835,487       1,737         -                  -                 -                 3,343,926    
Student services 2,234,890     507,540     1,139,525    792            -                  -                 -                 3,882,747    
General institutional support 3,132,903     775,554     2,113,122    649            -                  -                 -                 6,022,228    
Operations and maintenance                                                 
  of plant 1,664,489     449,308     1,692,449    1,591,121  -                  -                 -                 5,397,367    
Student financial aid -                    -                 -                   -                 2,884,914    -                 -                 2,884,914    
Auxiliary enterprises 4,963,311     1,015,587  6,064,426    1,615,207  -                  -                 -                 13,658,531  
Depreciation -                    -                 -                   -                 -                  6,898,337                 6,898,337    
Other -                    -                 -                   -                 -                  -                 306,012     306,012       

Total 26,828,924$ 5,776,277$ 13,431,445$ 3,213,654$ 2,884,914$  6,898,337$ 306,012$    59,339,563$  



20. COMPONENT UNIT’S DISCLOSURES 

The notes taken directly from the audited financial statements of the Foundation are as follows: 

SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Organization and Nature of Operations: 
The Shepherd University Foundation, Inc., (the Foundation) is a nonprofit organization incorporated 
in the state of West Virginia and headquartered in Shepherdstown, West Virginia. The primary 
purpose of the Foundation is to provide assistance and support for the students, facilities and 
programs of Shepherd University. 

 
Basis of Accounting: 
The financial statements of the Shepherd University Foundation, Inc. are presented on the accrual 
basis of accounting, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. Net assets and revenues, expenses, gains and losses are classified based on the 
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 

 
Accordingly, net assets of the Foundation and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 

Unrestricted net assets - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations. 
 

Temporarily restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that will be 
met either by actions of the Foundation and/or the passage of time. Restrictions relate to many 
different scholarships and to construction of fixed assets. 

 
Permanently restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be 
maintained permanently by the Foundation. Generally, the donors of these assets permit the 
Foundation to use all or part of the income earned on related investments for general or specific 
purposes. Restrictions are to provide assistance and support for the students, facilities and 
programs of Shepherd University. 

 

Revenues are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless use of the related assets is 
limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in unrestricted net 
assets. Gains and losses on assets or liabilities are reported as increases or decreases in unrestricted 
net assets unless their use is restricted by explicit donor stipulation or by law. Expirations of 
temporary restrictions on net assets (i.e., the donor-stipulated purpose has been fulfilled and/or the 
stipulated time period has elapsed) are reported as net assets released from restrictions. 

 
Custodial accounts representing funds held by the Foundation on behalf of Shepherd University 
and/or departments of the University are reported as custodial liabilities. The Foundation is 
responsible for the management and administration of these funds. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
 

Investments: 
The Foundation accounts for its investments in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP). Under GAAP, investments in marketable securities with readily determinable 
fair values and all investments in debt securities are valued at their fair values in the statements of 
financial position. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the changes in net assets. 

 
Pledges Receivable: 
Pledges are recorded as revenue when received.  It is the Foundation’s policy to evaluate individual 
pledges annually to determine collectability. Pledges deemed uncollectible are written off as part of 
the change in net assets in the year such determination is made. The present value adjustment for 
pledges receivable is calculated by determining the present value of the future contributions expected 
to be received, using a discount rate of 6%. 
 

Property and Equipment: 
Purchased assets are recorded at cost. Donated assets retained by the Foundation are recorded at 
their current or appraised value at the date they are donated. Expenditures for replaced items in the 
amount of $300 or more are capitalized and the replaced items are retired. Maintenance and repairs 
are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets as follows: 
        Years 
  Equipment     3 – 7 
  Building and improvements   40    

 
                                                                     

Advertising: 
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $2,919 and $1,570 for the years ended 
June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
 
Contributions: 
Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as revenue in the period 
received. All contributions are available for unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the 
donor. Bequests are recorded as revenue at the time an unassailable right to the gift has been 
established and the proceeds are measurable. Non-cash contributions received that are retained or 
passed through to Shepherd University are recorded at their current or appraised value at the date 
they are contributed. 
 
 
Functional Allocation of Expenses: 
The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among 
the programs and supporting services based upon management's judgment and past experience. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Tax Exempt Status: 
The Internal Revenue Service has determined that the Foundation is an organization described in 
Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is therefore exempt from federal income tax. 
 
The Foundation follows the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, which provides guidance on 
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. The 
guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and also 
provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting interim periods, 
disclosure and transition. As of June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation had no uncertain tax 
positions that qualify for either recognition or disclosure in the Foundation’s financial statements. The 
Foundation’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties on unrecognized tax matters in income tax 
expense in the financial statements. Generally, the tax years before 2010 are no longer subject to 
examination by federal, state or local taxing authorities. 
 
 
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements: 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk: 
In the course of conducting its activities the Foundation encourages alumni, local businesses and the 
general public to support its purposes by regularly soliciting contributions. Many of the contributors 
pledge their support over several years in the form of pledges. Pledges that are legally enforceable 
represent extensions of credit by the Foundation to its donors. 
 
 
Statement of Cash Flows: 
For purposes of presenting cash flow information, the Foundation has defined cash equivalents as 
highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
 
Risks: 
The Foundation invests in a portfolio that contains government obligations, fixed income bonds, and 
equity securities. Such investments are exposed to various risks, such as market and credit risk. 
Due to the level of risk associated with such investments, it is at least reasonably possible that 
changes in risk in the near term would materially affect investment balances and the amounts 
reported in the financial statements. 
 
 
Reclassifications: 
Certain reclassifications of amounts previously reported have been made in the accompanying 
financial statements in order to make them conform to the classifications used for the year ended 
June 30, 2015. 
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Note 2. Pledges Receivable 
 

2015 2014
Receivable in less than one year 305,376$       230,295$    
Receivable in one to five years 2,090,333      1,756,000   
Receivable over five years 1,706,000      2,306,000   

Total Pledges Receivable 4,101,709      4,292,295   
Less: discount to present value (783,263)       (967,645)    

Net pledges receivable 3,318,446$    3,324,650$ 

 
 
Pledges receivable represent amounts due to the Foundation for legally enforceable pledges. These 
pledges are payable in full or in part through June 30, 2023. 
 
Pledges receivable as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 consist of temporarily and permanently restricted net 
assets. These unconditional promises to give are scheduled to be received by the Foundation over the 
next several years, and are considered to be fully collectible. 
 
 
Note 3. Investments 
 
The Foundation maintains investment securities with various brokerage companies. The Foundation 
also maintains investments in real estate and certificates of deposit, several corporate bonds and some 
common stock held by the Foundation. 
 
Investment securities at June 30, 2015 and 2014 are composed of the following: 
 
Description Cost Market
2015

Certificates of deposit 776,632$      776,632$      
U.S. Government Securities 2,598,329     2,822,492     
Corporate bonds and notes 1,805,238     1,747,479     
Mutual funds 15,541,464    16,166,996    
Stocks 1,252,131     1,571,971     

Investment Securities 21,973,794$  23,085,570$  

2014
Certificates of deposit 773,356        773,356        
U.S. Government Securities 7,425,058     7,924,128     
Mutual funds 12,711,295    14,791,344    
Stocks 1,177,458     1,688,420     

Investment Securities 22,087,167$  25,177,248$  
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Note 3. Investments (Continued) 

 
At June 30, 2015 and 2014, there was $1,194,289 and $669,429, respectively, of cash and cash 
equivalents held in the brokerage accounts available to be invested by the Foundation. 

The investment in real estate is included in investments at net book value on the statement of financial 
position due to not having a readily available market value. Investment in real estate is comprised of 
the following: 

Description Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Book 
Value

2015
Land 40,000$   -$                  40,000$        
Building 160,202   79,433           80,769          

200,202$ 79,433$          120,769$      

2014
Land 40,000$   -$                  40,000$        
Building 160,202   75,428           84,774          

200,202$ 75,428$          124,774$      

 

Depreciation expense related to investment inreal estate amounted to $4,005 for years ended June 30, 
2015 and 2014. 

The following is a summary of the Foundation's investments at June 30, 2015 and 2014: 

Description 2015 2014

Investment securities 23,085,570$     25,177,248$     
Real estate 120,769           124,774           

23,206,339$     25,302,022$     

 

The risks of economic uncertainty and market volatility underscore the level of investment risk 
associated with the Foundation’s investments. 
 

Note 4. Interest in Life Estate 

During the year ended June 30, 2013, a donor established a life estate giving a remainder 
interest in a residential property to the Foundation, while retaining a life interest in the 
property. A life estate agreement is an arrangement whereby the donor transfers property 
to a charity while retaining the right to occupy and otherwise enjoy the full use of the 
property for the donor’s choice of a term of years or the lifetime of the donor. The present 
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Note 4. Interest in Life Estate (Continued) 

commitment value of the property is based on the individual’s life expectancy, which 
provides for a contribution value based upon the fact the donor is making a present 
commitment to a future charitable gift. The value of the property is based upon a third party 
appraisal value at the date of transfer of $447,500, discounted by the present value of the 
fair market rental value of the property at the time of the transfer of $1,700 per month. The 
present value was calculated based upon the life expectancy of the donor as calculated by 
the Social Security Life Expectancy tables and a 3.25% rate of return per the American 
Council on Gift Annuities. Assets held in life estates at June 30, 2015 and 2014 were 
$318,582 and $302,653, respectively, and are reported at the calculated present value on the 
Foundation’s statement of financial position. Changes in the present value of the life estate 
will be reflected as changes in permanently restricted net assets in the Foundation’s 
statement of activities. 

 

Note 5. Equipment 

Equipment consists of the following: 

2015 2014

Office equipment (at cost) 28,115$           26,845$           
Accumulated depreciation (22,606)            (19,874)            

Net book value 5,509$             6,971$              

Depreciation expense related to equipment was $2,732 and $1,165 for the years ended June 30, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 

 

Note 6. Custodial Liabilities 

The gross receipts and disbursements for the custodial accounts, the interest earned, gains on 
investments and the net transfers to/from the custodial accounts for the years ended June 30, 2015 
and 2014 are as follows: 

2015 2014

Custodial receipts 167,435$          211,517$          
Custodial payments (609,613)          (556,172)          
Interest and gains on investments 9,852               16,748             

Net increase (decrease) in custodial liabilities (432,326)$        (327,907)$        
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Note 7. Gift Annuities 

Gift annuities payable consist of the following liabilities: 

2015 2014

Daniel and Orpha Cowgill Annuity 25,996$           28,802$           
James K. Wright, Jr. Annuity 19,859             23,653             
Benjamin and Mary Lou Mehrling Annuity 3,462               3,766               
James K. and Gladys L. Wright Annuity 11,210             12,298             
Jack and Pat Egle Annuity 27,810             29,157             
MEO Annuity 58,568             60,307             
Keith Hess Annuity -                     11,003             

Total 146,905$          168,986$           

The assets received are recognized at fair value when received, and the gift annuity liabilities are 
recorded using the present value of future cash flows expected to be paid to the donors and are 
being amortized over the expected lives of the donors. During the year ending June 30, 2015, the 
beneficiary of the Keith Hess Annuity passed away. In accordance with the gift annuity agreement, 
the residual liability at the date of the beneficiary’s death was transferred into the permanently 
restricted net assets of the Foundation to create an endowed scholarship in the beneficiary’s name. 

 

Note 8. Employee Pension Plan 

The Foundation participates in the TIAA - CREF retirement plan. The Foundation contributes to the 
plan based on a dollar for dollar match of the contributions of full time employees up to 6%. The 
cost recognized during the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 was $9,501 and $9,190, 
respectively. 

 

Note 9. Conditional Promises to Give 

In the normal course of operations, the Foundation has been notified as being designated to receive 
various deferred gifts from alumni and friends in support of Shepherd University that are not 
recorded in the financial statements because of their contingent nature. However, the Foundation 
facilitates and monitors deferred gifts through the use of Memorandums of Understanding detailing 
the donor's intent and stipulations for administration of the gift for such items as bequests, charitable 
remainder trusts and insurance policies. 

Note 10. Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Foundation places the majority of its demand deposits with one bank and at the current time 
does not limit the daily cash balances to the federally insured limits. From time to time during 2015 
and 2014, the Foundation's bank account balances exceeded the federally insured limit. 
Management has evaluated this risk and considers it to be a normal business risk. 
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Note 11. Related Party 

The Foundation is a component unit of Shepherd University (University). The Foundation utilizes 
space owned by the University but does not pay rent. In-kind revenue and expense of $12,600 has 
been recorded for the use of this space for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 

Note 12. Fair Value Measurements 

Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measurements, defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for 
disclosure of fair value measurement and enhances disclosure requirements for fair value 
measurements. The valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation 
of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. The three levels are defined as follows: 
 
 Level 1 – Represented by quoted prices that are available in an active market. Level 1 

securities include highly liquid government bonds, treasury securities, and mortgage 
products and exchange traded equities. 

 
 Level 2 – Represented by assets and liabilities similar to Level 1 where quoted prices 

are not available, but are observable, either directly or indirectly through corroboration 
with observable market data, such as quoted prices for similar securities and quoted 
prices in inactive markets and estimated using pricing models or discounted cash 
flows. Level 2 securities would include U.S. agency securities, mortgage-backed 
agency securities, obligations of states and political subdivisions and certain corporate, 
asset backed securities and swap agreements. 
 

 Level 3 – Represented by financial instruments where there is limited activity or 
unobservable market prices and pricing models significant to determining the fair value 
measurement includes the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the market risk. 
Level 3 securities would include hedge funds, private equity securities, and private 
investments in public entities. 
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Note 12. Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

Fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis at June 30, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair Value

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs    
(Level 3)

June 30,2015

Pledges receivable 3,318,446$   -$                      -$              3,318,446$      
Government securities

US Treasuries 2,038,962     2,038,962           -                -                    
Agency Securities 461,591        -                       461,591      -                    
Municipal Bonds 73,112         -                       73,112        -                    
Mortgage Pools 248,827        -                       248,827      -                    
Corporate Bonds 1,747,479     -                       1,747,479    -                    

Mutual funds -                       
US Large Cap 2,222,931     2,222,931           -                -                    
US Small and Mid-Cap 1,491,201     1,491,201           -                -                    
International Equity 2,447,896     2,447,896           -                -                    
International Fixed Income 1,108,706     1,108,706           -                -                    
REIT's 725,901        725,901             -                -                    
Commodities 1,394,207     1,394,207           -                -                    
Global Equity 1,391,725     1,391,725           -                -                    
Hedged Equity 1,065,139     1,065,139           -                -                    
Master Limited Partnerships 909,483        909,483             -                -                    
Diversified Alternatives 2,369,744     1,483,038           -                886,706          
Managed Futures 1,040,063     1,040,063           -                -                    

Stocks
US Small and Mid-Cap 781,021        781,021             -                -                    
International Equity 790,950        790,950             -                -                    

25,627,384$  18,891,223$       2,531,009$  4,205,152$      
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Note 12. Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

 

The fair values of Shepherd University Foundation’s assets are measured using different 
techniques. The fair value for pledges receivable is determined by calculating the present value of 
the pledges expected to be received, using a discount rate of 6%. The fair value for the investments 
noted above is determined by reference to quoted market prices, other relevant information 
available generated by market transactions, 3rd party valuations, and estimated pricing models or 
discounted cash flows. 
 
Total realized gain (loss) for the investments noted above that is included in the change in net 
assets at June 30, 2015 and 2014 were $503,606 and $91,054, respectively. The unrealized gain 
(loss) for the investments noted above included in the change in net assets at June 30, 2015 and 
2014 was $(1,890,359) and $1,411,972, respectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fair Value

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs    
(Level 3)

June 30,2014

Pledges receivable 3,324,650$   -$                      -$              3,324,650$      
Government securities

US Treasuries 7,924,128     7,924,128           
Mutual funds

US Large Cap 1,725,538     1,725,538           -                -                    
US Small and Mid-Cap 843,964        843,964             -                -                    
International Equity 167,456        167,456             -                -                    
Domestic Fixed Income 1,250,334     1,250,334           -                
International Fixed Income 947,176        947,176             -                -                    
REIT's 897,945        897,945             -                -                    
Commodities 1,663,744     1,663,744           -                -                    
Global Equity 261,284        261,284             -                -                    
Hedged Equity 1,263,698     1,263,698           -                -                    
Master Limited Partnerships 1,443,685     1,443,685           -                -                    
Diversified Alternatives 2,328,143     1,818,515           -                509,628          
Managed Futures 491,678        491,678             -                -                    

Stocks
US Large Cap 760,230        760,230             -                -                    
US Small and Mid-Cap 297,317        297,317             -                -                    
International Equity 630,873        630,873             -                -                    

26,221,843$  22,387,565$       -$              3,834,278$      



 
 
 

- 60 - 

Note 12. Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

 
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 
inputs) consist of pledges receivable and funds invested in Collins Capital Low Volatility 
Performance Fund II, Ltd. (Collins Capital Fund) and Ironwood Institutional Multi-Strategy Fund, 
LLC (Ironwood Fund), which are speculative fund of funds. The changes in Level 3 assets are as 
follows for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014: 
 

 

The amount of total gains or losses included in the changes in net assets for the years ending June 
30, 2015 and 2014 were $3,152 and $27,202, respectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs 
(Level 3)                                            
June 30, 

Pledges 
Receivable

Collins Capital 
Fund

Ironwood 
Fund Total

Fair Value as of June 30, 2014 3,324,650$  -$                   509,628$    3,834,278$  
New pledges 25,999        -                     -               25,999        
Payments received (216,585)     -                     -               (216,585)     
Change in valuation 184,382      -                     -               184,382      
Purchase of funds -                -                     373,926     373,926      
Unrealized gain -                -                     3,152         3,152         

Fair Value as of June 30, 2015 3,318,446$  -$                   886,706$    4,205,152$  

Fair Value as of June 30, 2013 189,563$    537,659$         -$              727,222$    
New pledges 4,250,000   -                     -               4,250,000   
Pledges written off (4,333)        -                     -               (4,333)        
Payments received (150,590)     -                     -               (150,590)     
Change in valuation (959,990)     -                     -               (959,990)     
Purchase of funds -                -                     500,000     500,000      
Sale of funds -                (555,233)          -               (555,233)     
Realized gain -                5,233              -               5,233         
Unrealized gain -                12,341             9,628         21,969        

Fair Value as of June 30, 2014 3,324,650$  -$                   509,628$    3,834,278$  
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Note 13. Endowments 

The Foundation’s endowments consist of individual funds established to provide investment income 
for the Foundation’s operations. The endowments include donor-restricted endowment funds. Net 
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Foundation to function 
as endowments, are classified and reported as permanently restricted net assets based on the 
donor-imposed restrictions. The classification is based on the board’s interpretation of West 
Virginia’s statutes that govern such endowments and its interpretations of donor intent and the 
related endowment bylaws. 
 
The Foundation considers several factors when making a determination to appropriate or 
accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds. These factors include the duration and 
preservation of the fund, the mission of the Foundation, the purpose of any donor-restrictions, 
general economic conditions, the possible effect of inflation and deflation, the expected total return 
from income and the appreciation of investments, and other resources. 
 
The Board of Trustees of the Foundation has interpreted the State Prudent Management of 
Institutional Funds Act (SPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as 
of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the 
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, The Foundation classifies as permanently restricted net 
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of 
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent 
endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the 
time the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted 
endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as 
temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the 
organization in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by SPMIFA. 
 
The Shepherd University Foundation’s Directors make an annual determination of the level of 
funding that will be provided by the Foundation’s investments. The policy of the Foundation’s 
Directors is to determine the amount of the annual income distribution based on the investment 
portfolio’s total return for the previous fiscal year. Any undistributed investment income as well as 
all gains and losses and unrestricted contributions are added to unrestricted net assets. 
 
The endowments are invested consistent with an investment policy statement that is monitored by 
the Foundation’s Directors. To satisfy the long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Foundation relies 
on a total return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital 
appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). Funds in the 
endowment are primarily invested in U.S. Government Securities and managed equity funds with 
several investment managers using an investment philosophy that maintains equities in the range 
of 48-58% of the total fund, real estate in the range of 0% to 9%, fixed income securities in the 
range of 36% to 46%, and cash in the range of 0% to 7%. 
 
Endowment net assets consisted of donor permanently restricted endowment funds of $24,537,466 
and $24,137,252 as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The investment income derived from 
the endowment funds are primarily restricted to providing scholarships for students. 

During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Foundation, upon request of the original donor transferred 
$31,279, of which $30,723 was original contributions from the donor, to an unrelated foundation. 
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Note 13. Endowments (Continued) 

The changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were as 
follows: 

 

 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment 
funds may fall below the level that the donor or SPMIFA requires the Foundation to retain as a fund 
of perpetual duration. In accordance with GAAP, deficiencies of this nature that are included in 
unrestricted net assets were approximately $3,000 and $1,000 as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively. These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable market fluctuations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Endowment net assets at July 1, 2013 23,268,017$  

Investment income 20,159         
Contributions 836,807        
Net assets released from restrictions (31,279)        
Transfers 43,548         

Endowment net assets at June 30, 2014 24,137,252$  

Investment income 25,032         
Contributions 354,358        
Transfers 20,824         

Endowment net assets at June 30, 2015 24,537,466$  
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SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULES OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

Schedule of Proportionate Share of TRS Net Pension Liability 

Measurement 
Date

University's 
Proportionate 

Share as a 
percentage of 
Net Pension 

Liability

University's 
Proportionate 

Share

State's 
Proportionate 

Share

Total 
Proportionate 

Share

University's 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

Unversity's 
Proportionate 

Share as a 
percentage of 

Covered 
Payroll

University's 
Plan 

Fiduciary Net 
Position as a 
percentage of 
Total Pension 

Liability

June 30, 2014 0.01302% 449,352$         1,015,266$   1,464,618$    486,027$      92.45412% 65.95%

 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 

Measurement 
Date

Actuarily 
Determined 
Contribution

Actual 
Contribution

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

Covered Payroll

Actual 
Contributions as a 

percentage of 
Covered Payroll

June 30, 2014 59,257$            59,998$            (741)$                486,027$             12.34458%

 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015 

There are no factors that affect trends in the amounts reported, such as change of benefits terms or 
assumptions. With only one year reported in the required supplementary information, there is no additional 
information to include in notes. Information, if necessary, can be obtained from the CPRB Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report. 



- 64 - 

 
 
 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
Board of Governors 
Shepherd University 
Shepherdstown, West Virginia 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in Government  Auditing  Standards  issued  by  the 
Comptroller  General  of  the  United  States,  the  financial  statements  of  the  business‐type  activities  and  the 
discretely presented component unit of Shepherd University (the University), as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2015, and  the  related notes  to  the  financial statements, which collectively comprise  the University’s basic 
financial  statements,  and  have  issued  our  report  thereon  dated  February  2,  2016.    Our  report  includes  a 
reference  to other auditors who audited  the  financial  statements of Shepherd University Foundation,  Inc., as 
described  in our report on the University’s financial statements. This report does not  include the results of the 
other  auditors’  testing  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  or  compliance  and other matters  that  are 
reported on separately by those auditors. The financial statements of Shepherd University Foundation, Inc. were 
not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University's internal control 
over  financial  reporting  (internal  control)  to  determine  the  audit  procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees,  in  the  normal  course  of  performing  their  assigned  functions,  to  prevent,  or  detect  and  correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control  such  that  there  is  a  reasonable  possibility  that  a  material  misstatement  of  the  entity's  financial 
statements will  not  be  prevented,  or  detected  and  corrected  on  a  timely  basis. A  significant  deficiency  is  a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and  was  not  designed  to  identify  all  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that might  be material weaknesses  or 
significant deficiencies and  therefore, material weaknesses or  significant deficiencies may exist  that were not 
identified. We  identified a deficiency  in  internal control, 2015‐001 described  in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and responses that we consider to be a material weakness.. 
 

 
 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
www.CLAconnect.com 

An independent member of Nexia International



- 65 - 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining  reasonable assurance about whether  the University's  financial  statements are  free  from 
material  misstatement,  we  performed  tests  of  its  compliance  with  certain  provisions  of  laws,  regulations, 
contracts,  and  grant  agreements,  noncompliance with which  could  have  a  direct  and material  effect  on  the 
determination  of  financial  statement  amounts.  However,  providing  an  opinion  on  compliance  with  those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of 
our  tests  disclosed  no  instances  of  noncompliance  or  other matters  that  are  required  to be  reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Shepherd University’s Response to Finding 

The University’s  response  to  the  finding  identified  in our audit  is described  in  the accompanying Schedule of 
Findings and Responses. The University’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control 
or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the University’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 

a 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

February 2, 2016 
Baltimore, Maryland 
 
 



Shepherd University 
Schedule of Findings  

June 30, 2015 
 

- 66 - 

Finding 2015‐01: 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Criteria: The University should be able to reconcile the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger to the general ledger 
and identify the cause of any reconciling differences. 
 
Condition: The University continues  to  improve upon their reconciliation process with accounts receivable  from 
the prior year, but still is unable to reconcile and identify the cause of reconciling differences 
. 

Reconciliation: 
The  reconciliation of  the accounts  receivable sub‐ledger  to  the general  ledger  identified differences which 
have not been resolved.  To ensure that the University is reporting accurate financial data and amounts due 
to them, all reconciling items should be properly accounted for between the general ledger and sub‐ledger.  
Management has established procedures  to  reconcile  the  sub‐ledger  to  the general  ledger, but  they have 
been unable to reconcile the two systems nor determine the causes of the variances.  

 
Cause:   Due  to complications  from  the Chart of Accounts conversion,  the University had  issues  reconciling and 
identifying reconciling differences.  It was noted that there is a control in place to reconcile but the control is not 
effective at this time as unidentifiable reconciling items still exist.  The University continues to improve the control 
process and is working to identify and reduce reconciling items. 
 
Effect:  Failure to properly reconcile the accounts receivable to the sub‐ledger may result in the misstatement of 
accounts receivable. 
 
Recommendation:    The  University  should  review  current  policies  and  procedures  and  make  changes  where 
necessary to ensure all reconciling items between the general ledger and sub‐ledger are accounted for properly.   
 
Management Response: Management agrees with this finding. 
 
The University contracted with Ellucian for a review of the Students Accounts Receivable set‐up, processing and 
reconciliation  process.    Staff  spent  time with  the  consultant  in October, December  and  January  to  conduct  a 
comprehensive review of Accounts Receivable Detail Codes, payment processing and the interface to the general 
ledger.    This  resulted  in  the  recommendation  of  several  changes  to  the  set‐up  and  processing  of  PELL, 
Scholarships, Waivers and Third Party Payments.  These recommendations are currently in the test phase. 
 
The  consultant,  working  with  the  staff,  also  identified  specific  issues  associated  with  the  Chart  of  Accounts 
conversion.  Corrections were tested and are ready to move into the production environment. 
 
The  consultant worked with  staff  to  provide  a  better  understanding  of  the  accounts  receivable  reconciliation 
process and report analysis.  The University is currently applying this knowledge. 
 
Finance and Information Technology are working together to find resolutions to potential issues that may arise as 
these changes are moved from the test to production phase. 
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